## Pro-oxidant activity of vitamin C in drinking water: role of copper, iron and bicarbonate

Patric J. Jansson



Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy Åbo Akademi University Turku, Finland 2006

## Pro-oxidant activity of vitamin C in drinking water: role of copper, iron and bicarbonate

Patric J. Jansson



Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy Åbo Akademi University Turku, Finland 2006 Supervised by

Docent Tommy Nordström Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy Åbo Akademi University Turku, Finland

Reviewed by

Professor Mikko Nikinmaa Department of Biology University of Turku Turku, Finland

and

Docent Harri Hemilä Department of Public Health University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland

Opponent

Professor Ulf Brunk Division of Pharmacology, Faculty of Health Sciences Linköping University Linköping, Sweden

Cover art: Brian S. Kissinger, "Bubbles", 2006. Copyrighted ©

ISBN 952-12-1786-3 Painosalama Oy – Turku, 2006

## Everything is poison, it just depends on the dose

Paracelsus

To my family Gabi and Jacobina

## CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	1
CONTRIBUTION OF THE AUTHOR	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	3
ABBREVIATIONS	5
INTRODUCTION	6
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	7
<ol> <li>Vitamin C – ascorbic acid – ascorbate         <ol> <li>Vitamin C deficiency and scurvy</li> <li>Vitamin C - an important enzymatic cofactor</li> <li>Effects of vitamin C supplementation</li> <li>Sources and recommended dietary allowance of vitamin C</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	7 7 8 8 9
<ol> <li>Free radicals, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species</li> <li>2.1. Vitamin C – an antioxidant with free radical scavenging properties</li> <li>2.2. The role of iron and copper in human health</li> <li>2.3. Ascorbic acid as a pro-oxidant in the Fenton reaction</li> <li>2.4. The reactivity of hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radicals</li> </ol>	11 12 16 17 19
<ol> <li>Drinking water</li> <li>3.1. Drinking water impurities and Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL)</li> <li>3.2. The role of bicarbonate and pH in drinking water</li> <li>3.3. Copper intake from drinking water</li> </ol>	21 21 23 24
AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY	26
EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES	27
1. Materials	27
<ol> <li>Hydroxyl radical and hydrogen peroxide detection in drinking water</li> <li>2.1. Measurement of vitamin C-induced hydroxyl radical formation with coumarin-3-carboxylic acid as a detector molecule</li> </ol>	27 27
<ul><li>2.2. Measurement of hydroxyl radical formation using plasmid DNA</li><li>2.3. Measurement of hydroxyl radical formation by HPLC analysis</li><li>2.4. Measurement of vitamin C-induced hydrogen peroxide formation using</li></ul>	29 29
the FOX assay	29

#### Contents

<ol> <li>Copper, iron and anion measurements in drinking water samples</li> <li>Measurement of copper using diethyldithiocarbamic acid</li> <li>Measurement of iron using ferrozine</li> <li>Measurement of bicarbonate and chloride using anion exchange HPLC</li> </ol>	30 30 30 31
<ul> <li>4. Detection of ascorbic acid and its degradation products in drinking water</li> <li>4.1. Measurement of ascorbic acid and its degradation products using HPLC</li> <li>4.2. Measurement of dehydroascorbic acid with o-phenylenediamine</li> </ul>	31 31 32
RESULTS	33
1. Vitamin C induces hydroxyl radicals in household drinking water [Paper I]	33
2. Ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation in drinking water is dependent on copper ions and bicarbonate [Paper II]	33
3. Oxidative decomposition of ascorbic acid in drinking water [Paper III]	35
4. Vitamin C/copper-induced hydroxyl radical formation can be inhibited by iron [Paper IV]	36
5. Ascorbic acid-induced hydrogen peroxide accumulation in household drinking water – interaction between copper, iron and bicarbonate [Paper V]	37
DISCUSSION	39
1. Vitamin C (Ascorbic acid) induces hydroxyl radicals and hydrogen peroxide in copper-contaminated drinking water	39
<ol> <li>The concentration of bicarbonate and pH regulate whether vitamin C catalyzes hydroxyl radical or hydrogen peroxide formation in copper-contaminated drinking water</li> <li>Vitamin C catalyzes the formation of hydroxyl radicals in strongly bicarbonate-buffered copper-contaminated drinking water</li> <li>Vitamin C catalyzes the formation of hydrogen peroxide in weakly bicarbonate-buffered copper-contaminated drinking water</li> </ol>	40 40 42
3. Iron inhibits vitamin C (ascorbic acid) induced hydroxyl radical formation and hydrogen peroxide accumulation in drinking water	43
4. Rapid decomposition of vitamin C (ascorbic acid) in bicarbonate-buffered copper contaminated drinking water	45
CONCLUSIONS	47
REFERENCES	49

## LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on the following original publications, which are referred to in the text by the Roman numerals I-V.

- I. Measurement of ascorbic acid (vitamin C) induced hydroxyl radical generation in household drinking water.
   Asplund, K.U.M., Jansson, P.J., Lindqvist, C. and Nordström, T.
   Free Rad Res. (2002) 36(12), 1271-1276.
- II. Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) induced hydroxyl radical formation in coppercontaminated household drinking water: Role of bicarbonate concentration.

Jansson, P.J., Asplund, K.U.M., Mäkelä, J.C., Lindqvist, C. and Nordström, T. *Free Rad Res. (2003) 37(8), 901-905.* 

#### III. Oxidative decomposition of vitamin C in drinking water.

Jansson P.J., Jung H.R., Lindqvist C. and Nordström T. *Free Rad Res. (2004) 38(8), 855-860.* 

# IV. Effects of iron on vitamin C/copper-induced hydroxyl radical generation in bicarbonate-rich water.

Jansson P.J., Castillo U.D., Lindqvist C. and Nordström T. *Free Rad Res. (2005) 39(5), 565-570.* 

## V. Iron prevents ascorbic acid (vitamin C) induced hydrogen peroxide accumulation in copper-contaminated drinking water.

Jansson P.J., Lindqvist C. and Nordström T. Free Rad Res. (2005) 39(11), 1233-1239.

The original publications have been reprinted with the kind permission of the copyright holder Taylor & Francis, http://www.tandf.co.uk/journals.

## CONTRIBUTION OF THE AUTHOR

The experimental work in the thesis was planned and conducted by the author together with docent Tommy Nordström, with the following aid from the co-authors.

Klara U. M. Asplund performed most of the experiments in paper I.

In paper II, Johanna C. Mäkelä assisted with the bicarbonate experiments.

In paper III, Hye R. Jung measured dehydroascorbic acid formation in vitamin C supplemented drinking waters with o-phenylenediamine.

In paper IV, Urko del Castillo helped with hydroxyl radical detection in vitamin supplemented drinking water samples.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was carried out at the Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy at Åbo Akademi University, during the years 2003-2006. I wish to express my sincere gratitude to all the staff at the department. I would especially like to thank Professor J. Peter Slotte and Professor Mark Johnson for their positive attitude toward my work during my years at the department. Thank you to Jussi Meriluoto, Elsmarie Nyman, Pirkko Luoma and Allan Nurmi for helping with problems when needed.

I would like to thank my supervisor, Docent Tommy Nordstöm for introducing me to a field in science that I have found very rewarding. You have been very positive, inspiring and full of encouragement. It has been a joy working with you.

Professor Mikko Nikinmaa and Docent Harri Hemilä reviewed this thesis and their suggestions and constructive criticism are gratefully acknowledged.

I also wish to thank my co-authors Christer Lindqvist, Klara Asplund, Hye R. Jung, Urko del Castillo and others that have contributed to this study. Not only have you been of help with the work in this study, but you have also been very pleasant to work with. In addition, I want to thank Christer Lindqvist for taking the time to give me constructive criticism on the thesis.

Over the years I have also been privileged to work with many other people in our research group. There were many, but some of you I had more time to get to know: Mattias Pyykkönen, Göran Sundblom, Malena Sandberg, Katja Kallio, Pia Varjo and Klara Asplund, Thank you all for contributing to a good working environment and much laughter, something which I feel is so important for success.

I got to know a lot of great people during my years at the department. It has been a pleasure, Katrin Halling, Matts Nylund, Daniel Wiik, Santeri Puranen, Robert Heczko, Bohdana Heczková, Fredrik Ollila, Thomas Nylund, Krister Karlsson, Jessica Tuuf, Gun West, Jeanette Wikman, Monica Essen-Huhtala, Jonas Vähä-Koskela, Sussi Grönberg-Vähä-Koskela, Susanna Repo, Annette Westerlund, Pia Vesterkvist, Benny Björkblom and Tomas Blom. We have all been in the same boat, struggling through good and bad times.

I want to extend my gratitude to my mother and father, Christina and Karl Johan. You have always been there for me and that is especially important during the hard times. I am

also very grateful to my brother Rasmus and sister Lina for all the support you have given me.

Most importantly, I want to thank my wife and daughter, the two angels living in my home. You Gabi, bring out the best in me and that has been important for me during this time. Thank you, Jacobina for coming into my life, it has been very rewarding to see life through your eyes.

This study was financed by the Foundation of Åbo Akademi, the K. Albin Johansson Foundation, Magnus Ehrnrooth Foundation, Svenska Kulturfonden, Svenska Österbottens Kulturfond, Svensk-Österbottniska Samfundet, Waldemar von Frenkells Foundation, and Medicinska Understödsföreningen Liv och Hälsa, to all of which I express my gratitude.

#### Abbreviations

## ABBREVIATIONS

Asc	 Ascorbate
Asc•	 Ascorbate radical (protonated)
Asc• <sup>-</sup>	 Ascorbate radical (deprotonated, semi-dehydroascorbate
	radical)
DHA	 Dehydroascorbic acid
DTT	 Dithiothreitol
EDTA	 Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
Fe <sup>2+</sup>	 Ferrous iron
Fe <sup>3+</sup>	 Ferric iron
HPLC	 High-performance liquid chromatography
$H_2O_2$	 Hydrogen peroxide
MCL	 Maximum contaminant level
Milli-Q water	 Distilled water, ion-free
NADH	 Reduced form of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD)
NTA	 Nitrilotriacetic acid
ОΗ·	 Hydroxyl radical
7-OHCCA	 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid
ODS rats	 Osteogenic Disordered Shiongi rats
RNS	 Reactive nitrogen species
ROS	 Reactive oxygen species
SOD	 Superoxide dismutase
TRIS base	 Tris (hydroxymethyl)-aminomethane

#### Introduction

### INTRODUCTION

Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) is a water-soluble antioxidant and vitamin, essential for human health. Vitamin C is an important cofactor for many enzymes and vitamin C also increases the absorption of iron from the gut. Humans cannot synthesize or store vitamin C and are therefore dependent on vitamin C through diet. In vitamin C deficiency, collagen is not synthesized normally, which ultimately leads to the symptoms of scurvy.<sup>1</sup>

The antioxidant effects of vitamin C have mainly been reported in *in vitro* studies on cells.<sup>2</sup> In these studies, ascorbic acid has been shown to be a potent free radical scavenger that can protect cells against UV- or radiation-induced apoptosis.<sup>3</sup> Despite the claimed positive effects of vitamin C observed in *in vitro* studies, concerns have been raised due to its pro-oxidant effect in the presence of transition metals. It has been demonstrated that vitamin C (ascorbic acid) can, in the presence of transition metal ions such as Cu<sup>2+</sup> and Fe<sup>3+</sup>, function as a strong pro-oxidant.<sup>4-7</sup> Thus, in the presence of transition metals, vitamin C can generate harmful reactive oxygen species (ROS) instead of protecting against them. The relevance of the pro-oxidant activities of vitamin C and the safety of vitamin C intake for humans is still a matter for discussion.<sup>6, 8-11</sup>

Water is necessary for all life and humans must drink water frequently to maintain their fluid requirement. However, drinking water can contain impurities, such as metal ions, from natural and man-made sources. For this purpose, the pro-oxidative properties of vitamin C were studied in drinking water. This is of importance, as increased consumption of vitamin C through vitamin tablets and vitamin supplemented food products might be ingested with metal-contaminated drinking water. The main focus of this study was to look for the physiological milieu that might trigger vitamin C induced formation of ROS (hydroxyl radicals and hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>)) in drinking water.

### **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

#### 1. Vitamin C – ascorbic acid - ascorbate

Vitamin C is a weak acid and a highly water-soluble molecule. Ascorbic acid ( $C_6H_8O_6$ ) is the trivial name for vitamin C, while the chemical name, very seldom used in the literature, is 2-oxo-L-threo-hexono-1,4-lactone-2,3-enediol or 2-(1,2-dihydroxyethyl)-4,5-dihydroxyfuran-3-one (IUPAC). Biologically it is the L-enantiomer of ascorbic acid that is active, while the D-enantiomer shows much lower biological activity.<sup>12</sup> Ascorbic acid is the acidic form of vitamin C having two ionizable –OH groups, with pKa values of 4.25 and 11.8. At physiological pH, the mono-anion is favoured and therefore ascorbic acid is usually referred to as ascorbate (salt) in the literature (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Forms of vitamin C at various pH

#### 1.1. Vitamin C deficiency and scurvy

The history of vitamin C is largely the history of the human disease scurvy, one of the first nutritional deficiency diseases recorded.<sup>13-16</sup> The symptoms of scurvy were marked by anaemia, weakness, spongy gums, oedema, often with open sores in the mouth, and loosening of the teeth, bleeding in the mucous membranes, and hard bumps in the muscles of the legs. In 1566, the Dutch physician Ronsseus instructed sailors to consume oranges to prevent scurvy. In 1639, John Woodall, a leading physician in England, recommended lemon juice to treat scurvy. Later a Scottish naval surgeon, James Lind, conducted a controlled trial adding oranges and lemons to the sailors' diet. The positive observed effect of lemons and oranges on scurvy in Lind's trial led to the increased usage of lemons and oranges in the diet of sailors on Captain James Cook's second voyage around the world. However, it was not until 1795 that all sailors in England were ordered to ingest lemon

juice daily. It was later found that vitamin C (ascorbic acid) was the active substance in the oranges and lemons that prevented scurvy. With scurvy also came the belief that vitamin C could function as an antioxidant protecting against oxidation, as the name ascorbate (antiscorbutic) implies. Vitamin C was first isolated from cabbages, oranges and adrenal glands by Szent-Györgyi in 1928.<sup>15, 17, 18</sup>

#### 1.2. Vitamin C - an important enzymatic cofactor

Later it was found that ascorbic acid is a crucial cofactor for many enzymes. Without ascorbic acid, proline hydroxylase and lysine hydroxylase cannot hydroxylate collagen.<sup>1, 19, 20</sup> This leads to reduced formation of collagen fibres, which gives rise to poor wound healing and fragile blood vessels. The collagen fibres strengthen the connective tissues in the blood vessels, skin, teeth and skeleton. Nowadays, scurvy is a very rare condition, as the quality of food intake has improved, i.e., more fruits and vegetables are consumed. In addition, many food products are nowadays fortified with vitamins and vitamin C is a common dietary supplement.<sup>16</sup>

Vitamin C is used as cofactor in the synthesis of noradrenaline and carnitine, tyrosine metabolism and amidation of peptide hormones.<sup>1</sup> In most of these vitamin C-dependent enzymes, vitamin C helps to maintain the enzyme in its active form by keeping the metal (copper and iron) in the active centre in the reduced form.<sup>20</sup>

#### 1.3. Effects of vitamin C supplementation

The body has depots of vitamin C but the vitamin will eventually be depleted. The average adult has a body pool of 1.0-2.0 grams of vitamin C and the average half-life of vitamin C is about 10-20 days.<sup>21, 22</sup> Scurvy can be prevented with a vitamin C intake of only 10 mg/day.<sup>20</sup>

A high intake of vitamin C is generally not believed to be harmful since vitamin C is a water-soluble compound that is not stored in the body and the excess ingested vitamin is excreted in the urine. However, diarrhoea is a directly observable symptom of over-consumption of vitamin C.<sup>11, 23</sup> The Food and Nutrition Board, Institute of Medicine, has set 2000 mg as a tolerable upper limit for vitamin C in healthy adults.<sup>10, 11</sup>

Since vitamin C was identified as the antiscorbutic factor, high hopes have been raised for this compound in the treatment of a variety of diseases, e.g. common colds and cancer. High intake doses of vitamin C for general good health have historically been recommended, but the most attention was drawn to this by Linus Pauling .<sup>24</sup> However, in the mid 80s researchers started to question Pauling's claim that vitamin C might cure cancer,<sup>25</sup> as clinical trials by Moertel *et al.* questioned the beneficial effects of vitamin C on cancer treatment.<sup>26</sup> Nevertheless, the validity of the clinical study performed by Moertel *et al.* was criticized by Pauling.<sup>27</sup> Since then, the benefits of high vitamin C intake have been debated.

Many clinical studies have been undertaken to elucidate whether higher intakes of vitamin C have a positive effect on different complaints and diseases. One such disputed topic has been the role of vitamin C as an aid in preventing and treating the "common cold". So far, no clear-cut conclusion can be made as to whether a higher vitamin C intake is favourable in preventing and treating colds.<sup>28-30</sup> However, studies with higher vitamin C intake during exercise have pointed to beneficial effects in lowering oxidative stress indicators.<sup>31</sup>

Generally, the protective effect of vitamin C has been attributed to its antioxidant properties *in vitro*. Indeed, ascorbic acid has been proposed to have a beneficial effect on many age-related diseases such as atherosclerosis, cancer, and some neurodegenerative and ocular diseases.<sup>32-37</sup>

Concerns have been raised due to the observed pro-oxidant function of vitamin C.<sup>6, 8-10, 38-42</sup> These studies suggest that vitamin C, in some conditions, could expose cells to increased oxidative stress. Furthermore, there have been reports that higher doses of vitamin C could induce haemolysis in glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficient patients.<sup>43-45</sup>

#### 1.4. Sources and recommended dietary allowance of vitamin C

In plants and most animals, vitamin C (ascorbic acid) is synthesized from glucose. Humans, guinea-pigs and other primates, on the other hand, are not able to synthesize vitamin C because the final enzyme (L-gulonolactone oxidase) of the vitamin C synthesis pathway is missing. Due to the absence of this enzyme, humans are dependent on vitamin C from their diet.<sup>46, 47</sup>

The best sources of vitamin C are foods such as fruits and berries (Table 1). In vegetables, vitamin C is found at high levels in cabbages of every sort, sweet pepper and parsley.

Potatoes contain relatively low amounts of vitamin C, but since humans eat potatoes relatively often and in large quantities, potatoes are generally classified as a good source of vitamin C. However, the vitamin C content of potatoes will decrease during springtime due to the poor storage capability of vitamin C.

Food	Vitamin C (mg)/ gram edible portion	
Fruits		
Banana	8-16	
Apple	3-30	
Pineapple	15-25	
Orange	30-50	
Grapefruit	30-70	
Lemon	40-50	
Blackcurrant	50-200	
Strawberry	40-70	
Rosehip	250-800	
Vegetables		
Onion	10-15	
Tomato	10-20	
Radish	25	
Spinach	35-40	
Cabbage	30-70	
Cauliflower	50-70	
Broccoli	80-90	
Brussels sprout	100-120	
Sweet pepper	150-200	
Parsley	200-300	
Potato	10-12	

Table 1. Vitamin C content in selected foods

Adapted from Johnson et al..48

The Recommended Dietary Allowance (RDA) for vitamin C is 75 mg/day in the Nordic countries (Finland, Sweden, Norway, Denmark and Iceland) and 90 mg/day for adult men and 75 mg/day for adult women in the USA. A balanced diet contains enough vitamin C to prevent acute scurvy in an average healthy adult. Despite this, vitamin C (ascorbic acid) is

still added as a vitamin and preservative to a variety of food sources (e.g. fruit juices) in high quantities. Intake of supplemental vitamin C has also increased considerably and supplements containing up to 0.5 - 1 grams of vitamin C/tablet can be purchased without a prescription. Thus, the mean daily intake of vitamin C has significantly increased in many countries during the past 20 years.

#### 2. Free radicals, reactive oxygen and nitrogen species

Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) are collective terms used in the literature that include both oxygen radicals and some non-radical derivates of oxygen (Table 2). There are several definitions in the literature of what a free radical is and if "free" is the right term to use. A simple and broad definition is: a free radical can be of any atomic or molecular species, but it has to have an independent existence and contain one unpaired electron in its outer shell.<sup>49</sup> An unpaired electron is one that occupies an atomic or molecular orbital by itself. A radical is often indicated with a dot after the formula, which indicates that it has one unpaired electron in its outer shell.<sup>50</sup>

Name	Formula	Radical/non-radical
DOG		
ROS		
Hydroxyl radical	OH•	radical
Superoxide	O2 <sup>• -</sup>	radical
Peroxyl radical	$RO_2$ ·	radical
Hydrogen peroxide	$H_2O_2$	non-radical
Singlet oxygen	$^{1}O_{2}$	non-radical
Hypochlorous acid	HOCl	non-radical
Ozone	$O_3$	non-radical
RNS		
Peroxynitrite	ONOO -	non-radical
Nitric oxide	NO ·	radical
Nitrogen dioxide	$NO_2$ ·	radical
Nitroxide radical	RNHO ·	radical

Table 2. Examples of ROS and RNS (radical/non-radical)

ROS and RNS are normal by-products from mitochondria, peroxisomes, cytochrome P450 metabolism and from activated inflammatory cells (macrophages and neutrophils). However, ROS and RNS can also be generated by UV light, X-rays,  $\gamma$ -rays, pollutants in the atmosphere and in metal catalyzed-reactions.

ROS and RNS play a dual role in biological systems, as they can be either harmful or beneficial.<sup>51</sup> High concentration of ROS or RNS can induce damage to molecules as well as cell structures, such as lipid membranes, proteins and nucleic acids. ROS and RNS have been suggested to be involved in several clinical conditions such as the ageing process, inflammatory diseases, ischemia, brain and nervous disorders just to name a few.<sup>50, 52-55</sup> On the other hand, ROS and RNS can have a beneficial effect in the defence against infectious agents and in cellular signalling. Furthermore, a low concentration of ROS can stimulate the mitogenic response.<sup>51</sup>

This dual role of ROS has been observed, especially with hydrogen peroxide. Although high levels of hydrogen peroxide have been demonstrated to be toxic to cells, low levels of hydrogen peroxide (below or about 20-50  $\mu$ M) do not affect most cells negatively but instead stimulate cell growth. There is, in fact, a growing body of evidence that hydrogen peroxide could function as a signalling molecule between and inside cells, regulating the signal transduction pathways. Toxic concentration of hydrogen peroxide will activate NF-KB, leading to apoptosis or necrosis.<sup>56-61</sup>

To cope with elevated ROS levels, the human body has non-enzymatic antioxidants and antioxidant enzymes. The non-enzymatic antioxidants include compounds such as vitamin C, vitamin E and reduced glutathione. The enzymatic antioxidant defence systems include enzymes such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, glutathione peroxidase (one of many peroxidases) and thioredoxin-linked systems to cope with elevated superoxide, hydrogen peroxide concentrations.<sup>62</sup>

#### 2.1. Vitamin C – an antioxidant with free radical scavenging properties

An antioxidant is defined as "any substrate that, when present at low concentrations compared to those of an oxidizable substrate (proteins, lipids, carbohydrates and nucleic acids), significantly delays or prevents oxidation of that substrate".<sup>6</sup> Vitamin C has been shown to scavenge ROS and RNS (Table 2), thereby preventing oxidative damage to important biological macromolecules such as DNA, lipids, and proteins.<sup>63-66</sup> The

antioxidant effect of vitamin C is either by regeneration of oxidized substrates, alternatively directly scavenging ROS and RNS.

During physiological conditions, the antioxidant and pro-oxidant properties of vitamin C are basically the chemistry of ascorbate (Figure 1). The deprotonated ascorbate radical (semi-dehydroascorbate radical) (Asc<sup>•</sup>) alternatively the protonated ascorbate radical (Asc<sup>•</sup>), is the first product when ascorbate is oxidized (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Degradation / oxidation products of ascorbate

#### Review of the literature

Asc<sup>•</sup> is a poorly reactive radical that can be converted back to ascorbate by other, stronger reducing agents, such as NADH-dependent enzymes.<sup>67, 68</sup> Alternatively, Asc<sup>•</sup> can undergo disproportionation to form DHA.<sup>5, 69, 70</sup> The reactivity of Asc<sup>•</sup> can account for many of ascorbate's antioxidant effects.<sup>70, 71</sup> DHA on the other hand is very unstable, even in the absence of oxygen,<sup>72</sup> and the lactone ring of DHA can be opened and cleaved into oxalic acid and threonic acid via diketo-gulonic acid (Figure 2).

Vitamin C can reduce an oxidized substrate if the substrate has a lower reduction potential. One of the most well-documented antioxidant effects of vitamin C is to regenerate other oxidized substrates such as vitamin E. Vitamin C has been suggested to be beneficial in atherosclerosis, due to its ability to regenerate oxidized vitamin E ( $\alpha$ -tocopherol) in membranes and lipoproteins *in vitro*.<sup>73, 74</sup> The ability of vitamin C to regenerate oxidized substrate is not only seen in vitamin E, as vitamin C has also been shown to regenerate glutathione,  $\beta$ -carotene and urate from their one electron oxidized form *in vitro*.<sup>6, 75, 76</sup> In the case of vitamin E, vitamin C has the capacity to regenerate vitamin E ( $\alpha$ -tocopherol) from the  $\alpha$ -tocopheryl radical (Figure 3).



Figure 3. A schematic illustration of the regeneration of vitamin E ( $\alpha$ -tocopherol) by vitamin C (ascorbate) in the aqueous/lipid inter-phase of a lipid bilayer. The illustration also shows a hydroxyl radical (OH) attack on a lipid (LH) forming a lipid radical (L). The lipid radical will thereafter form a lipid peroxyl radical (LOO') in the presence of oxygen (O<sub>2</sub>). Vitamin E ( $\alpha$ -tocopherol ( $\alpha$ -TOH)) will remove the lipid peroxyl radical. Ascorbate (Asc) recycle  $\alpha$ -tocopherol ( $\alpha$ -TOH) from the  $\alpha$ -tocopheryl radical ( $\alpha$ -TO') with the concomitant formation of the ascorbate radical (Asc). Lipids (LH) are illustrated with grey-coloured circles with two hydrophobic tails and vitamin E with black circles with one hydrophobic tail in the schematic picture of a lipid membrane. Note that in some lipids and vitamin E molecules, the hydrophobic tails are removed for clarity.

#### Review of the literature

The  $\alpha$ -tocopheryl radical is produced as a consequence of vitamin E scavenging of lipidsoluble radicals.<sup>77</sup> Vitamin E is the major chain-breaking antioxidant in membranes and will inhibit lipid peroxidation. Vitamin E will consequently counteract membrane damage and modification of low-density lipoproteins.<sup>32</sup> Thus, regeneration of vitamin E by vitamin C will provide cell membrane stability and protect the cell membrane during oxidative insult. Additionally, vitamin C is of importance as the  $\alpha$ -tocopheryl radical can act as a prooxidant if not reduced to vitamin E.<sup>77-79</sup> Furthermore, an indirect antioxidant effect of vitamin C on vitamin E *in vivo*, was observed in guinea-pigs or ODS rats (Osteogenic Disordered Shiongi rats) fed on a vitamin C restricted diet. The guinea pigs and ODS rats displayed a decrease of vitamin E content in tissues. This points to an interaction between these two vitamins *in vivo*.<sup>80, 81</sup>

As vitamin C reacts with ROS (scavenging) the ascorbate radical (Asc<sup>•</sup>) is formed. Asc<sup>•</sup> can undergo disproportionation to form DHA. Vitamin C depletion during a condition of oxidative stress could imply the ability of vitamin C to act as an antioxidant *in vivo*.<sup>82</sup> DHA can be measured in plasma and the ratio of DHA to total ascorbate *in vivo* has been suggested to be a biomarker of oxidative stress. Indeed, oxidative stress induced by smoking results in elevated DHA levels in comparison to ascorbate in plasma.<sup>83</sup> DHA has also attracted attention since DHA has been shown to be toxic and to generate oxidative stress in various cell systems.<sup>84-86</sup>

Normally, almost no DHA can be detected in body fluids and tissues in a healthy person. Thus, the vitamin C to DHA ratio seems to be kept at a high level in body fluids and tissues during normal health. Interestingly, vitamin C has been shown to stimulate the immune system during infections by enhancing T-cell proliferation.<sup>87</sup> Vitamin C could also block T-cell apoptosis and hence stimulate T-cell proliferation in the presence of pathogens.<sup>88</sup>

Although vitamin C has been reported as a ROS scavenger *in vitro*, (accepts electrons from superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, hypochlorite, hydroxyl radicals and peroxyl radicals) it is still debated whether this is the favoured mechanism of ascorbic acid, since such high concentrations might not be present *in vivo*. For example, hydroxyl radicals react very rapidly with the closest target available.<sup>50</sup> The levels of ascorbate in human plasma lie between (30-100  $\mu$ M).<sup>50, 89</sup> Other compounds, e.g. glucose (~ 4.5 mM, plasma) and amino acids (40-80 mg protein/ml plasma) have about the same rate constants as ascorbate for reaction with hydroxyl radicals. Uric acid (250-450  $\mu$ M, plasma) has a lower rate constant for hydroxyl radicals than ascorbate but the concentration of uric acid is probably still high enough in absolute terms to compete successfully as the main scavenger in most

tissues.<sup>50</sup> On the other hand, locally in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), the tear fluid of the eye, gastric juice and lung lining fluid, even millimolar levels of vitamin C can be detected.<sup>50, 90-92</sup>

#### 2.2. The role of iron and copper in human health

Iron and copper are highly precious metals for the growth and viability of all cells and indispensable for human survival. Iron is primarily required for haemoglobin synthesis, but it has also a crucial role in e.g. DNA synthesis, electron transport and many enzymatic activities throughout the body. Low dietary intake of iron results in iron deficiency and anaemia.<sup>93</sup> On the other hand, iron has also been implicated in the pathogenesis of a variety of neurodegenerative disorders, e.g. Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, multiple sclerosis (MS) and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE).<sup>94-96</sup> Furthermore, iron has been implicated in diseases such as cancer,<sup>97, 98</sup> diabetes<sup>99, 100</sup> and immune abnormalities.<sup>101, 102</sup>

Proper handling of copper is crucial for the central nervous system. Altered copper homeostasis can be linked to Wilson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, Parkinson's disease and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), among others.<sup>103-105</sup> Impaired binding of copper or absence of copper in the active centres of important enzymes leads to oxidative stress in neurological diseases.<sup>55, 103-105</sup> It has been suggested that oxidative stress, the alternation in copper balance in Wilson's disease, is mediated via mitochondrial copper accumulation. Copper accumulation in patients with Wilson's disease is caused due to a failure in a specific copper pump located in the mitochondrial membrane.<sup>106, 107</sup> Indeed, anti-copper drugs have been tested and suggested for the treatment of diseases with impaired handling of copper.<sup>108, 109</sup>

The toxicity of iron and copper has generally been attributed to their ability to reduce molecular oxygen, thus forming reduced oxygen species. Normally, copper and iron are bound to specific proteins that function as transporting or storage proteins of these metals. Thus, the redox-activity of iron and copper is minimized *in vivo* due to the binding to proteins. Iron enters the circulation bound to the iron transport protein transferrin.<sup>110, 111</sup> In the cell, iron is stored in the ferritin protein. Ferritin can also bind some other metals including copper, but only in trace amounts.<sup>112</sup> Another iron binding protein that resembles transferrin is lactoferrin. Lactoferrin can be found in saliva, seminal fluids, bile, tears and milk (both human and cow).<sup>113</sup>

Copper, will be bound to albumin as it enters the blood. In the liver most of the copper is transferred to the caeruloplasmin protein. Caeruloplasmin with the bound copper is secreted into plasma and distributes the copper to copper-requiring cells. Caeruloplasmin contains more than 95% of the copper found in plasma.<sup>114</sup> Caeruloplasmin can also function as a ferroxidase and facilitate the loading of iron to transferrin as it helps to oxidize iron from Fe<sup>2+</sup> to Fe<sup>3+</sup>.<sup>111, 115, 116</sup>

Because of the normally tight binding of iron and copper to metal binding proteins, the pro-oxidant activity of vitamin C *in vivo* has been doubted. If there are no free catalytic metals present, the metals should not redox-cycle with vitamin C.<sup>9, 117</sup>, Local acidosis (pH 5.5-7.3) has been reported in inflammation,<sup>118</sup> bone fractures,<sup>119-121</sup> arthritic joints,<sup>122</sup> and surroundings of malignant tumours.<sup>123</sup> During acidic conditions, metal ions may be released from their metal binding proteins and could consequently interact with a reducing agent, e.g. vitamin C.<sup>117, 124, 125</sup>

#### 2.3. Ascorbic acid as a pro-oxidant in the Fenton reaction

Some transitions metals are able to accept and donate single electrons and can therefore catalyze free radical reactions. Metals in the first row of the D-block in the periodic table (iron, copper, chrome, manganese, cobalt, nickel, vanadium, titanium), except zinc, can participate in redox-cycling and radical reactions. Metals having one single oxidation state, such as zinc, and non-transition metals such as aluminium, calcium and magnesium do not promote free radical reactions. It has been shown that ascorbic acid can, in the presence of transition metal ions such as Cu<sup>2+</sup> and Fe<sup>3+</sup>, function as a strong pro-oxidant *in vitro*.<sup>4, 5, 7</sup> Thus, vitamin C could generate ROS instead of protecting against them. This pro-oxidant activity of ascorbic acid with transition metals has led to discussions whether this might occur *in vivo*.<sup>6, 8-10</sup>

There is conflicting and confusing information regarding ascorbate and its cytotoxicity in the literature. Some reports clearly show that ascorbate in the presence of copper is highly cytotoxic to cells,<sup>38-42</sup> while others demonstrate that ascorbic acid can protect cells from pro-oxidative insult.<sup>32-36</sup> The toxic effect of ascorbic acid in cell systems has been attributed to hydrogen peroxide formation in the cell culture.<sup>126-128</sup> Hydrogen peroxide triggers apoptosis in cells and therefore hydrogen peroxide levels *in vivo* must be strictly controlled.<sup>129-132</sup>

The pro-oxidant activity of ascorbic acid is due to its ability to redox-cycle with transition metal ions such as iron and copper, thereby stimulating the formation of ROS such as superoxide ( $O_2^{\bullet}$ ), hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ) and hydroxyl radicals (OH<sup>•</sup>). Of all the ROS, the cellular damage is mostly caused by the hydroxyl radical. The hydroxyl radical can be directly formed from hydrogen peroxide and Fe<sup>2+</sup> through the Fenton reaction (Equation 1).<sup>133-135</sup> The Fenton reaction is highly catalyzed if certain metal chelators such as EDTA, NTA and a reducing substance such as ascorbic acid (vitamin C) are present.<sup>117, 136-138</sup> Ascorbate reduces Fe<sup>3+</sup> back to Fe<sup>2+</sup>, with ascorbate (Asc) being oxidized to an ascorbate radical (Asc<sup>•</sup>) (Equation 2). The ascorbate radical and other products from ascorbate oxidation (DHA and diketo-gulonate) can further be used to reduce Fe<sup>3+</sup> to Fe<sup>2+</sup>.

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^- + OH^{\bullet}$$
 (Fenton reaction) Eq. 1

$$Fe^{3+} + Asc \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + Asc^{\bullet}$$
 Eq. 2

Fe<sup>3+</sup> may also react with hydrogen peroxide, but this reaction is slower than the reaction between Fe<sup>2+</sup> and hydrogen peroxide at physiological pH. Generation of hydroxyl radicals by a reaction between Fe<sup>3+</sup> and hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) appears to involve superoxide (O<sub>2</sub>·<sup>¬</sup>). No direct evidence for this chemistry has been obtained, but since SOD can inhibit the reaction between Fe<sup>3+</sup> and hydrogen peroxide, it seems likely that superoxide participates in this reaction.<sup>139</sup> (Equation 3).

$$Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + O_2^{--} + 2H^+$$
 Eq. 3

SOD has no effects on hydroxyl radical production in  $Fe^{2+}$ /hydrogen peroxide mixtures since SOD catalyzes the dismutation of superoxide. The reactants and the products from the Fenton reaction can also participate in a variety of further chemical reactions (Equations 4-8). The reactions will depend on the experimental conditions, such as pH, concentration of hydrogen peroxide, metal ions and target molecules present.

$$OH^{\bullet} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow H_2O + H^+ + O_2^{\bullet^-}$$
 Eq. 4

- $O_2^{\bullet-} + Fe^{3+} \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + O_2$  Eq. 5
- $HO_2 \cdot + Fe^{2+} + H^+ \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + H_2O_2$  Eq. 6
  - $OH^{\bullet} + Fe^{2+} \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^{-}$  Eq. 7

$$HO_2 \cdot + Fe^{3+} \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + H^+ + O_2$$
 Eq. 8

For example, if hydroxyl radicals are formed and they do not have anything to react with, they can react with hydrogen peroxide, or alternatively, take one electron from  $Fe^{2+}$  and oxidize it to  $Fe^{3+}$ . However, if hydroxyl radicals are formed *in vivo* many target molecules will be available.

In the laboratory, hydroxyl radicals can be easily generated by UV induced homolytic fission of hydrogen peroxide (Equation 9) or by metal-catalyzed (copper or iron) reduction of oxygen to superoxide that reacts with hydrogen peroxide (Equation 10).<sup>140, 141</sup>

$$H_2O_2 \xrightarrow{UV} OH^{\bullet} + OH^{\bullet}$$
Eq. 9

$$H_2O_2 + O_2^{\bullet} \rightarrow O_2 + OH^{\bullet} + OH^{-}$$
 (Haber-Weiss reaction) Eq. 10

#### 2.4. The reactivity of hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radicals

The formation of hydroxyl radicals has been studied using the spin trap technique,<sup>142</sup> aromatic hydroxylation of target molecules<sup>143-145</sup> and by studying radical attacks on target molecules such as DNA<sup>4</sup> and deoxyribose<sup>146</sup>. Generally, standards for the final products (e.g. 8-hydroxyguanosine to demonstrate hydroxyl radical attack on guanosine) have been used in order to identify the radicals (ROS or RNS) that are generated. In addition, radical scavenger molecules have been used to confirm the presence of a specific radical. This however, can sometimes be misleading, as some hydroxyl radical generating reactions can be site-specific. In this case radical scavengers fail to scavenge the radicals, but this does not mean that hydroxyl radicals do not form.

Of the ROS, hydroxyl radicals are very harmful due to their high reactivity.<sup>134</sup> Hydroxyl radicals are short-lived and extremely reactive and easily attack any nearby molecule by

taking or giving one electron. Once hydroxyl radicals are formed, they will readily react with DNA, protein or lipids and can therefore induce cellular damage if no protecting hydroxyl radical scavenging molecules are present.<sup>4, 141, 147-151</sup> In contrast, in the absence of metal ions or tightly bound metals, hydrogen peroxide is not very reactive by itself, but imposes a threat due to its ability to easily diffuse through the cell membrane and then participate in metal induced free radical reactions inside the cell.<sup>152, 153</sup>

Generally, the rate constant for a free radical reaction is highly dependent on the radical species and target molecule involved. If two radicals meet and react with each other, a covalent bond will be formed. However, under physiological conditions, the more relevant reaction is that between a free radical and a non-radical target molecule. This occurs in four ways (exemplified with OH<sup>•</sup> radicals):<sup>50</sup>

1. The non-radical forms a new radical adduct as the free radical adds to the non-radical.

$$OH^{\bullet} + molecule \rightarrow [molecule-OH]^{\bullet}$$
 Eq. 11

An example of this is when OH adds to guanine in DNA, forming an 8-hydroxyguanine radical.

2. A free radical can function as a reducing agent, donating an electron to a non-radical, thus the recipient will then become a radical

$$OH^{\bullet} + molecule \rightarrow OH^{+} + molecule^{-}$$
 Eq. 12

3. A free radical can also function as an oxidizing agent, accepting an electron from a non-radical. The donation of an electron from a non-radical results in a free electron on the non-radical, making the non-radical a radical.

$$OH^{\bullet} + molecule \rightarrow molecule^{\bullet +} + OH^{-}$$
 Eq. 13

4. Alternatively, a free radical can abstract a hydrogen atom from a C-H bond, resulting in a free electron on the carbon atom (Figure 3).

Formation of free radicals during physiological conditions, for example OH • radicals, will set off a chain reaction between newly formed radicals and non-radicals. This chain reaction will not stop until two free radicals meet and react with each other.

#### 3. Drinking water

Water is necessary for all life and human cells consist of 80 percent water. Therefore, humans must drink water frequently to maintain their fluid requirement. Humans need to drink approximately 2 litres (8 glasses) of water every day to replenish the water that is lost from the body through urine, skin and the respiratory tract. However, only 0.3% of the Earth's water supply is safe to drink. Only freshwater originating from rivers, lakes and underground sources can be used for human consumption. In addition, freshwater from many of these sources is unsuitable for human consumption, because of contaminants. The contaminants must be removed or adjusted to accepted threshold values.

#### 3.1. Drinking water impurities and Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL)

Drinking water contains impurities from both natural and man-made sources. Gases, minerals, bacteria, metals and chemicals are examples of contaminants that have to be adjusted to accepted threshold values. This restriction of contaminants in drinking water is necessary to protect public health and ensure a uniform standard for water quality nationwide. Private water wells, on the other hand, are not regulated by drinking water standards. The owner of the well is responsible for testing, and if needed, treating the water himself, all to avoid health risks. The Maximum Contaminant Level (MCL) is the highest amount of a specific contaminant that is allowed in the drinking water. The MCL is normally expressed in milligrams per litre (mg/l).<sup>154, 155</sup>

Contaminants fall into two categories, primary and secondary contaminants. The primary standards serve as threshold value for the contaminant to avoid health problems. Radioactive elements, microbial pathogens and organic/inorganic chemicals are examples of three classes of toxic pollutants that are classified as primary contaminants. Water plants are obliged to follow MCL for primary contaminants.

Secondary contaminants are regarded as contaminants that affect the aesthetic quality of drinking water, such as taste, colour, odour, pH and appearance. Chloride, sulphate, copper, iron, manganese, zinc etc. are all examples of secondary contaminants (Table 3).

Water plants are not forced to fulfil the MCL values for secondary contaminants but serve as guidelines for good-quality drinking water. Thus, if the contaminants in drinking water are lower than the MCL, it is believed that a person can consume the drinking water safely over a lifetime.

	<u>Guideline value (MCL) (mg/l)</u>		
Chemical	WHO standards 1993	EU standards 1998	
Cations			
Aluminium Arsenic Cadmium Calcium Chromium Copper Iron Lead Nickel Magnesium Manganese Zinc	0.2 0.01 0.003 0.005 not mentioned 0.05 2.0 not mentioned <sup>(1)</sup> 0.01 0.0 not mentioned 0.5 3.0	0.2 0.01 100 0.05 2.0 0.2 0.01 0.02 50 0.05 not mentioned	
Anions			
Chloride Cyanide Fluoride Sulphate Nitrate Nitrite	250 0.07 1.5 500 50 0.5	250 0.05 1.5 250 50 0.1	

Table 3.	Guideline values (MCL) for some cations and anions that are of	`
	health significance in drinking water	

The WHO guideline values for cations and anions were adapted from "Guidelines for drinking water quality", Geneva 1993.<sup>154</sup> European guideline values were adapted from the Council Directive 98/83/EC on the quality of water intended for human consumption.<sup>155</sup> Remarks: (1) Desirable 0.3 mg/l

#### 3.2. The role of bicarbonate and pH in drinking water

To prepare safe drinking water, the water plants have to analyse which ions and chemical compounds are present in the water. The most important parameters for drinking water are hardness, pH (alkalinity and acidity) and salinity. The presence and combination of a number of ions will determine these features. Calcium and magnesium ions give the hardness, while bicarbonate, carbonate and hydroxyl ions give the alkalinity in water. Chloride and sulphate ions (as HCl and H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) contribute to the acidity and salinity of the water (Table 3, guideline values). Thus, calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>) contributes both to hardness and alkalinity of water, while calcium chloride (CaCl<sub>2</sub>) gives hardness and salinity.

The pH of drinking water usually originates from dissolved carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), which forms carbonic acid (H<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>). Humic acids and other organic acids, which originate from decayed plants, can also make the water acidic. Acidification of the ground water in combination with a bedrock that cannot counteract or buffer acidic particles will lead to acidic water. When the acidity originates from natural sources, the pH of the water is around 3-4. It is not harmful to drink such mildly acidic (pH~ 3-4) drinking water. However, indirectly, such acidic water will cause problems as it can extract metals from the soil and water pipe systems. Acidic water can extract iron, manganese, copper, aluminium and heavy metals such as cadmium and lead. Therefore, water plants adjust the pH to 6.5-9.5 (European guideline values, Council Directive 98/83/EC). Contributing factors in increased copper corrosion from copper pipes are the concentration of sulphate and chloride ions.<sup>156</sup>

Acidic water is usually adjusted to more alkaline pH values with calcium carbonate (CaCO<sub>3</sub>).<sup>156-158</sup> Alkalinity is a measure of susceptibility for acidification, in other words buffer capacity for acid addition. The higher the alkalinity in the water, the better the water can resist acidification. Bicarbonate, carbonate and hydroxyl ions give different alkalinity to the water. If the pH in drinking water is below 8.3, bicarbonate alkalinity is prevailing. In most drinking water that has a pH between pH 5 and 8, the alkalinity and pH come from bicarbonate ions (Figure 4). Bicarbonate and carbonate alkalinity will exist in drinking water with pH values between 8.3 and 9.4. Corrosive alkalinity (hydroxyl alkalinity from sodium hydroxide, NaOH) can only exist at pH values above 9.4. Furthermore, when water is treated for adjustment in pH the content of other components has to be quantified.



Figure 4. The distribution of carbonate species as a fraction of total dissolved carbonate in relation to solution pH.

#### 3.3. Copper intake from drinking water

The daily consumption of copper through diet lies between 1 and 2 mg/day in adults and 0.6 to 0.8 mg/day in two-year-old children. Copper is present in all foods but the highest concentrations can be found in liver, nuts, seeds and chocolate (around 10 mg/kg).<sup>159, 160</sup> Drinking water is not normally included in the daily intake of copper and the total intake of copper can vary greatly depending on the copper concentration in the drinking water consumed.

More than 90 percent of the water pipe system in the USA, Sweden, Great Britain and Norway consists of copper pipes. The proportion of copper pipes in the water system is 40-60 percent for Germany, Spain, France and Italy but only 12 percent in Japan.<sup>161</sup> A survey in Seattle (USA) estimated that the intake of copper from drinking water was approximately 10 times higher among persons with copper pipes (1.3-2.2 mg per day) in their homes than for those having galvanized pipes. Thus, if copper pipes corrode, the concentration of copper in drinking water will rise.<sup>162</sup> The corrosion of copper pipes is influenced by the time drinking water stays in the pipes. Flushing the tap can reduce the copper concentration in drinking water. Also the length, dimension and the age of the copper pipes will influence how much copper is extracted. The pipes will emit the highest copper concentration in the beginning, until after some time a protecting sheet is formed inside the pipes, minimizing copper extraction.<sup>163</sup>

The copper uptake from the gastrointestinal tract is strictly regulated.<sup>164, 165</sup> Several studies have shown that short-term intake of higher amounts of copper than usual will not affect the status indexes of copper.<sup>165-170</sup> On the other hand, a recent study observed that intake of copper for a longer period of time (4 months) will eventually increase the uptake of copper.<sup>171</sup> Gastrointestinal symptoms have been associated with high copper intake (about 4 mg/day).<sup>172-175</sup> This amount of copper can be obtained by consuming 2 litres of water containing 2.0 mg/l of copper (2.0 mg/l is the MCL for copper).

## AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY

Vitamin C is nowadays consumed more than ever before. The increased consumption of vitamin C is due foremost to the daily consumption of vitamin C through vitamin tablets and vitamin supplemented food products. Concerns have been raised about the prooxidative properties that vitamin C displays in the presence of transition metals. Drinking water could be a source of transition metals needed for pro-oxidation reactions with vitamin C.

The purpose of this thesis was to elucidate:

- 1. Can vitamin C (ascorbic acid) induce hydroxyl radical formation or accumulate hydrogen peroxide in drinking water?
- 2. Is there a special milieu that is optimal for the pro-oxidant activity of vitamin C in drinking water?
- 3. Can a possible pro-oxidant effect of vitamin C be inhibited by ionic species found in drinking water? If so, which ionic species are needed to make vitamin C less pro-oxidative?
- 4. To which extent is vitamin C degraded in drinking water and what are the degradation products?

### EXPERIMENTAL PROCEDURES

#### 1. Materials

Stock solutions of the chemicals used were prepared in Milli-Q water (18 M $\Omega$  cm) and protected from light. Coumarin-3-carboxylic was also dissolved in Milli-Q water (18 M $\Omega$  cm), and adjusted to pH 8.0 with NaOH. All stock solutions of the reagents used in the experiments were prepared fresh daily. Samples of tap water were collected in sterile 15 ml polypropylene test tubes (Greiner) and stored at 4°C in the dark until used. Chemicals were obtained from different manufacturers indicated separately in papers I-V.

#### 2. Hydroxyl radical and hydrogen peroxide detection in drinking water

# 2.1. Measurement of vitamin C induced hydroxyl radical formation with coumarin-3-carboxylic acid as a detector molecule

Hydroxyl radical formation was measured using coumarin-3-carboxylic acid as a detector molecule (Figure 5).<sup>176, 177</sup> When coumarin-3-carboxylic acid is hydroxylated to 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid (7-OHCCA), a fluorescent product is formed that can be measured with a fluorescence spectrophotometer. The fluorescence of 7-OHCCA is highly pH dependent, showing maximum fluorescence intensity at pH 9.0.<sup>176</sup>



coumarin-3-carboxylic acid (non fluorescent)

7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid (fluorescent) (ex. 380/em. 460)

Figure 5. Hydroxylation of coumarin-3-carboxylic acid to the fluorescent 7-hydroxycoumarin-3carboxylic acid (7-OHCCA).

For the assay, 200  $\mu$ l of the drinking water samples or Milli-Q water supplemented with metals and bicarbonate were pipetted in triplicate onto a microplate. After this, 200  $\mu$ M coumarin-3-carboxylic acid was added to all wells using an 8-channel multiwell pipette followed by 2 mM ascorbic acid that started the reaction. The microplate was then incubated at room temperature in the dark for various time periods and the reaction was then stopped by pipetting 10 mM TRIS base (pH 9.0) to all wells. Addition of TRIS, a hydroxyl radical scavenger, stopped the reaction and adjusted the pH in the samples to 9.0. The fluorescence was measured with a spectrofluorometer capable of reading the fluorescence from microplates. (Fluoroscan II, Lab systems, Finland). The optical filter set used was excitation 380 nm and emission 460 nm (Figure 6). The fluorescence values were converted into 7-OHCCA formed (nM) from a standard curve where a serial dilution of 7-OHCCA standard in 10 mM TRIS (pH 9.0) was used. All measurements were performed at room temperature.



Figure 6. Excitation (380 nm) and emission (460 nm) wavelengths for 7-OHCCA

#### 2.2. Measurement of hydroxyl radical formation using plasmid DNA

Hydroxyl radical formation in drinking water was also confirmed using a plasmid DNA assay. The reactions were carried out in a total volume of 10  $\mu$ l containing 0.3  $\mu$ g pBluescript DNA in Milli-Q water. After addition of 0.5 mM vitamin C the samples were incubated for 45 min at room temperature and the reaction was stopped by addition of 4  $\mu$ l sample buffer (50% glycerol, 0.15% bromphenol blue in TRIS-acetate-EDTA buffer (TAE buffer)). The samples were loaded onto a 1% agarose gel in TAE buffer (40 mM TRIS base, 1 mM EDTA, adjusted to pH 7.6 with acetate) and the super coiled (form I) and nicked circular (form II) DNAs were separated at 70 V for 45 min. The gel was then stained with ethidium bromide (10  $\mu$ g/ml) for 45 min. After washing, the gel was photographed with an AlphaDigiDog gel documentation and image analysis system, Alpha Innotech Corporation, CA.

#### 2.3. Measurement of hydroxyl radical formation by HPLC analysis

Hydroxyl radical generation was also analysed by HPLC with coumarin as a detector molecule. Coumarin readily forms 7-hydroxycoumarin (umbelliferon) when attacked by hydroxyl radicals. An isocratic HPLC system (Waters model 1515) equipped with a manual Rheodyne injection valve (25 μl loop) and a 2-channel UV/VIS detector (Waters model 2487) was used. The column used for the analysis was a Symmetry C18, 250 x 4.6 mm I.D, 10 μm particle size column (Waters). Chromatography was performed using isocratic elution using 150 mM phosphate buffer (KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) containing 30% methanol, pH 3.0 (H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>). The flow rate was 0.75 ml/min. The peaks were detected at 200 nm and analysed using the Waters Breeze software. For peak identification and calibration we used standards of coumarin, 7-hydroxycoumarin (umbelliferon) in Milli-Q water. All separations were performed at room temperature.

## 2.4. Measurement of vitamin C induced hydrogen peroxide formation using the FOX assay

Measurement of hydrogen peroxide in metal supplemented Milli-Q water, household drinking water and domestic bottled waters was performed using the FOX assay. In the FOX assay, Fe<sup>2+</sup> will be oxidized to Fe<sup>3+</sup> by hydrogen peroxide (oxidizing agent). Fe<sup>3+</sup> can upon oxidation bind to xylenol orange to give a coloured complex with absorption maximum at 560 nm.<sup>178</sup>
#### Experimental procedures

The FOX reagent was prepared by mixing 9 volumes of FOX-1 reagent (4.4 mM 2,6-Ditert-butyl-4-methanol-phenol in 100% HPLC grade methanol) with 1 volume of FOX-2 reagent (1 mM xylenol orange sodium salt and 2.56 mM ammonium ferrous sulphate in 250 mM sulphuric acid). In the assay, 2 mM of ascorbic acid was added to the different water samples to initiate the reaction. After various time periods, 25  $\mu$ l samples were withdrawn from the tubes and pipetted into an eppendorf tube containing 750  $\mu$ l FOXreagent. The mixture was vortexed for 5 seconds and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. After this, 200  $\mu$ l of the mixture was pipetted in triplicates onto a 96-well microplate and the absorbance of the samples and standards was measured at 560 nm with a Victor plate reader, Wallac. The absorbance values were converted to concentration by comparison with a standard curve where known concentrations of hydrogen peroxide were used.

#### 3. Copper, iron and anion measurements in drinking water samples

#### 3.1. Measurement of copper using diethyldithiocarbamic acid

The presence of trace amounts of copper in the water samples was measured using the copper specific reagent diethyldithiocarbamic acid. For the assay, 200  $\mu$ l aliquots in triplicate of the water samples were pipetted onto a microplate followed by 300  $\mu$ M of diethyldithiocarbamic acid. The absorbance of the yellow Cu<sup>2+</sup>-diethyldithiocarbamic complex was measured at 450 nm with a Victor plate reader, Wallac. The absorbance values were converted to concentration by comparison with a standard curve, generated by adding known amounts of copper chloride to 300  $\mu$ M diethyldithiocarbamic acid in Milli-Q water.

#### 3.2. Measurement of iron using ferrozine

The iron concentration in the drinking water samples was measured using the iron-specific reagent ferrozine.<sup>179</sup> For the assay, 200  $\mu$ l aliquots in triplicate of the water samples were pipetted onto a 96-well microplate followed by 400  $\mu$ M of ferrozine and 100  $\mu$ M ascorbic acid. Ascorbic acid was used to reduce the Fe<sup>3+</sup> to the Fe<sup>2+</sup> form. The coloured Fe<sup>2+</sup>-ferrozine complex formed was measured at 560 nm using a Victor plate reader, Wallac. The absorbance values were converted to concentration by comparison with a standard curve. The standard curve was generated by adding known amounts of ferric chloride

tetrahydrate, 100  $\mu$ M ascorbic acid and 400  $\mu$ M ferrozine to Milli-Q water buffered with 100 mg/l bicarbonate.

# 3.3. Measurement of bicarbonate and chloride using anion exchange HPLC

An anion exchange column PRP-X100, 150 x 4.1 mm I.D, 10  $\mu$ m particle size anion exchange column (Hamilton) equipped with a PRP-X-100 guard column (25.0 x 2.3 mm I.D) was used to measure the bicarbonate and chloride in drinking water samples. An isocratic HPLC system (Waters model 1515) equipped with a manual Rheodyne injection valve (25  $\mu$ l loop) and a 2-channel UV/VIS detector (Waters model 2487) was used. Chromatography was performed using isocratic elution with 4.0 mM p-hydroxybenzoic acid containing 2.5% methanol, pH 8.5 (NaOH). The flow rate was 2.0 ml/min. The set-up we used for the anion analysis could detect fluoride, bicarbonate, chloride, nitrite, bromide, nitrate, phosphate and sulphate ions. The anions were detected by indirect UV at 310 nm and analysed using the Waters Breeze software. All separations were performed at room temperature.

## 4. Detection of ascorbic acid and its degradation products in drinking water

## 4.1. Measurement of ascorbic acid and its degradation products using HPLC

HPLC analysis was used to measure ascorbic acid and its degradation products in drinking water samples, metal-supplemented Milli-Q water and household drinking water. An isocratic HPLC system (Waters model 1515) equipped with a manual Rheodyne injection valve (25 µl loop) and a 2-channel UV/VIS detector (Waters model 2487) was used. The column used for quantization of ascorbic acid and oxalic acid was a Nucleosil C18 150 x 4.1 mm I.D, 10 µm particle size column (Supelco Inc.). Chromatography was performed with isocratic elution using 10 mM phosphate buffer (KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) containing 5% methanol, pH 3.3 (H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>). The flow rate was 0.5 ml/min. The peaks were detected at 210 nm and analysed using the Waters Breeze software. For the identification and calibration we used standards of DHA, threonic-, oxalic- and ascorbic acid in Milli-Q water. All separations were performed at room temperature.

#### Experimental procedures

Using these settings, the peaks for the threonic acid and hydrogen peroxide standards could not be separated with the Nucleosil C18 column. Therefore, to quantitate threonic acid, the anion column PRP-X100 (Hamilton), 150 x 4.1 mm I.D, 10 mm particle size equipped with a PRP-X100 guard column (25.0 x 2.3 mm I.D) was used. Chromatography was performed using isocratic elution using 4.0 mM p-hydroxybenzoic acid containing 2.5% methanol, pH 8.5 (NaOH). The flow rate was 2.0 ml/min. Threonic acid was detected by indirect UV at 310 nm and analysed using the Waters Breeze software.

#### 4.2. Measurement of dehydroascorbic acid with o-phenylenediamine

Due to the difficulty of measuring DHA with HPLC using UV-detection, a more sensitive method was used. To measure DHA formation we therefore used the reagent ophenylenediamine, a reagent that forms a fluorescent complex with DHA.<sup>180, 181</sup> For the assay, 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to the water samples and incubated at room temperature for various time periods. After this, 2 mM of o-phenylenediamine was added to the tubes followed by 8 mM TRIS buffer. The fluorescent complex was excited at 370 nm, and the emission at 440 nm was measured by a Hitachi F-2000 fluorescence spectrophotometer. The fluorescence values were converted into concentration DHA from a standard curve where known amounts of DHA were used. The actual concentration of DHA in the prepared standards was controlled by the addition of 10 mM dithiothreitol<sup>182-184</sup> followed by HPLC analysis on the ascorbic acid formed. All measurements were performed at room temperature.

### RESULTS

# 1. Vitamin C induces hydroxyl radicals in household drinking water [Paper I]

Vitamin C induced hydroxyl radical generation was studied in drinking water samples by measuring the formation of 7-OHCCA from coumarin-3-carboxylic acid. A marked difference in hydroxyl radical formation was observed over time in the drinking water samples supplemented with 2 mM vitamin C. The highest value, observed among the 22 household tap waters that were screened for hydroxyl radical formation, was around 920 nM of 7-OHCCA as compared to 20 nM of 7-OHCCA in the water sample that gave the lowest signal after a 3 h incubation period with vitamin C. In general, hydroxyl radical formation was lower in waters obtained from private wells as compared to water originating from public water systems. The lowest hydroxyl radical formation was found in domestic sold bottled water.

The hydroxyl radical formation in household drinking water supplemented with vitamin C could also be demonstrated using a DNA nicking assay. The hydroxylation observed in vitamin C supplemented drinking water demonstrated by the coumarin-3-carboxylic acid microplate assay was in good agreement with the DNA nicking assay.

The hydroxyl radical formation in the tap-water samples was strongly dependent on the flushing time before the samples were taken. The formation of 7-OHCCA within 3 h was remarkably decreased when the faucet was flushed for 5 min (from 710 nM to 70 nM). In this water sample the copper concentration decreased from 1.85 mg/l measured in the first drawn to 0.07 mg/l by flushing the faucet for 5 min. On the other hand, flushing did not decrease the formation of 7-OHCCA to the same extent in another sample originating from a different public water system (from around 760 nM to close to 500 nM). In this sample, the copper concentration decreased from 1.24 mg/l to 0.18 mg/l.

## 2. Ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation in drinking water is dependent on copper ions and bicarbonate [Paper II]

In paper I we observed that addition of ascorbic acid to some tap water samples contaminated with copper ions could induce hydroxyl radical formation. In paper II it was observed that the amount of copper ions present in the water samples did not always correlate with the amount of hydroxyl radicals generated after ascorbic acid addition. Therefore, in paper II we wanted to identify the compounds that might be involved in the ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical generating reaction observed earlier in drinking water.

To achieve this, we continued our work on two water samples. These samples had been taken in the same way, directly drawn from the tap, but originating from two different municipal water suppliers. Ascorbic acid supplementation led to high amounts of hydroxylated coumarin-3-carboxylic acid in the first sample (above 800 nM) within 3 h. In the other sample, however, hardly any hydroxyl radical formation could be detected after ascorbic acid addition (around 10 nM). When 2 mM ascorbic acid and 200  $\mu$ M coumarin-3-carboxylic acid were added, the pH in the first drinking water sample decreased rapidly from 7.6 to 5.8 and stabilized at a new pH value close to 6.4. In contrast, when ascorbic acid and coumarin-3-carboxylic acid were added to the other drinking water sample, a much deeper drop in the pH value could be seen. Here, the pH decreased rapidly from 7.2 to 3.8 and remained under pH 4.0.

Anion analysis by HPLC revealed that the drinking water sample generating higher amounts of hydroxyl radicals contained around 90 mg/l of both bicarbonate and chloride. In contrast, the other drinking water sample showed much lower concentrations of bicarbonate and chloride, 30 mg/l and 10 mg/l respectively. No other anions could be detected in the water samples tested (fluoride, nitrite, nitrate, bromide, phosphate or sulphate ions).

The ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation was highly dependent on the bicarbonate concentration (buffer capacity) in the water samples. This could be demonstrated using Milli-Q water supplemented with 2 mM ascorbic acid, 0.5 mg/l copper and increasing concentrations of bicarbonate. At 50 mg/l bicarbonate a prompt increase in the hydroxyl radical formation was observed. The highest amount of 7-OHCCA was obtained when 100 mg/l bicarbonate was added to the copper supplemented Milli-Q water sample. In the samples that contained 50 mg/l bicarbonate or more, a higher pH value could be measured. In contrast to ascorbic acid, the sodium-, calcium-, and magnesium salts of ascorbic acid could readily trigger hydroxyl radical formation in copper containing Milli-Q water even in the absence of bicarbonate. In the presence of bicarbonate, sodium ascorbate triggered the highest yield of hydroxylated coumarin-3-carboxylic acid at pH 5.0. At higher pH values the signal was lower.

#### 3. Oxidative decomposition of ascorbic acid in drinking water [Paper III]

In paper III we wanted to investigate to what extent ascorbic acid is degraded in copper and bicarbonate containing drinking water. Furthermore, we were interested in the degradation products that are generated from ascorbic acid. In line with paper II, the presence of both copper ions and bicarbonate was required for the degradation of ascorbic acid. This was demonstrated by HPLC analysis on two drinking water samples and a Milli-Q water sample supplemented with 100 mg/l HCO<sub>3</sub> and 0.5 mg/l Cu<sup>2+</sup>. As in paper II, the two drinking water samples had been sampled in the same way, directly drawn from the tap, but they originated from two different municipal water suppliers. In the first sample, which contained around 25 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.2 mg/l copper, only about 40% of the added ascorbic acid had been oxidized during the 3 h incubation. On the contrary, when 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to the water sample that contained 150 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.5 mg/l copper, the vitamin was almost completely (93%) oxidized during the 3 h incubation. A similar oxidation process could also be seen when 2 mM vitamin C was added to Milli-Q water supplemented with 100 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.5 mg/l copper. The addition of 2 mM ascorbic acid to Milli-Q water resulted in a very modest oxidation of the vitamin.

A rapid formation of DHA was observed in the tap water supplemented with ascorbic acid that contained 150 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.5 mg/l copper. About 650  $\mu$ M of DHA was formed after only 15 min incubation. This rapid formation of DHA was also observed in Milli-Q water supplemented with 2 mM ascorbic acid, 100 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.5 mg/l copper. However, at 15 min, less than 100  $\mu$ M of DHA had been formed in the sample that contained 25 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.2 mg/l copper. In agreement with this, a very low concentration of DHA could be detected in pure Milli-Q water supplemented with ascorbic acid. Almost no DHA was formed in 4 commercially sold domestic bottled water samples (0-3  $\mu$ M).

To verify that DHA was formed in our drinking water samples, we used dithiothreitol, a reducing agent that can turn DHA back into ascorbic acid. When dithiothreitol was added to copper and bicarbonate supplemented Milli-Q water that had been incubated with 2 mM ascorbic acid for 3 h, the ascorbic acid peak reappeared in the chromatogram (approximately 680 µM ascorbic acid was formed).

Further analysis revealed that during the 3 h incubation 2 mM ascorbic acid had been oxidized, in bicarbonate-rich and copper-contaminated drinking water, to 710  $\mu$ M DHA, about 500  $\mu$ M oxalic acid and 80  $\mu$ M threonic acid. The oxalic acid and threonic acid were

indicated to be derived from the reaction between DHA and hydrogen peroxide rather than the reaction between ascorbic acid and hydrogen peroxide (see paper III for details). When 2 mM of DHA was added to Milli-Q water supplemented with 4 mM hydrogen peroxide and 100 mg/l bicarbonate, 650  $\mu$ M oxalic acid and 200  $\mu$ M threonic acid were formed within 10 minutes. In the absence of hydrogen peroxide, 80% less oxalic acid was formed in a Milli-Q water sample containing 2 mM DHA buffered with 100 mg/l bicarbonate. In contrast, 3 hours were required for 2 mM ascorbic acid to be degraded to the same amount of oxalic acid and threonic acid by hydrogen peroxide in bicarbonatebuffered Milli-Q water.

## 4. Vitamin C/copper-induced hydroxyl radical formation can be inhibited by iron [Paper IV]

In line with our earlier findings, very low concentrations of copper (0.01-0.05 mg/l) were sufficient to give a detectable hydroxyl radical signal in an ascorbic acid supplemented bicarbonate buffered Milli-Q water sample. On the contrary, neither Fe<sup>2+</sup> nor Fe<sup>3+</sup> could support any hydroxyl radical formation in the ascorbic acid supplemented bicarbonate buffered Milli-Q water sample. The same was true for manganese, cadmium, nickel, cobalt, aluminum, magnesium, calcium and zinc (as chloride salts) or gallium (as nitrate salt), as none of these metals could induce hydroxyl radical formation in ascorbic acid supplemented bicarbonate buffered Milli-Q water sample. All these metals were tested using the highest amounts of the contaminants that are allowed in drinking water, MCL (data not shown).

HPLC analysis, with coumarin as a target molecule, was used to elucidate the effects of iron on vitamin C induced hydroxyl radical formation in the presence of copper and bicarbonate. We focused our analysis on one of these hydroxylated compounds, namely 7hydroxycoumarin. Once again, within 3 h one of the hydroxylation products of coumarin, 7-hydroxycoumarin, could be observed in copper and ascorbic acid supplemented bicarbonate-buffered Milli-Q water. If 0.1 mg/l copper was substituted with 0.2 mg/l ferric iron (MCL of iron in EU), no hydroxylation occurred. Furthermore, 48% inhibition of ascorbic acid/copper-catalyzed hydroxyl radical formation was observed with 0.2 mg/l of iron. Manganese, cadmium, nickel, cobalt, gallium, aluminum, magnesium, calcium or zinc had no inhibitory effect on the ascorbic acid/copper-mediated hydroxyl radical formation.

This inhibitory effect of iron on vitamin C/copper-induced hydroxyl radical formation was also reflected in household drinking water samples. The copper concentration in the

different water samples varied from 0.13 to 0.02 mg/l and the bicarbonate concentration varied between 80 and 130 mg/l. The water samples used in the assay did not contain any detectable iron. Addition of 0.2 mg/l ferric iron to the ascorbic acid supplemented household drinking water samples resulted in a 36 - 45% inhibition in the hydroxyl radical formation. When the household drinking water samples were supplemented with 0.8 mg/l ferric iron the inhibition was even higher, 47 – 60%.

# 5. Ascorbic acid induced hydrogen peroxide accumulation in household drinking water - interaction between copper, iron and bicarbonate [Paper V]

In this study we evaluated whether ascorbic acid can also stimulate hydrogen peroxide formation in Cu<sup>2+</sup> contaminated drinking water. To establish this, we again used Milli-Q water as a model solvent for drinking water. The results showed that ascorbic acid induces a substantial increase in the hydrogen peroxide concentration (500  $\mu$ M) in Milli-Q water supplemented with 0.1 mg/l of Cu<sup>2+</sup>. This Cu<sup>2+</sup> concentration is 20 times below the amount of copper that is allowed in drinking water in Europe (MCL). Already after 1-hour incubation, almost 300  $\mu$ M hydrogen peroxide could be detected. On the contrary, ascorbic acid and Fe<sup>3+</sup> induced very low concentrations of hydrogen peroxide (45  $\mu$ M) after 6 hours in Milli-Q water. Other metals tested at MCL levels with ascorbic acid (Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Mg<sup>2+</sup>, Zn<sup>2+</sup>, Mn<sup>2+</sup>, Co<sup>2+</sup> or Al<sup>2+</sup>) generated between 60  $\mu$ M and 120  $\mu$ M of hydrogen peroxide after 6 hours.

Although Fe<sup>3+</sup> did not induce hydrogen peroxide formation in ascorbic acid supplemented Milli-Q water, the inhibitory effect of iron on hydrogen peroxide formation could be observed in the ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup> supplemented Milli-Q water. The inhibition by 0.2 mg/l ferric iron was very weak during the first hour. However, after 2 h incubation, the hydrogen peroxide production stopped, and the concentration started to decline. After 6 h incubation the hydrogen peroxide level had decreased to about 60  $\mu$ M as compared to around 500  $\mu$ M measured in the control sample not containing iron. Other metal ion species that might be present in drinking water, Zn<sup>2+</sup>, Co<sup>2+</sup>, Mn<sup>2+</sup> or Al<sup>2+</sup> did not have any impact at their MCL levels on the ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced hydrogen peroxide formation. A modest inhibition in hydrogen peroxide formation could be seen when Mg<sup>2+</sup> or Ca<sup>2+</sup> were present. However, the concentrations of Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> were 250 and 500 fold higher than the concentration of iron used in the assay.

Oxalic acid was found to be the important factor that assisted the iron inhibitory effect on ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced hydrogen peroxide formation. Previously, in paper III we established that oxalic acid is one of the degradation products generated when ascorbic acid is oxidatively decomposed in copper-contaminated drinking water. Furthermore, oxalic acid is known to have a high affinity for ferric iron even at very low pH. This was verified when 0.1 mg/l Cu<sup>2+</sup> and 2 mM ascorbic acid were added to Milli-Q water supplemented with both iron and oxalic acid. When 0.2 mg/l Fe<sup>3+</sup> and 50  $\mu$ M oxalic acid were present from the start of the reaction, extremely low concentrations of hydrogen peroxide could be detected in the ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup> supplemented Milli-Q water. Likewise, when 0.2 mg/l Fe<sup>3+</sup> and 50  $\mu$ M oxalic acid were added to the ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced hydrogen peroxide generating reaction after 2 h incubation, the hydrogen peroxide concentration in the sample rapidly decreased. Oxalic acid also directly inhibited the ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced hydrogen peroxide formation.

The hydrogen peroxide formation was also demonstrated in 40 tap water samples and 8 domestic bottled water samples incubated with ascorbic acid during a 6-hour period. When 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to the low-buffered drinking water samples that were contaminated with copper, hydrogen peroxide was generated. The levels of hydrogen peroxide generated varied between 0 and 500  $\mu$ M in the water samples. However, in some of the drinking water samples that were contaminated with copper but showed higher buffering capacity, much lower levels of hydrogen peroxide was formed in the presence of ascorbic acid. The impact of bicarbonate on the hydrogen peroxide formation was also demonstrated in ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup> supplemented Milli-Q water that had been supplemented with various concentrations of bicarbonate. The ascorbic acid induced accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in the presence of 0.1 mg/l copper was significantly decreased when the concentrations of bicarbonate was increased.

### DISCUSSION

Nowadays, ascorbic acid is added to food and health products more than ever before. This is based on the fact that ascorbic acid can work as an antioxidant. However, ascorbic acid can easily redox-cycle with unbound transition metals such as iron and copper and thus work as a strong pro-oxidant.<sup>5, 6</sup>

The majority of the population of Europe use tap water instead of bottled water as their drinking water. The drinking water leaving the water plants is normally of good quality, rigorously checked for taste and chemical composition. However, the tap water reaching homes through the pipes might be contaminated with minerals such as copper, iron, lead, chromium or arsenic. The degree of contamination is highly dependent on how corrosive the water is, the material used in the pipes and fittings and the time the water has been sitting in the pipes before use.<sup>163</sup> Thus, if a reducing agent is added to a metal-contaminated water of this kind, a free radical generating reaction might occur.

In view of this and the fact that drinking water can be contaminated with copper, we decided to study whether vitamin C can induce hydroxyl radical formation or hydrogen peroxide accumulation in tap water samples. In our studies, 2 mM of vitamin C was used. This equals 70 mg of vitamin C in a 2 dl glass of water, and thus the concentration used is biologically relevant.

# 1. Vitamin C (Ascorbic acid) induces hydroxyl radicals and hydrogen peroxide in copper-contaminated drinking water

Hydroxyl radical and hydrogen peroxide is formed in drinking water if ascorbic acid is added (Paper I, II, IV and V). The pro-oxidative function of ascorbic acid in drinking water is primarily dependent on trace amounts of copper ions present. None of the other metals tested (iron, manganese, cadmium, nickel, cobalt, aluminium, magnesium, calcium or zinc) could not significantly support ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical or hydrogen peroxide formation in drinking water (Paper IV and V).

Our results indicated that there was a large variability in hydroxyl radical and hydrogen peroxide formation in the water samples originating from various municipal water suppliers. In general, hydroxyl radical formation was most evident in household tap water samples as compared to the hydroxyl radical formation in tap water originating from private wells or commercially sold bottled spring water.

Furthermore, we found that the hydroxyl radical and hydrogen peroxide formation in some of the ascorbic acid supplemented tap-water samples was strongly dependent on the flushing time before the samples were taken. The explanation for this is that the first drawn sample can be contaminated with copper from the pipes within the apartment (building).<sup>172, 173</sup> Indeed, the copper concentration in one of the tap-water samples decreased from 1.85 mg/l (measured in the first-drawn sample) to 0.07 mg/l after flushing the tap for 5 min (Paper I).

# 2. The concentration of bicarbonate and pH regulate whether vitamin C catalyzes hydroxyl radical or hydrogen peroxide formation in copper contaminated drinking water

Anion analysis by HPLC indicated that a buffering anion such as bicarbonate was required for ascorbic acid to redox-cycle copper and generate hydroxyl radicals in the tap water samples. Ascorbic acid stimulated hydroxyl radical formation in a copper-contaminated drinking water buffered with high amounts of bicarbonate (Paper II), and hydrogen peroxide formation in weakly bicarbonate-buffered drinking water (Paper IV).

## 2.1. Vitamin C catalyzes the formation of hydroxyl radicals in strongly bicarbonate-buffered copper-contaminated drinking water

The importance of bicarbonate and copper ions for the ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation was studied in detail in a controlled Milli-Q water system (Paper II). As little as 50 mg/l bicarbonate was enough to buffer the pH in Milli-Q water and keep the pH above 4.25 after ascorbic acid addition. The pKa<sub>1</sub> of ascorbic acid is 4.25. When the pH is above 4.25, the ascorbate mono-anion will dominate and this form can be further oxidized with concomitant reduction of  $Cu^{2+}$  to  $Cu^+$ . The reduced copper (Cu<sup>+</sup>) can in turn react with oxygen and generate superoxide. At higher pH values rapid redox-cycling of copper will generate superoxide, peroxide and hydroxyl radicals via a copper-assisted Fenton reaction (see below: Equation 15-18). At lower pH, the percentage of superoxide in the water also decreases when superoxide anion reacts with a hydrogen proton to form the hydroperoxyl radical (HO<sub>2</sub><sup>•</sup>).

$$Cu^{2+} + Asc \rightarrow Cu^{+} + Asc^{\bullet}$$
 Eq. 15

$$Cu^+ + O_2 \rightarrow Cu^{2+} + O_2^{\bullet-}$$
 Eq. 16

$$Cu^{+} + O_{2}^{\bullet^{-}} + 2H^{+} \rightarrow Cu^{2+} + H_{2}O_{2}$$
 Eq. 17

$$Cu^+ + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Cu^{2+} + OH^- + OH^-$$
 Eq. 18

Our results in paper II stress the importance of the buffering capacity in the water sample for ascorbic acid to stimulate hydroxyl radical formation. Anion analyses by HPLC also detected chloride ions, but the amounts detected in drinking water, as well as the highest amount of chloride ions that is allowed in drinking water, (MCL in Europe) did not affect hydroxyl radical formation. In the presence of bicarbonate, ascorbic acid induced the strongest signal as compared to the sodium-, calcium-, or magnesium salts of ascorbic acid. When the salts of ascorbate were used, the pH in the solution was 7.5 and the hydroxyl radical signal was 35-40% lower. At this pH, the bicarbonate ions (HCO<sub>3</sub><sup>¬</sup>) are the dominating species in the buffer (Figure 4). Bicarbonate ions present in the solution can rapidly react with the hydroxyl radicals and form bicarbonate- or carbonate radicals.<sup>185</sup>

Vitamin C is one of the most studied antioxidants and it has previously been suggested that vitamin C might inhibit N-nitroso compound-induced gastric carcinoma.<sup>186-189</sup> In this condition, vitamin C has been studied in the absence of transition metals, such as copper ions, and should thus function as an antioxidant. However, one could speculate that bicarbonate in vivo in some special compartments, e.g. in the stomach or urinary bladder, could locally increase the pH and thereby assist vitamin C in stimulating hydroxyl radical formation in the presence of transition metals. ROS have been documented as being involved in gastric ulceration and cancer.<sup>153, 190-192</sup> Kadiiska et al. reported that installation of high levels of ascorbate with copper ions into the stomach of animals leads to hydroxyl radical formation.<sup>193</sup> Hydroxyl radicals have also been measured in human gastric juice.<sup>194</sup> Thus, bicarbonate and copper could in fact, turn vitamin C (ascorbic acid) into a strong pro-oxidant. In line with this assumption, bicarbonate and vitamin C has been shown to promote (N-butyl-N-(4-hydroxybutyl) nitrosamine) induced bladder carcinogenesis in rats.<sup>195-197</sup> Moreover, it has been shown that alkaline urinary pH promotes bladder carcinogenesis in rat model systems.<sup>198, 199</sup> Interestingly, ascorbic acid in the presence of bicarbonate,<sup>195, 196</sup> or sodium ascorbate,<sup>200, 201</sup> was used in these studies.

The vitamin C induced hydroxyl radical formation that takes place in copper-contaminated drinking water might also explain the recently observed occurrence of benzene in carbonated soft drinks supplemented with vitamin C and benzoic acid. It has been shown that hydroxyl radicals can catalyze decarboxylation reactions and therefore hydroxyl radicals

might turn the preservative benzoic acid into the highly carcinogenic benzene in beverages.<sup>202</sup>

## 2.2. Vitamin C catalyzes the formation of hydrogen peroxide in weakly bicarbonate-buffered copper-contaminated drinking water

Paper V shows that ascorbic acid can initiate a time-dependent accumulation of hydrogen peroxide in copper-contaminated poorly buffered drinking water. Ascorbic acid induces a substantial increase in the hydrogen peroxide concentration (about 500  $\mu$ M) in Milli-Q water (bicarbonate free) supplemented with copper ions after 6 hours incubation. Some drinking waters generated close to 500  $\mu$ M of hydrogen peroxide within 6 hours, reaching close to 300  $\mu$ M hydrogen peroxide in only 2 hours. Hydrogen peroxide formation occurred at very low concentration of Cu<sup>2+</sup> ions (0.1 mg/l) (20 times below the amount of copper that is allowed in drinking water, MCL in Europe). Only cobalt (II) generated small amounts of hydrogen peroxide (around 120  $\mu$ M) during acidic conditions with vitamin C after 6 hours incubation.

The ascorbic acid induced hydrogen peroxide formation was particularly evident in poorly buffered (low bicarbonate concentration) copper-contaminated drinking water samples. When bicarbonate was added to Milli-Q water supplemented with copper, the hydrogen peroxide accumulation was much lower. These results were consistent with the results from study in paper II, where hydrogen peroxide is converted to hydroxyl radicals.

The ascorbic acid induced hydrogen peroxide accumulation in copper supplemented Milli-Q water (bicarbonate free) was significantly higher than the ascorbic acid induced hydrogen peroxide formation earlier observed in cell culture and cell culture medium.<sup>203, 204</sup> However, our experiments were carried out in a much more acidic milieu (pH 3.5) compared to the experiments in the buffered cell culture medium. Furthermore, the copper concentration in our experiments was much higher as compared to the trace amount of copper that normally is present in cell culture medium supplemented with serum. Also, the pH in our vitamin C supplemented drinking water samples was close to or below the pKa<sub>1</sub> value of ascorbic acid (4.25). In more neutral conditions (pH 6-6.5) that were obtained when magnesium ascorbate, calcium ascorbate or sodium ascorbate were added to Cu<sup>2+</sup> supplemented Milli-Q water, less hydrogen peroxide was generated within 6 hours (data not shown). The results obtained from these experiments are in better agreement with the amounts of hydrogen peroxide that have been reported to accumulate in cell cultures and cell culture medium.<sup>203, 204</sup>

### 3. Iron inhibits vitamin C (ascorbic acid) induced hydroxyl radical formation and hydrogen peroxide accumulation in drinking water

Iron displays an inhibitory effect on the ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation and hydrogen peroxide accumulation when copper ions are present in drinking water (Paper IV and V). The study in paper V demonstrates that ascorbic acid-derived oxalic acid is necessary for the inhibitory effect of iron on ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup> induced hydrogen peroxide accumulation. It was confirmed that none of the other metals (manganese, cadmium, nickel, cobalt, aluminium magnesium, calcium or zinc) could inhibit the vitamin C and copper-driven hydroxyl radical and hydrogen peroxide formation. All these metals were tested at MCL.

An interaction between oxalic acid and copper was also observed as oxalic acid decreased the ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup> induced hydrogen peroxide formation in Milli-Q water. Indeed, oxalic acid has a high affinity for Cu<sup>2+</sup> and forms metal complexes with Cu<sup>2+</sup> ions as well as with Fe<sup>3+</sup> ions even at very low pH.<sup>205</sup> The inhibitory effect of oxalic acid on ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup> induced hydrogen peroxide formation in Milli-Q water was confirmed not to be due to Cu<sup>2+</sup>/oxalic acid catalyzing hydrogen peroxide to hydroxyl radicals. Instead, the inhibitory effect of oxalic acid on ascorbic acid/copper induced hydrogen peroxide formation was implied to originate from oxalic acid's ability to interfere with copper redoxcycling. Interestingly, it has been suggested that oxalic acid could act as an antioxidant in plants, because oxalic acid reduces the rate of ascorbic acid oxidation in the presence of hydrogen peroxide and Cu<sup>2+.206</sup>

The results of the study in paper IV are in agreement with the recent report by White *et al.*, demonstrating that iron can inhibit reductant-mediated copper and hydrogen peroxide generation and neurotoxicity.<sup>207</sup> Moreover, our results are in line with the recent findings by Munday *et al.* showing that copper-catalyzed cysteine oxidation can be partly inhibited by low concentrations of iron salts.<sup>208</sup> In this context, it can also be mentioned that Menditto *et al.* showed that loading seminal plasma with either ferrous or ferric iron up to a concentration of 50  $\mu$ M only modestly affected the rate of ascorbic acid oxidation.<sup>209</sup> The low oxidation rate of ascorbic acid by iron was also seen in our *in vitro* experiments (data not shown). However, low concentrations of copper, as shown in the study in paper III and IV, induce rapid oxidation of ascorbic acid.<sup>209</sup> One question to be addressed is thus whether simultaneous administration of iron could slow down copper/ascorbic acid mediated processes.

The inhibition is unlikely to result from an experimental artefact since it is well known that coumarin-3-carboxylic acid can be used to detect iron driven hydroxyl radical reactions.<sup>138, 210, 211</sup> Moreover, our HPLC experiments using coumarin as the target molecule gave the same results. A plausible explanation for the iron-induced inhibition could be that Fe<sup>3+</sup> reacts with the superoxide generated from the copper/ascorbate redox reaction (Equation 5). Fe<sup>2+</sup> might also react with hydrogen peroxide and generate water and ferryl ions according to the Bray-Gorin reaction (Equation 19).<sup>212</sup>

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow [Fe^{4+}O]^{2+} + H_2O$$
 (Bray-Gorin) Eq. 19

The ability of Fe<sup>3+</sup> and oxalic acid to regulate ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced hydrogen peroxide formation during acidic conditions (Paper V), could be of importance *in vivo* when acidic conditions prevail. Thus, when Cu<sup>2+</sup> ions and vitamin C are present at acidic conditions, the presence or absence of free redox-active iron and oxalic acid will determine how much hydrogen peroxide will be accumulated. In particular, during conditions where catalase is not present or not functioning properly (e.g. in the presence of ascorbic acid and copper),<sup>213, 214</sup> the iron/oxalic acid complex could be of importance in regulating hydrogen peroxide toxicity during acidic conditions in various biological systems *in vivo*. Overall, our results support earlier reports demonstrating that Fe<sup>3+</sup> can inhibit the cytotoxic effect of hydrogen peroxide in cell systems induced by ascorbic acid.<sup>39, 42, 207</sup>

Hydrogen peroxide has been shown to have strong antibacterial effects.<sup>215</sup> One might speculate whether the ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced hydrogen peroxide formation and the ability of Fe<sup>3+</sup> and oxalic acid to regulate hydrogen peroxide formation, as demonstrated here in drinking water, could be involved in controlling the survival of pathogenic bacteria in the human gastrointestinal tract. Higher intake of vitamin C has been associated with lower incidence of gastric cancer, for which *H. pylori* is a significant risk factor.<sup>216</sup>

Normally, catalase will catalyze hydrogen peroxide into water and oxygen. However, substantial quantities of hydrogen peroxide (>100 µM), can be detected in freshly voided human urine.<sup>217, 218</sup> For instance, hydrogen peroxide is surprisingly rapidly formed in freshly prepared coffee and ingestion of coffee containing hydrogen peroxide has been shown to increase the hydrogen peroxide concentration in urine.<sup>219</sup> Thus, a question to be addressed is whether hydrogen peroxide formation in copper-contaminated drinking water, as observed in our study with vitamin C, could result in increased hydrogen peroxide load. Hydrogen peroxide is diffusible within and between cells,<sup>152, 153</sup> and therefore hydrogen

peroxide might have an impact on the urinary tract.<sup>152, 220-222</sup> Interestingly, there have been suggestions that urinary hydrogen peroxide can be a marker of oxidative stress in malignancies.<sup>152, 217, 218, 223, 224</sup> In particular, in the absence of Fe<sup>3+</sup> ions, ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced hydrogen peroxide formation in drinking water as demonstrated in our study in paper V, might enhance the total hydrogen peroxide load and hydrogen peroxide induced oxidative stress in some individuals.

## 4. Rapid decomposition of vitamin C (ascorbic acid) in bicarbonate buffered copper-contaminated drinking water

In paper III we wanted to see how rapidly and to what extent ascorbic acid can be oxidized in a copper-contaminated drinking water sample. In line with paper II, the presence of both copper ions and bicarbonate was required for the degradation of ascorbic acid. Ascorbic acid degradation by copper as a catalyst has been well documented in parenteral mixtures and cooking of vegetables in copper-contaminated water.<sup>225</sup> In our study, approximately one-third of the ascorbic acid added (2 mM) to a sample that contained 150 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.5 mg/l copper had been oxidized after 15 minutes and the vitamin was almost completely (93%) oxidized within 3 hours. On the contrary, in another sample that contained 26 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.2 mg/l copper, only 39% of the added ascorbic acid had been oxidized during the 3 h incubation.

Low concentrations of vitamin C in gastric juice have been associated with *Helicobacter pylori* infection. The *Helicobacter pylori* infection is the main cause of chronic gastritis and increases the risk of gastric cancer.<sup>226-228</sup> Inflammation in the stomach induced by *H. pylori* causes significantly enhanced depletion of vitamin C, but also reduces secretion of the vitamin into the gastric lumen.<sup>229-231</sup> On the other hand, it has not been studied whether vitamin C consumed with a copper/bicarbonate-rich water could be linked to low gastric concentration of vitamin C, and increased susceptibility to *H. pylori* infection.

When ascorbic acid was oxidized in the presence of copper ions, DHA was formed. To verify that DHA was formed in our drinking water samples, we used dithiothreitol as a reducing agent.<sup>183, 184</sup> Dithiothreitol turned DHA in the samples back into ascorbic acid. DHA has previously been shown to be spontaneously decomposed into L-diketogulonate (2,3-DKG) or erythroascorbate.<sup>72, 232, 233</sup> Our results indicated that DHA, and not diketogulonate, was present in the sample. The DHA formation in the bicarbonate-rich water sample contaminated with copper was very rapid, as up to 650 µM DHA was formed within 15 min. The amount of DHA formed within 15 minutes in the various tap water

samples tested was in the range of 100-650  $\mu$ M. On the contrary, if commercially sold domestic bottled water was used in the assay, a very modest degradation of ascorbic acid took place. Thus, people consuming copper-contaminated drinking water with ascorbic acid will most likely ingest, or generate more DHA in their stomach than people using bottled water.

The impact of long-term intake of DHA on human health has not yet been elucidated. DHA can enter cells via the GLUT glucose transporter.<sup>234</sup> Intracellular reduction of DHA to ascorbic acid by NADPH- and glutathione-dependent reactions decreases the cellular concentrations of NADPH and glutathione in some celltypes.<sup>235-237</sup> In line with these findings, DHA has been shown to cause oxidative stress and apoptosis in pancreatic and neural cells by depleting their intracellular store of reduced glutathione.<sup>238, 239</sup>

In the water samples, DHA was further decomposed into two major metabolites, oxalic acid and threonic acid. Our results indicated that the hydrogen peroxide formed, and not the hydroxyl radicals generated during the reaction, was responsible for the DHA decomposition in the water samples. This is in line with a report by Isbell *et al.* showing that hydrogen peroxide and DHA can react directly at pH 7 to produce oxalic acid and threonic acid.<sup>240</sup>

It has been proposed that high concentrations of oxalic acid (calcium oxalate) can promote the formation of kidney stones.<sup>241-243</sup> It has also been suggested that vitamin C could be a source of oxalic acid in kidney stones,<sup>241</sup> but no reasonable support for such a proposal has been published.<sup>10</sup> One criticism has been that increased oxalate excretion in urine might be an artefact resulting from the spontaneous degradation of vitamin C into oxalate in the urine samples.<sup>244</sup> Oxalate formation during ingestion of vitamin C and coppercontaminated water has not yet been studied, but the results presented in our study (Paper III) might indicate that substantial amounts of oxalic acid could be generated if ascorbic acid is consumed with copper-contaminated bicarbonate-buffered drinking water.

Excess intake of vitamin C is regarded as safe since vitamin C is known to be excreted in urine due to its water solubility.<sup>10, 11</sup> Interestingly, our results show substantial DHA and oxalic acid accumulation from vitamin C in copper-contaminated drinking water. A question that would need to be addressed is whether copper-contaminated drinking water can deplete vitamin C and hence interfere with vitamin C uptake from the stomach and intestine, leading to vitamin C deficiencies. Thus, could our copper pipes, like the copper pans once used in cooking, be linked to vitamin C deficiencies?

#### Conclusions

### CONCLUSIONS

The main focus of this thesis was to study the pro-oxidant effect of vitamin C (ascorbic acid) in metal contaminated drinking water. The main findings of this study are:

1. Bicarbonate and pH regulate the pro-oxidant activity of ascorbic acid in drinking water contaminated with trace amounts of copper. Ascorbic acid will induce hydroxyl radicals in copper-contaminated drinking water buffered with high amounts of bicarbonate (II), and hydrogen peroxide in weakly bicarbonate-buffered drinking water (IV). Of the other metals tested (iron, manganese, cadmium, nickel, cobalt, aluminium, magnesium, calcium or zinc), none could significantly support ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radicals or hydrogen peroxide formation in drinking water (IV, V).

Ascorbic acid and copper induced hydroxyl radical formation and hydrogen peroxide accumulation could be important modulators of various molecules. The pro-oxidant activity of vitamin C in the presence of copper ions as observed in the bicarbonate-buffered drinking water might be linked to the reported occurrence of benzene in beverages supplemented with vitamin C and benzoic acid.<sup>202</sup> Furthermore, the vitamin C/Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced hydrogen peroxide formation during acidic conditions, as demonstrated in poorly buffered drinking water, could be of importance in host defence against bacterial infections. On the other hand, excessive production of hydrogen peroxide could induce increased oxidative stress on tissues, or alternatively be involved in cell activation.

2. Iron displays an inhibitory effect on the ascorbic acid/copper induced hydroxyl radical formation, as well as on hydrogen peroxide accumulation in drinking water (IV, V). Paper V demonstrates that ascorbic acid-derived oxalic acid is necessary for the inhibitory effect of iron on ascorbic acid/Cu<sup>2+</sup>-induced hydrogen peroxide accumulation.

Bicarbonate and iron might function as important regulators of copper/reductant-induced hydroxyl radical/hydrogen peroxide formation and copper mediated tissue damage. The iron/oxalic acid induced inhibition of hydrogen peroxide formation as demonstrated here in drinking water might also be linked to the protective effect of iron against ascorbic acid (vitamin C) and copper-induced cell toxicity in cell cultures. Our results in paper IV and V also indicate that complete removal of iron from the raw water of the water plants can to some extent increase the redox activity of copper, and the formation of ROS in drinking water.

#### Conclusions

3. Significant amounts of ascorbic acid are rapidly oxidized into DHA when added to a strongly bicarbonate-buffered copper-contaminated drinking water (III). The results also demonstrate that DHA is further decomposed into oxalic- and threonic acid in bicarbonate-buffered copper-contaminated drinking water. Thus, copper-contaminated drinking water could possibly deplete vitamin C and hence interfere with vitamin C uptake from the stomach and intestine, leading to vitamin C deficiencies. Furthermore, people consuming this type of water will most likely ingest, or generate more DHA in their stomachs than people using bottled water. The impact of long-term intake of DHA and oxalic acid obtained from vitamin C supplemented copper-contaminated drinking water is not known.

### REFERENCES

- 1. Arrigoni O, De Tullio MC. Ascorbic acid: Much more than just an antioxidant. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2002;1569:1-9
- 2. Naidu KA. Vitamin C in human health and disease is still a mystery? An overview. *Nutr J*. 2003;2:7
- 3. D'Agostini F, Izzotti A, Balansky RM, Bennicelli C, De Flora S. Modulation of apoptosis by cancer chemopreventive agents. *Mutat Res.* 2005;591:173-186
- 4. Schneider JE, Browning MM, Floyd RA. Ascorbate/iron mediation of hydroxyl free radical damage to P322 plasmid DNA. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1988;5:287-295
- 5. Buettner GR, Jurkiewicz BA. Catalytic metals, ascorbate and free radicals: Combinations to avoid. *Radiat Res.* 1996;145:532-541
- 6. Halliwell B. Vitamin C: Antioxidant or pro-oxidant in vivo? Free Radic Res. 1996;25:439-454
- 7. Podmore ID, Griffiths HR, Herbert KE, Mistry N, Mistry P, Lunec J. Vitamin C exhibits pro-oxidant properties. *Nature*. 1998;392:559
- 8. Carr AC, Frei B. Toward a new recommended dietary allowance for vitamin C based on antioxidant and health effects in humans. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1999;69:1086-1107
- 9. Carr A, Frei B. Does vitamin C act as a pro-oxidant under physiological conditions? *Faseb J*. 1999;13:1007-1024
- Hathcock JN, Azzi A, Blumberg J, Bray T, Dickinson A, Frei B, Jialal I, Johnston CS, Kelly FJ, Kraemer K, Packer L, Parthasarathy S, Sies H, Traber MG. Vitamins E and C are safe across a broad range of intakes. *Am J Clin Nutr*. 2005;81:736-745
- Rivers JM. Safety of high-level vitamin C ingestion. Int J Vitam Nutr Res Suppl. 1989;30:95-102
- 12. Goldman HM, Gould BS, Munro HN. The antiscorbutic action of L-ascorbic acid and Disoascorbic acid (erythorbic acid) in the guinea pig. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1981;34:24-33
- 13. Pimentel L. Scurvy: Historical review and current diagnostic approach. *Am J Emerg Med.* 2003;21:328-332
- 14. Jacob RA. Three eras of vitamin C discovery. Subcell Biochem. 1996;25:1-16
- 15. Manchester KL. An orange a day keeps the scurvy away. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* 1998;19:167-170
- 16. Oeffinger KC. Scurvy: More than historical relevance. *Am Fam Physician*. 1993;48:609-613
- 17. Szent-Gyorgyi A. Observation of the functions of peroxidase systems and the chemistry of the adrenal cortex. *Biochem J.* 1928;22:1387-1409

- 18. Svirbely J, Szent-Gyorgyi A. The chemical nature of vitamin C. *The Biochemical Journal*. 1932;26:865-870
- 19. Stone N, Meister A. Function of ascorbic acid in the conversion of proline to collagen hydroxyproline. *Nature*. 1962;194:555–557
- 20. Levine M. New concepts in the biology and biochemistry of ascorbic acid. N Engl J Med. 1986;314:892-902
- 21. Kallner AB, Hartmann D, Hornig DH. On the requirements of ascorbic acid in man: Steady-state turnover and body pool in smokers. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1981;34:1347-1355
- 22. Hornig D. Metabolism and requirements of ascorbic acid in man. *S Afr Med J.* 1981;60:818-823
- 23. Johnston CS. Biomarkers for establishing a tolerable upper intake level for vitamin C. *Nutr Rev.* 1999;57:71-77
- 24. Pauling L. Are recommended daily allowances for vitamin C adequate? *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1974;71:4442-4446
- 25. Pauling L. Vitamin C therapy of advanced cancer. N Engl J Med. 1980;302:694-695
- 26. Moertel CG, Fleming TR, Creagan ET, Rubin J, O'Connell MJ, Ames MM. High-dose vitamin C versus placebo in the treatment of patients with advanced cancer who have had no prior chemotherapy. A randomized double-blind comparison. N Engl J Med. 1985;312:137-141
- 27. Pauling L, Herman ZS. Criteria for the validity of clinical trials of treatments of cohorts of cancer patients based on the Hardin Jones principle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1989;86:6835-6837
- 28. Hemila H. Vitamin C supplementation and common cold symptoms: Factors affecting the magnitude of the benefit. *Med Hypotheses*. 1999;52:171-178
- 29. Douglas RM, Hemila H, D'Souza R, Chalker EB, Treacy B. Vitamin C for preventing and treating the common cold. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2004:CD000980
- Douglas RM, Hemila H. Vitamin C for preventing and treating the common cold. PLoS Med. 2005;2:e168; quiz e217
- 31. Machefer G, Groussard C, Rannou-Bekono F, Zouhal H, Faure H, Vincent S, Cillard J, Gratas-Delamarche A. Extreme running competition decreases blood antioxidant defense capacity. *J Am Coll Nutr.* 2004;23:358-364
- 32. Stahl W, Sies H. Antioxidant defense: Vitamins E and C and carotenoids. *Diabetes.* 1997;46 Suppl 2:S14-18
- 33. Frei B. On the role of vitamin C and other antioxidants in atherogenesis and vascular dysfunction. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med.* 1999;222:196-204

- Padayatty SJ, Katz A, Wang Y, Eck P, Kwon O, Lee JH, Chen S, Corpe C, Dutta A, Dutta SK, Levine M. Vitamin C as an antioxidant: Evaluation of its role in disease prevention. J Am Coll Nutr. 2003;22:18-35
- 35. Martin A. Antioxidant vitamins E and C and risk of Alzheimer's disease. Nutr Rev. 2003;61:69-73
- Rose RC, Richer SP, Bode AM. Ocular oxidants and antioxidant protection. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med. 1998;217:397-407
- 37. Fernandez-Robredo P, Moya D, Rodriguez JA, Garcia-Layana A. Vitamins C and E reduce retinal oxidative stress and nitric oxide metabolites and prevent ultrastructural alterations in porcine hypercholesterolemia. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2005;46:1140-1146
- 38. De Pauw-Gillet MC, Siwek B, Pozzi G, Sabbioni E, Bassleer RJ. Effects of FeSO<sub>4</sub> on B16 melanoma cells differentiation and proliferation. *Anticancer Res.* 1990;10:1029-1033
- 39. Satoh K, Kadofuku T, Sakagami H. Copper, but not iron, enhances apoptosis-inducing activity of antioxidants. *Anticancer Res.* 1997;17:2487-2490
- 40. Satoh K, Sakagami H. Effect of metal ions on radical intensity and cytotoxic activity of ascorbate. *Anticancer Res.* 1997;17:1125-1129
- 41. Malicev E, Woyniak G, Knezevic M, Radosavljevic D, Jeras M. Vitamin C induced apoptosis in human articular chondrocytes. *Pflugers Arch.* 2000;440:R46-48
- 42. Marczewska J, Koziorowska JH, Anuszewska EL. Influence of ascorbic acid on cytotoxic activity of copper and iron ions *in vitro*. *Acta Pol Pharm*. 2000;57:415-418
- 43. Campbell GD, Jr., Steinberg MH, Bower JD. Letter: Ascorbic acid-induced hemolysis in G-6-PD deficiency. *Ann Intern Med.* 1975;82:810
- 44. Mehta JB, Singhal SB, Mehta BC. Ascorbic-acid-induced haemolysis in G-6-PD deficiency. *Lancet.* 1990;336:944
- 45. Mengel CE, Greene HL, Jr. Letter: Ascorbic acid effects on erythrocytes. *Ann Intern Med.* 1976;84:490
- Nishikimi M, Yagi K. Molecular basis for the deficiency in humans of gulonolactone oxidase, a key enzyme for ascorbic acid biosynthesis. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1991;54:12038-12088
- 47. Nishikimi M, Yagi K. Biochemistry and molecular biology of ascorbic acid biosynthesis. *Subcell Biochem.* 1996;25:17-39
- 48. Johnson CS, Steinberg FM, Rucker RB. Ascorbic acid. Handbook of Vitamins, Third Edition Edited by Rucker, RB, Suttie, JW, McCormick, DB Machlin IJ Marcel Dekker Inc, New York. 1998:529-585
- 49. Davies KJ. Oxidative stress: The paradox of aerobic life. Biochem Soc Symp. 1995;61:1-31

- 50. Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Free radicals in biology and medicine, 3rd ed. Oxford University Press, Oxford. 1999
- 51. Poli G, Leonarduzzi G, Biasi F, Chiarpotto E. Oxidative stress and cell signalling. *Curr Med Chem.* 2004;11:1163-1182
- 52. Florence TM. The role of free radicals in disease. Aust N Z J Ophthalmol. 1995;23:3-7
- 53. Halliwell B. Oxidants and the central nervous system: Some fundamental questions. Is oxidant damage relevant to Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease, traumatic injury or stroke? *Acta Neurol Scand Suppl.* 1989;126:23-33
- 54. Knight JA. Reactive oxygen species and the neurodegenerative disorders. *Ann Clin Lab Sci.* 1997;27:11-25
- 55. Halliwell B. Reactive oxygen species and the central nervous system. J Neurochem. 1992;59:1609-1623
- 56. Wang X, Martindale JL, Liu Y, Holbrook NJ. The cellular response to oxidative stress: Influences of mitogen-activated protein kinase signalling pathways on cell survival. *Biochem* J. 1998;333 (Pt 2):291-300
- 57. Dalton TP, Shertzer HG, Puga A. Regulation of gene expression by reactive oxygen. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol.* 1999;39:67-101
- 58. Schreck R, Rieber P, Baeuerle PA. Reactive oxygen intermediates as apparently widely used messengers in the activation of the NF-kappa B transcription factor and HIV-1. *Embo J*. 1991;10:2247-2258
- 59. Sen CK, Packer L. Antioxidant and redox regulation of gene transcription. Faseb J. 1996;10:709-720
- 60. Abe J, Berk BC. Fyn and JAK2 mediate Ras activation by reactive oxygen species. J Biol Chem. 1999;274:21003-21010
- 61. Griendling KK, Harrison DG. Dual role of reactive oxygen species in vascular growth. *Cire Res.* 1999;85:562-563
- 62. Halliwell B. Antioxidants in human health and disease. Annu Rev Nutr. 1996;16:33-50
- 63. Whiteman M, Halliwell B. Protection against peroxynitrite-dependent tyrosine nitration and alpha 1-antiproteinase inactivation by ascorbic acid. A comparison with other biological antioxidants. *Free Radic Res.* 1996;25:275-283
- 64. Jialal I, Vega GL, Grundy SM. Physiologic levels of ascorbate inhibit the oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein. *Atherosclerosis*. 1990;82:185-191
- 65. Chakraborty S, Nandi A, Mukhopadhyay M, Mukhopadhyay CK, Chatterjee IB. Ascorbate protects guinea pig tissues against lipid peroxidation. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1994;16:417-426

- 66. Sies H, Stahl W, Sundquist AR. Antioxidant functions of vitamins. Vitamins E and C, betacarotene, and other carotenoids. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1992;669:7-20
- 67. May JM, Cobb CE, Mendiratta S, Hill KE, Burk RF. Reduction of the ascorbyl free radical to ascorbate by thioredoxin reductase. *J Biol Chem.* 1998;273:23039-23045
- 68. Khatami M, Roel LE, Li W, Rockey JH. Ascorbate regeneration in bovine ocular tissues by NADH-dependent semidehydroascorbate reductase. *Exp Eye Res.* 1986;43:167-175
- 69. Buettner GR, Jurkiewicz BA. Ascorbate free radical as a marker of oxidative stress: An EPR study. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1993;14:49-55
- Mukai K, Nishimura M, Kikuchi S. Stopped-flow investigation of the reaction of vitamin C with tocopheroxyl radical in aqueous triton x-100 micellar solutions. The structure-activity relationship of the regeneration reaction of tocopherol by vitamin C. J Biol Chem. 1991;266:274-278
- 71. Kasparova S, Brezova V, Valko M, Horecky J, Mlynarik V, Liptaj T, Vancova O, Ulicna O, Dobrota D. Study of the oxidative stress in a rat model of chronic brain hypoperfusion. *Neurochem Int.* 2005;46:601-611
- 72. Bode AM, Cunningham L, Rose RC. Spontaneous decay of oxidized ascorbic acid (dehydro-L-ascorbic acid) evaluated by high-pressure liquid chromatography. *Clin Chem.* 1990;36:1807-1809
- 73. Reaven PD, Witztum JL. Oxidized low density lipoproteins in atherogenesis: Role of dietary modification. *Annu Rev Nutr.* 1996;16:51-71
- 74. Neuzil J, Weber C, Kontush A. The role of vitamin E in atherogenesis: Linking the chemical, biological and clinical aspects of the disease. *Atherosclerosis*. 2001;157:257-283
- 75. Edge R, Truscott TG. Pro-oxidant and antioxidant reaction mechanisms of carotene and radical interactions with vitamins E and C. *Nutrition*. 1997;13:992-994
- 76. Zhang SM, Hernan MA, Chen H, Spiegelman D, Willett WC, Ascherio A. Intakes of vitamins E and C, carotenoids, vitamin supplements, and PD risk. *Neurology*. 2002;59:1161-1169
- 77. Bowry VW, Mohr D, Cleary J, Stocker R. Prevention of tocopherol-mediated peroxidation in ubiquinol-10-free human low density lipoprotein. *J Biol Chem.* 1995;270:5756-5763
- 78. Kagan VE, Kuzmenko AI, Shvedova AA, Kisin ER, Li R, Martin I, Quinn PJ, Tyurin VA, Tyurina YY, Yalowich JC. Direct evidence for recycling of myeloperoxidase-catalyzed phenoxyl radicals of a vitamin E homologue, 2,2,5,7,8-pentamethyl-6-hydroxy chromane, by ascorbate/dihydrolipoate in living HL-60 cells. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2003;1620:72-84
- 79. Neuzil J, Thomas SR, Stocker R. Requirement for, promotion, or inhibition by alphatocopherol of radical-induced initiation of plasma lipoprotein lipid peroxidation. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1997;22:57-71

- 80. Burton GW, Traber MG. Vitamin E: Antioxidant activity, biokinetics, and bioavailability. Annu Rev Nutr. 1990;10:357-382
- 81. Tanaka K, Hashimoto T, Tokumaru S, Iguchi H, Kojo S. Interactions between vitamin C and vitamin E are observed in tissues of inherently scorbutic rats. *J Nutr.* 1997;127:2060-2064
- Schorah CJ, Downing C, Piripitsi A, Gallivan L, Al-Hazaa AH, Sanderson MJ, Bodenham A. Total vitamin C, ascorbic acid, and dehydroascorbic acid concentrations in plasma of critically ill patients. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1996;63:760-765
- 83. Lykkesfeldt J, Loft S, Nielsen JB, Poulsen HE. Ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid as biomarkers of oxidative stress caused by smoking. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1997;65:959-963
- 84. Koch CJ, Biaglow JE. Toxicity, radiation sensitivity modification, and metabolic effects of dehydroascorbate and ascorbate in mammalian cells. *J Cell Physiol.* 1978;94:299-306
- 85. Rose RC, Choi JL, Bode AM. Short term effects of oxidized ascorbic acid on bovine corneal endothelium and human placenta. *Life Sci.* 1992;50:1543-1549
- 86. Song JH, Shin SH, Wang W, Ross GM. Involvement of oxidative stress in ascorbateinduced proapoptotic death of PC12 cells. *Exp Neurol.* 2001;169:425-437
- 87. Bhaskaram P. Micronutrient malnutrition, infection, and immunity: An overview. *Nutr Rev.* 2002;60:S40-45
- 88. Campbell JD, Cole M, Bunditrutavorn B, Vella AT. Ascorbic acid is a potent inhibitor of various forms of T cell apoptosis. *Cell Immunol.* 1999;194:1-5
- 89. Evans RM, Currie L, Campbell A. The distribution of ascorbic acid between various cellular components of blood, in normal individuals, and its relation to the plasma concentration. *Br J Nutr.* 1982;47:473-482
- 90. Reiber H, Ruff M, Uhr M. Ascorbate concentration in human cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) and serum. Intrathecal accumulation and CSF flow rate. *Clin Chim Acta*. 1993;217:163-173
- 91. Shang F, Lu M, Dudek E, Reddan J, Taylor A. Vitamin C and vitamin E restore the resistance of GSH-depleted lens cells to H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2003;34:521-530
- 92. van der Vliet A, O'Neill CA, Cross CE, Koostra JM, Volz WG, Halliwell B, Louie S. Determination of low-molecular-mass antioxidant concentrations in human respiratory tract lining fluids. *Am J Physiol.* 1999;276:L289-296
- 93. Lozoff B, Jimenez E, Wolf AW. Long-term developmental outcome of infants with iron deficiency. N Engl J Med. 1991;325:687-694
- 94. Berg D, Gerlach M, Youdim MB, Double KL, Zecca L, Riederer P, Becker G. Brain iron pathways and their relevance to Parkinson's disease. *J Neurochem.* 2001;79:225-236

- 95. Halliwell B. Role of free radicals in the neurodegenerative diseases: Therapeutic implications for antioxidant treatment. *Drugs Aging.* 2001;18:685-716
- 96. Sayre LM, Perry G, Atwood CS, Smith MA. The role of metals in neurodegenerative diseases. *Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand)*. 2000;46:731-741
- 97. Stevens RG. Iron and the risk of cancer. Med Oncol Tumor Pharmacother. 1990;7:177-181
- 98. Okada S. Iron-induced tissue damage and cancer: The role of reactive oxygen species-free radicals. *Pathol Int.* 1996;46:311-332
- 99. Thomas MC, MacIsaac RJ, Tsalamandris C, Jerums G. Elevated iron indices in patients with diabetes. *Diabet Med.* 2004;21:798-802
- 100. Perez de Nanclares G, Castano L, Gaztambide S, Bilbao JR, Pi J, Gonzalez ML, Vazquez JA. Excess iron storage in patients with type 2 diabetes unrelated to primary hemochromatosis. *N Engl J Med.* 2000;343:890-891
- 101. Walker EM, Jr., Walker SM. Effects of iron overload on the immune system. *Ann Clin Lab Sci.* 2000;30:354-365
- 102. Li J, Zhu Y, Singal DP. HFE gene mutations in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2000;27:2074-2077
- 103. Barnham KJ, Masters CL, Bush AI. Neurodegenerative diseases and oxidative stress. Nat Rev Drug Discov. 2004;3:205-214
- 104. Tatton WG, Olanow CW. Apoptosis in neurodegenerative diseases: The role of mitochondria. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1999;1410:195-213
- Waggoner DJ, Bartnikas TB, Gitlin JD. The role of copper in neurodegenerative disease. *Neurobiol Dis.* 1999;6:221-230
- 106. Arciello M, Rotilio G, Rossi L. Copper-dependent toxicity in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells involves mitochondrial damage. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2005;327:454-459
- 107. Gu M, Cooper JM, Butler P, Walker AP, Mistry PK, Dooley JS, Schapira AH. Oxidativephosphorylation defects in liver of patients with Wilson's disease. *Lancet.* 2000;356:469-474
- 108. Brewer GJ. Anticopper therapy against cancer and diseases of inflammation and fibrosis. *Drug Discov Today.* 2005;10:1103-1109
- Bush AI. Metal complexing agents as therapies for Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging. 2002;23:1031-1038
- 110. Conrad ME, Umbreit JN, Moore EG. Iron absorption and transport. Am J Med Sci. 1999;318:213-229
- 111. Harris ED. The iron-copper connection: The link to ceruloplasmin grows stronger. *Nutr Rev.* 1995;53:170-173

- 112. Bolann BJ, Ulvik RJ. Stimulated decay of superoxide caused by ferritin-bound copper. FEBS Lett. 1993;328:263-267
- 113. Crichton RR, Charloteaux-Wauters M. Iron transport and storage. Eur J Biochem. 1987;164:485-506
- 114. Hellman NE, Gitlin JD. Ceruloplasmin metabolism and function. Annu Rev Nutr. 2002;22:439-458
- 115. Mukhopadhyay CK, Attieh ZK, Fox PL. Role of ceruloplasmin in cellular iron uptake. *Science*. 1998;279:714-717
- 116. Patel BN, Dunn RJ, Jeong SY, Zhu Q, Julien JP, David S. Ceruloplasmin regulates iron levels in the CNS and prevents free radical injury. *J Neurosci.* 2002;22:6578-6586
- 117. Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Oxygen free radicals and iron in relation to biology and medicine: Some problems and concepts. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 1986;246:501-514
- 118. Hutchins GM, Sheldon WH. The pH of inflammatory exudates in acidotic diabetic rabbits. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med.* 1972;140:623-627
- 119. Laurnen EL, Kelly PJ. Blood flow, oxygen consumption, carbon-dioxide production, and blood-calcium and pH changes in tibial fractures in dogs. J Bone Joint Surg Am. 1969;51:298-308
- 120. Brookes M, Richards DJ, Singh M. Vascular sequelae of experimental osteotomy. Angiology. 1970;21:355-367
- Pennig D. [The biology of bones and of bone fracture healing]. Unfallchirurg. 1990;93:488-491
- 122. Andersson SE, Lexmuller K, Johansson A, Ekstrom GM. Tissue and intracellular pH in normal periarticular soft tissue and during different phases of antigen induced arthritis in the rat. *J Rheumatol.* 1999;26:2018-2024
- 123. Mantyh PW, Clohisy DR, Koltzenburg M, Hunt SP. Molecular mechanisms of cancer pain. *Nat Rev Cancer*. 2002;2:201-209
- 124. Childs A, Jacobs C, Kaminski T, Halliwell B, Leeuwenburgh C. Supplementation with vitamin C and n-acetyl-cysteine increases oxidative stress in humans after an acute muscle injury induced by eccentric exercise. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2001;31:745-753
- 125. Biemond P, van Eijk HG, Swaak AJ, Koster JF. Iron mobilization from ferritin by superoxide derived from stimulated polymorphonuclear leukocytes. Possible mechanism in inflammation diseases. *J Clin Invest.* 1984;73:1576-1579
- 126. Arakawa N, Nemoto S, Suzuki E, Otsuka M. Role of hydrogen peroxide in the inhibitory effect of ascorbate on cell growth. *J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo)*. 1994;40:219-227

- 127. Park S, Han SS, Park CH, Hahm ER, Lee SJ, Park HK, Lee SH, Kim WS, Jung CW, Park K, Riordan HD, Kimler BF, Kim K, Lee JH. L-ascorbic acid induces apoptosis in acute myeloid leukemia cells via hydrogen peroxide-mediated mechanisms. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* 2004;36:2180-2195
- 128. Iwasaka K, Koyama N, Nogaki A, Maruyama S, Tamura A, Takano H, Takahama M, Kochi M, Satoh K, Sakagami H. Role of hydrogen peroxide in cytotoxicity induction by ascorbates and other redox compounds. *Anticancer Res.* 1998;18:4333-4337
- 129. Gechev TS, Hille J. Hydrogen peroxide as a signal controlling plant programmed cell death. J Cell Biol. 2005;168:17-20
- 130. Clement MV, Ponton A, Pervaiz S. Apoptosis induced by hydrogen peroxide is mediated by decreased superoxide anion concentration and reduction of intracellular milieu. *FEBS Lett.* 1998;440:13-18
- 131. Hampton MB, Orrenius S. Dual regulation of caspase activity by hydrogen peroxide: Implications for apoptosis. *FEBS Lett.* 1997;414:552-556
- 132. Gonzalez-Flecha B, Demple B. Homeostatic regulation of intracellular hydrogen peroxide concentration in aerobically growing Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol.* 1997;179:382-388
- 133. Fenton HJH. On a new reaction of tartaric acid. Chem News. 1876;33:190
- 134. Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Biologically relevant metal ion-dependent hydroxyl radical generation. An update. *FEBS Lett.* 1992;307:108-112
- Wardman P, Candeias LP. Fenton chemistry: An introduction. Radiat Res. 1996;145:523-531
- 136. Burkitt MJ, Gilbert BC. Model studies of the iron-catalysed Haber-Weiss cycle and the ascorbate-driven Fenton reaction. *Free Radic Res Commun.* 1990;10:265-280
- 137. Prabhu HR, Krishnamurthy S. Ascorbate-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals in the presence of iron chelates. *Indian J Biochem Biophys.* 1993;30:289-292
- 138. Lindqvist C, Nordstrom T. Generation of hydroxyl radicals by the antiviral compound phosphonoformic acid (foscarnet). *Pharmacol Toxicol*. 2001;89:49-55
- 139. Gutteridge JM. Superoxide-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals from ferriccomplexes and hydrogen peroxide: An evaluation of fourteen iron chelators. *Free Radic Res Commun.* 1990;9:119-125
- 140. Haber F, Weiss J. The catalytic decomposition of hydrogen peroxide by iron salts. *Proc Roy* Soc. 1934;A147:332-351
- Kehrer JP. The Haber-Weiss reaction and mechanisms of toxicity. *Toxicology*. 2000;149:43-50

- 142. Rosen GM, Rauckman EJ. Spin trapping of superoxide and hydroxyl radicals. *Methods Enzymol.* 1984;105:198-209
- 143. Halliwell B, Grootveld M, Gutteridge JM. Methods for the measurement of hydroxyl radicals in biomedical systems: Deoxyribose degradation and aromatic hydroxylation. *Methods Biochem Anal.* 1988;33:59-90
- 144. Richmond R, Halliwell B, Chauhan J, Darbre A. Superoxide-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals: Detection of hydroxyl radicals by the hydroxylation of aromatic compounds. *Anal. Biochem.* 1981;118:328-335
- 145. Singh S, Hider RC. Colorimetric detection of the hydroxyl radical: Comparison of the hydroxyl-radical-generating ability of various iron complexes. *Anal. Biochem.* 1988;171:47-54
- 146. Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM, Aruoma OI. The deoxyribose method: A simple "test-tube" assay for determination of rate constants for reactions of hydroxyl radicals. *Anal. Biochem.* 1987;165:215-219
- 147. Rowley DA, Halliwell B. Superoxide-dependent and ascorbate-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals in the presence of copper salts: A physiologically significant reaction? *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 1983;225:279-284
- 148. Hertzberg RP, Dervan PB. Cleavage of DNA with methidiumpropyl-EDTA-iron(II): Reaction conditions and product analyses. *Biochemistry*. 1984;23:3934-3945
- 149. Rollet-Labelle E, Grange MJ, Elbim C, Marquetty C, Gougerot-Pocidalo MA, Pasquier C. Hydroxyl radical as a potential intracellular mediator of polymorphonuclear neutrophil apoptosis. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1998;24:563-572
- 150. Ikeda K, Kajiwara K, Tanabe E, Tokumaru S, Kishida E, Masuzawa Y, Kojo S. Involvement of hydrogen peroxide and hydroxyl radical in chemically induced apoptosis of HL-60 cells. *Biochem Pharmacol.* 1999;57:1361-1365
- 151. Gutteridge JM, Wilkins S. Copper salt-dependent hydroxyl radical formation. Damage to proteins acting as antioxidants. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1983;759:38-41
- 152. Halliwell B, Clement MV, Long LH. Hydrogen peroxide in the human body. *FEBS Lett.* 2000;486:10-13
- 153. Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Role of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease: An overview. *Methods Enzymol.* 1990;186:1-85
- 154. World Health Organization (WHO), Geneva, 2004. Guidelines for drinking-water quality, third edition. 2004
- 155. The Council of the European Union. Council directive 98/83/ec on the quality of water intended for human consumption. *Official Journal of the European Communities*. 1998
- 156. Boulay N, Edwards M. Role of temperature, chlorine, and organic matter in copper corrosion by-product release in soft water. *Water Res.* 2001;35:683-690

- 157. Critchley MM, Cromar NJ, McClure NC, Fallowfield HJ. The influence of the chemical composition of drinking water on cuprosolvency by biofilm bacteria. J Appl Microbiol. 2003;94:501-507
- Merkel TH, Gross HJ, Werner W, Dahlke T, Reicherter S, Beuchle G, Eberle SH. Copper corrosion by-product release in long-term stagnation experiments. *Water Res.* 2002;36:1547-1555
- 159. Pennington JA, Schoen SA. Total diet study: Estimated dietary intakes of nutritional elements, 1982-1991. Int J Vitam Nutr Res. 1996;66:350-362
- Pennington JA. Intakes of minerals from diets and foods: Is there a need for concern? J Nutr. 1996;126:2304S-2308S
- 161. Oskarsson A, Norrgren L. Copper pipes as a source of copper exposure in man and environment. *Environ Rev/Dossiers environ*. 1998;6(3-4):139-150
- 162. Sharrett AR, Carter AP, Orheim RM, Feinleib M. Daily intake of lead, cadmium, copper, and zinc from drinking water: The Seattle study of trace metal exposure. *Environ Res.* 1982;28:456-475
- 163. Murphy EA. Effectiveness of flushing on reducing lead and copper levels in school drinking water. *Environ Health Perspect.* 1993;101:240-241
- 164. Milne DB. Assessment of copper nutritional status. Clin Chem. 1994;40:1479-1484
- 165. Turnlund JR, Keen CL, Smith RG. Copper status and urinary and salivary copper in young men at three levels of dietary copper. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1990;51:658-664
- Jones AA, DiSilvestro RA, Coleman M, Wagner TL. Copper supplementation of adult men: Effects on blood copper enzyme activities and indicators of cardiovascular disease risk. *Metabolism.* 1997;46:1380-1383
- 167. Kehoe CA, Turley E, Bonham MP, O'Connor JM, McKeown A, Faughnan MS, Coulter JS, Gilmore WS, Howard AN, Strain JJ. Response of putative indices of copper status to copper supplementation in human subjects. *Br J Nutr.* 2000;84:151-156
- 168. Pratt WB, Omdahl JL, Sorenson JR. Lack of effects of copper gluconate supplementation. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 1985;42:681-682
- 169. Medeiros DM, Milton A, Brunett E, Stacy L. Copper supplementation effects on indicators of copper status and serum cholesterol in adult males. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* 1991;30:19-35
- 170. Harvey LJ, Majsak-Newman G, Dainty JR, Lewis DJ, Langford NJ, Crews HM, Fairweather-Tait SJ. Adaptive responses in men fed low- and high-copper diets. *Br J Nutr.* 2003;90:161-168

- 171. Turnlund JR, Jacob RA, Keen CL, Strain JJ, Kelley DS, Domek JM, Keyes WR, Ensunsa JL, Lykkesfeldt J, Coulter J. Long-term high copper intake: Effects on indexes of copper status, antioxidant status, and immune function in young men. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2004;79:1037-1044
- 172. Pizarro F, Olivares M, Uauy R, Contreras P, Rebelo A, Gidi V. Acute gastrointestinal effects of graded levels of copper in drinking water. *Environ Health Perspect.* 1999;107:117-121
- 173. Knobeloch L, Ziarnik M, Howard J, Theis B, Farmer D, Anderson H, Proctor M. Gastrointestinal upsets associated with ingestion of copper-contaminated water. *Environ Health Perspect.* 1994;102:958-961
- 174. Pizarro F, Olivares M, Araya M, Gidi V, Uauy R. Gastrointestinal effects associated with soluble and insoluble copper in drinking water. *Environ Health Perspect.* 2001;109:949-952
- 175. Eife R, Weiss M, Barros V, Sigmund B, Goriup U, Komb D, Wolf W, Kittel J, Schramel P, Reiter K. Chronic poisoning by copper in tap water: I. Copper intoxications with predominantly gastrointestinal symptoms. *Eur J Med Res.* 1999;4:219-223
- 176. Manevich Y, Held KD, Biaglow JE. Coumarin-3-carboxylic acid as a detector for hydroxyl radicals generated chemically and by gamma radiation. *Radiat Res.* 1997;148:580-591
- 177. Biaglow JE, Kachur AV. The generation of hydroxyl radicals in the reaction of molecular oxygen with polyphosphate complexes of ferrous ion. *Radiat Res.* 1997;148:181-187
- 178. Nourooz-Zadeh J, Tajaddini-Sarmadi J, Wolff SP. Measurement of plasma hydroperoxide concentrations by the ferrous oxidation-xylenol orange assay in conjunction with triphenylphosphine. *Anal Biochem.* 1994;220:403-409
- 179. Boyer RF, Grabill TW, Petrovich RM. Reductive release of ferritin iron: A kinetic assay. Anal Biochem. 1988;174:17-22
- 180. Ihara H, Shino Y, Aoki Y, Hashizume N, Minegishi N. A simple and rapid method for the routine assay of total ascorbic acid in serum and plasma using ascorbate oxidase and o-phenylenediamine. *J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo).* 2000;46:321-324
- 181. Lee W, Roberts SM, Labbe RF. Ascorbic acid determination with an automated enzymatic procedure. *Clin Chem.* 1997;43:154-157
- 182. Margolis SA, Paule RC, Ziegler RG. Ascorbic and dehydroascorbic acids measured in plasma preserved with dithiothreitol or metaphosphoric acid. *Clin Chem.* 1990;36:1750-1755
- Odum L. pH optimum of the reduction of dehydroascorbic acid by dithioerytritol. Scand J Clin Lab Invest. 1993;53:367-371
- 184. Okamura M. An improved method for determination of L-ascorbic acid and Ldehydroascorbic acid in blood plasma. *Clin Chim Acta*. 1980;103:259-268

- 185. Liao CH, Kang SF, Wu FA. Hydroxyl radical scavenging role of chloride and bicarbonate ions in the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>/UV process. *Chemosphere*. 2001;44:1193-1200
- 186. Schorah CJ, Sobala GM, Sanderson M, Collis N, Primrose JN. Gastric juice ascorbic acid: Effects of disease and implications for gastric carcinogenesis. Am J Clin Nutr. 1991;53:287S-293S
- 187. Schorah CJ. Ascorbic acid metabolism and cancer in the human stomach. *Acta Gastroenterol* Belg. 1997;60:217-219
- 188. Correa P. The role of antioxidants in gastric carcinogenesis. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr. 1995;35:59-64
- 189. Drake IM, Davies MJ, Mapstone NP, Dixon MF, Schorah CJ, White KL, Chalmers DM, Axon AT. Ascorbic acid may protect against human gastric cancer by scavenging mucosal oxygen radicals. *Carcinogenesis*. 1996;17:559-562
- 190. Das D, Bandyopadhyay D, Banerjee RK. Oxidative inactivation of gastric peroxidase by site-specific generation of hydroxyl radical and its role in stress-induced gastric ulceration. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1998;24:460-469
- 191. Pryor WA. Cancer and free radicals. Basic Life Sci. 1986;39:45-59
- 192. Halliwell B. Oxygen and nitrogen are pro-carcinogens. Damage to DNA by reactive oxygen, chlorine and nitrogen species: Measurement, mechanism and the effects of nutrition. *Mutat Res.* 1999;443:37-52
- 193. Kadiiska MB, Hanna PM, Hernandez L, Mason RP. *In vivo* evidence of hydroxyl radical formation after acute copper and ascorbic acid intake: Electron spin resonance spin-trapping investigation. *Mol Pharmacol.* 1992;42:723-729
- 194. Nalini S, Ramakrishna BS, Mohanty A, Balasubramanian KA. Hydroxyl radical formation in human gastric juice. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol*. 1992;7:497-501
- 195. Fukushima S, Imaida K, Shibata MA, Tamano S, Kurata Y, Shirai T. L-ascorbic acid amplification of second-stage bladder carcinogenesis promotion by NaHCO<sub>3</sub>. *Cancer Res.* 1988;48:6317-6320
- 196. Iwata H, Yamamoto S, Yano Y, Ohtani S, Fukushima S. Dose-dependent amplification by L-ascorbic acid of NaHCO<sub>3</sub> promotion of rat urinary bladder carcinogenesis. *Toxicol Pathol.* 1997;25:284-290
- 197. Fukushima S, Kurata Y, Hasegawa R, Asamoto M, Shibata MA, Tamano S. L-ascorbic acid amplification of bladder carcinogenesis promotion by K<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub>. *Cancer Res.* 1991;51:2548-2551
- 198. Lina BA, Hollanders VM, Kuijpers MH. The role of alkalizing and neutral potassium salts in urinary bladder carcinogenesis in rats. *Carcinogenesis*. 1994;15:523-527

- 199. Lina BA, van Garderen-Hoetmer A. Effect of urinary pH on the progression of urinary bladder tumours. *Food Chem Toxicol.* 1999;37:1159-1166
- 200. Fukushima S, Shibata MA, Shirai T, Tamano S, Ito N. Roles of urinary sodium ion concentration and pH in promotion by ascorbic acid of urinary bladder carcinogenesis in rats. *Cancer Res.* 1986;46:1623-1626
- 201. Cohen SM, Anderson TA, de Oliveira LM, Arnold LL. Tumorigenicity of sodium ascorbate in male rats. *Cancer Res.* 1998;58:2557-2561
- 202. Gardner LK, Lawrence GD. Benzene production from decarboxylation of benzoic acid in the presence of ascorbic acid and a transition metal catalyst. J Agric Food Chem. 1993;40:693-695
- 203. Halliwell B, Clement MV, Ramalingam J, Long LH. Hydrogen peroxide. Ubiquitous in cell culture and *in vivo? IUBMB Life*. 2000;50:251-257
- 204. Clement MV, Ramalingam J, Long LH, Halliwell B. The *in vitro* cytotoxicity of ascorbate depends on the culture medium used to perform the assay and involves hydrogen peroxide. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* 2001;3:157-163
- 205. Son SM, Moon KD, Lee CY. Kinetic study of oxalic acid inhibition on enzymatic browning. J Agric Food Chem. 2000;48:2071-2074
- 206. Kayashima T, Katayama T. Oxalic acid is available as a natural antioxidant in some systems. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2002;1573:1-3
- 207. White AR, Barnham KJ, Huang X, Voltakis I, Beyreuther K, Masters CL, Cherny RA, Bush AI, Cappai R. Iron inhibits neurotoxicity induced by trace copper and biological reductants. J Biol Inorg Chem. 2004;9:269-280
- 208. Munday R, Munday CM, Winterbourn CC. Inhibition of copper-catalyzed cysteine oxidation by nanomolar concentrations of iron salts. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 2004;36:757-764
- 209. Menditto A, Pietraforte D, Minetti M. Ascorbic acid in human seminal plasma is protected from iron-mediated oxidation, but is potentially exposed to copper-induced damage. *Hum Reprod.* 1997;12:1699-1705
- 210. Kachur AV, Manevich Y, Biaglow JE. Effect of purine nucleoside phosphates on OHradical generation by reaction of Fe<sup>2+</sup> with oxygen. *Free Radic Res.* 1997;26:399-408
- 211. Kachur AV, Tuttle SW, Biaglow JE. Autoxidation of ferrous ion complexes: A method for the generation of hydroxyl radicals. *Radiat Res.* 1998;150:475-482
- 212. Bray WC, Gorin MH. Ferryl ion, a compound of tetravalent iron. Am Chem Soc. 1932;54 2124-2125:2124-2125
- Orr CW. Studies on ascorbic acid. I. Factors influencing the ascorbate-mediated inhibition of catalase. *Biochemistry*. 1967;6:2995-3000

- 214. Orr CW. Studies on ascorbic acid. II. Physical changes in catalase following incubation with ascorbate or ascorbate and copper (II). *Biochemistry*. 1967;6:3000-3006
- 215. Hyslop PA, Hinshaw DB, Scraufstatter IU, Cochrane CG, Kunz S, Vosbeck K. Hydrogen peroxide as a potent bacteriostatic antibiotic: Implications for host defense. *Free Radic Biol Med.* 1995;19:31-37
- 216. Feiz HR, Mobarhan S. Does vitamin C intake slow the progression of gastric cancer in Helicobacter pylori-infected populations? *Nutr Rev.* 2002;60:34-36
- 217. Varma SD, Devamanoharan PS. Excretion of hydrogen peroxide in human urine. Free Radic Res Commun. 1990;8:73-78
- 218. Long LAHR, Evans PJ, Halliwell B. Hydrogen peroxide in human urine: Implications for antioxidant defense and redox regulation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1999;262:605-609
- 219. Hiramoto K, Kida T, Kikugawa K. Increased urinary hydrogen peroxide levels caused by coffee drinking. *Biol Pharm Bull.* 2002;25:1467-1471
- 220. Zhou X, Yang G, Davis CA, Doi SQ, Hirszel P, Wingo CS, Agarwal A. Hydrogen peroxide mediates FK506-induced cytotoxicity in renal cells. *Kidney Int.* 2004;65:139-147
- 221. Strange RC, Hiley C, Roberts C, Jones PW, Bell J, Hume R. Studies on copper-zinc superoxide dismutase expression in developing human liver and kidney. *Free Radic Res Commun.* 1989;7:105-112
- 222. Nath KA, Croatt AJ, Haggard JJ, Grande JP. Renal response to repetitive exposure to heme proteins: Chronic injury induced by an acute insult. *Kidney Int.* 2000;57:2423-2433
- 223. Kuge N, Kohzuki M, Sato T. Relation between natriuresis and urinary excretion of hydrogen peroxide. *Free Radic Res.* 1999;30:119-123
- 224. Banerjee D, Madhusoodanan UK, Nayak S, Jacob J. Urinary hydrogen peroxide: A probable marker of oxidative stress in malignancy. *Clin Chim Acta*. 2003;334:205-209
- 225. Allwood MC. Factors influencing the stability of ascorbic acid in total parenteral nutrition infusions. *J Clin Hosp Pharm.* 1984;9:75-85
- 226. Parsonnet J, Friedman GD, Vandersteen DP, Chang Y, Vogelman JH, Orentreich N, Sibley RK. Helicobacter pylori infection and the risk of gastric carcinoma. N Engl J Med. 1991;325:1127-1131
- 227. Nomura A, Stemmermann GN, Chyou PH, Kato I, Perez-Perez GI, Blaser MJ. Helicobacter pylori infection and gastric carcinoma among Japanese Americans in Hawaii. *N Engl J Med.* 1991;325:1132-1136
- 228. The EUROGAST Study Group. Epidemiology of, and risk factors for, Helicobacter pylori infection among 3194 asymptomatic subjects in 17 populations. The eurogast study group. *Gut.* 1993;34:1672-1676

- 229. Zhang ZW, Farthing MJ. The roles of vitamin C in Helicobacter pylori associated gastric carcinogenesis. *Chin J Dig Dis.* 2005;6:53-58
- Rood JC, Ruiz B, Fontham ET, Malcom GT, Hunter FM, Sobhan M, Johnson WD, Correa P. Helicobacter pylori-associated gastritis and the ascorbic acid concentration in gastric juice. *Nutr Cancer.* 1994;22:65-72
- 231. Sobala GM, Schorah CJ, Sanderson M, Dixon MF, Tompkins DS, Godwin P, Axon AT. Ascorbic acid in the human stomach. *Gastroenterology*. 1989;97:357-363
- 232. Koshiishi I, Mamura Y, Imanari T. Bicarbonate promotes a cleavage of lactone ring of dehydroascorbate. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1998;1379:257-263
- 233. Jung CH, Wells WW. Spontaneous conversion of L-dehydroascorbic acid to L-ascorbic acid and L-erythroascorbic acid. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 1998;355:9-14
- 234. Rumsey SC, Kwon O, Xu GW, Burant CF, Simpson I, Levine M. Glucose transporter isoforms GLUT1 and GLUT3 transport dehydroascorbic acid. J Biol Chem. 1997;272:18982-18989
- 235. Fiorani M, De Sanctis R, Scarlatti F, Stocchi V. Substrates of hexokinase, glucose-6phosphate dehydrogenase, and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase prevent the inhibitory response induced by ascorbic acid/iron and dehydroascorbic acid in rabbit erythrocytes. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 1998;356:159-166
- 236. May JM, Qu Z, Morrow JD. Mechanisms of ascorbic acid recycling in human erythrocytes. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2001;1528:159-166
- Siushansian R, Tao L, Dixon SJ, Wilson JX. Cerebral astrocytes transport ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid through distinct mechanisms regulated by cyclic AMP. J Neurochem. 1997;68:2378-2385
- 238. Brown S, Georgatos M, Reifel C, Song JH, Shin SH, Hong M. Recycling processes of cellular ascorbate generate oxidative stress in pancreatic tissues in *in vitro* system. *Endocrine*. 2002;18:91-96
- 239. Song JH, Shin SH, Ross GM. Oxidative stress induced by ascorbate causes neuronal damage in an *in vitro* system. *Brain Res.* 2001;895:66-72
- Isbell HS, Frush HL. Oxidation of L-ascorbic acid by hydrogen peroxide: Preparation of Lthreonic acid. *Carbohyr Res.* 1979
- 241. Curhan GC, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Stampfer MJ. A prospective study of the intake of vitamins C and B6, and the risk of kidney stones in men. *J Urol.* 1996;155:1847-1851
- 242. Hackett RL, Shevock PN, Khan SR. Madin-darby canine kidney cells are injured by exposure to oxalate and to calcium oxalate crystals. Urol Res. 1994;22:197-203

- 243. Miller C, Kennington L, Cooney R, Kohjimoto Y, Cao LC, Honeyman T, Pullman J, Jonassen J, Scheid C. Oxalate toxicity in renal epithelial cells: Characteristics of apoptosis and necrosis. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol.* 2000;162:132-141
- 244. Hoffer A. Ascorbic acid and kidney stones. Can Med Assoc J. 1985;132:320
**ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS** 

### Measurement of Ascorbic Acid (Vitamin C) Induced Hydroxyl Radical Generation in Household Drinking Water

KLARA U.M. ASPLUND<sup>a</sup>, PATRIC J. JANSSON<sup>a</sup>, CHRISTER LINDQVIST<sup>b</sup> and TOMMY NORDSTRÖM<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, P.O. Box. 66, 20521 Turku, Finland; <sup>b</sup>Department of Biology, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, P.O. Box. 66, 20521 Turku, Finland

Accepted by Professor B. Halliwell

(Received 5 August 2002; In revised form 28 August 2002)

Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) induced hydroxyl radical formation was measured in household drinking water samples using the hydroxyl radical sensitive probe coumarin-3-carboxylic acid. Vitamin C, a reducing agent that is commonly used as a food additive, triggered a significant hydroxyl radical generating reaction when added to the tap-water samples tested. The capacity of ascorbic acid to trigger hydroxyl radical formation in the tap-water samples was dependent on the flushing time before the samples were taken indicating that the water in the copper piping had been contaminated by copper ions. In line with this, high concentrations of copper were measured in the hydroxyl radical generating firstdraw samples. Moreover, a strong correlation was found between the hydroxyl radical generation capacity seen in the coumarin-3-carboxylic acid based microplate assay and the DNA damage seen in an agarose gel assay using the pBluescript plasmid. In the water samples showing high capacity to hydroxylate cou-marin-3-carboxylic acid, a rapid formation of the open circular form of the plasmid could also be seen indicating a copper assisted hydroxyl radical attack on the DNA. In conclusion, our results show that addition of vitamin C to household tap water that is contaminated with copper ions, results in Fenton type reactions that continuously generate harmful and reactive hydroxyl radicals.

Keywords: Hydroxyl radical; Water; Coumarin-3-carboxylic acid; Vitamin C; Copper

Abbreviations: OH<sup>•</sup>, hydroxyl radical; EDTA, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid; NTA, nitrilotriacetic acid; TRIS, tris(hydroxymethyl)aminomethane; 3-CCA, coumarin-3-carboxylic acid; H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, hydrogen peroxide; 7-OHCCA, 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid; TAE, tris-acetate-EDTA

#### INTRODUCTION

Hydroxyl radicals (OH<sup>•</sup>) are molecules that have one unpaired electron and are therefore very reactive and easily attack any nearby molecule by taking or giving one electron. In the laboratory, hydroxyl radicals can be easily generated by UV-induced homolytic fission of hydrogen peroxide or by metal-catalyzed (copper or iron) reduction of oxygen to superoxide that reacts with hydrogen peroxide (Haber-Weiss reaction:  $H_2O_2 + O_2^{\bullet-} \rightarrow O_2 + OH^{\bullet} + OH^{-})$ .<sup>[1]</sup> Moreover, hydroxyl radicals can directly be generated from hydrogen peroxide by the Fenton reaction:  $Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^- + OH^{\bullet}$ .<sup>[2,3]</sup> This reaction can be highly catalyzed if certain metal chelators such as EDTA, NTA and a reducing substance such as ascorbic acid (vitamin C) are present.[4] Thus, hydroxyl radicals can be generated in a system where oxygen, copper or iron and a reducing agent such as vitamin C are present.<sup>[5]</sup> The formation of hydroxyl radicals has been studied by using the spin trap technique,<sup>[6]</sup> aromatic hydroxylation of target molecules<sup>[7–9]</sup> and by studying radical attack on target molecules such as DNA<sup>[10]</sup> and deoxyribose.[11]

Tap water might be contaminated to various degrees by copper ions due to corrosion in the pipes. On the basis of this, and the fact that vitamin C is today added in high concentrations to a variety of food sources and drinks, we decided to study

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author. Tel. +358-2-2154004. Fax: +358-2-2154745. E-mail: tomnords@abo.fi

ISSN 1071-5762 print/ISSN 1029-2470 online © 2002 Taylor & Francis Ltd DOI: 10.1080/1071576021000036425

whether vitamin C can trigger hydroxyl radical generation in tap-water samples. In particular, we wanted to study hydroxyl radical reactions that might take place in tap-water samples originating from plumbing systems that had not been used for a few days "unflushed" drinking water. By using coumarin-3-carboxylic acid as hydroxyl radical indicator we demonstrate that there exists a large variability in vitamin C-induced hydroxyl radical generation in household tap waters originating from different municipal water systems.

#### MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### Chemicals

Coumarin-3-carboxylic acid and 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid (7-OHCCA) were from Fluka, Switzerland. Coumarin-3-carboxylic acid was dissolved in Milli-Q water (18 MΩ cm), and pH adjusted to 8.0 with NaOH. Ascorbic acid and cuprous chloride were purchased from RiedeldeHaen, Germany. All other reagents were from Sigma, St. Louis, USA. pBluescript was purchased from Stratagene (La Jolla, CA). SeaKem, LE Agarose was from FMC Bioproducts. Stock solutions of the chemicals used were prepared in Milli-Q water  $(18 M\Omega \text{ cm})$  and protected from light. Samples of tap water were collected in sterile 15 ml polypropylene test tubes (Greiner) and stored at 4°C in the dark until used. All stock solutions of the reagents used in the assay were prepared fresh daily.

#### Measurement of Vitamin C-induced Hydroxyl Radical Formation in Drinking Water

Hydroxyl radical formation was measured by using coumarin-3-carboxylic acid as detector molecule.<sup>[12,13]</sup> When this compound is hydroxylated to 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid, a fluorescent product is formed that can easily be measured with a fluorescence spectrophotometer. The fluorescence of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid is highly pH dependent showing maximum fluorescence intensity at pH 9.0.<sup>[12]</sup>

For the assay,  $200 \,\mu$ l of the water samples were pipetted in triplicate onto a microplate. After this,  $200 \,\mu$ M coumarin-3-carboxylic acid was added to all wells by using a 8 channel multiwell pipette followed by 2 mM vitamin C that started the reaction. The microplate was then incubated at room temperature in dark for various time periods and the reaction was then stopped by pipetting  $10 \,\text{mM}$  TRIS base (pH 9.0) to all wells. Addition of TRIS, a hydroxyl radical scavenger, stopped the reaction and adjusted the pH in the samples to 9.0. The fluorescence was measured with a spectrofluorometer capable of reading the fluorescence from microplates. (Fluoroscan II, Labsystems, Finland). The optical filter set used was excitation 380 nm and emission 460 nm. The fluorescence values were converted into 7-OHCCA formed (nM) from a standard curve where a serial dilution of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid standard in 10 mM TRIS (pH 9.0) was used. All measurements were done at room temperature.

#### Measurement of Hydroxyl Radical Formation in Household Drinking Water by using Plasmid DNA

The reactions were carried out in a total volume of 10 µl containing 0.3 ug pBluescript DNA in milli-Q water. After addition of 0.5 mM vitamin C the samples were incubated for 45 min at room temperature and the reaction was stopped by addition of 4 µl sample buffer (50 % glycerol, 0.15% bromphenol blue in TAE buffer). The samples were loaded on to a 1% agarose gel in TRIS-acetate-EDTA buffer (40 mM TRIS base, 1 mM EDTA, adjusted to pH 7.6 with acetate) and the supercoiled (form I) and nicked circular (form II) DNAs were separated at 70 V for 45 min. The gel was then stained with ethidium bromide (10 ug/ml) for 45 min. After washing, the gel was photographed with an AlphaDigiDog gel documentation and image analysis system, Alpha Innotech Corporation, CA.

#### Measurement of Copper by using Diethyldithiocarbamic Acid

The presence of trace amounts of copper in the water samples was measured using the copper specific reagent diethyldithiocarbamic acid. For the assay, 200  $\mu$ l aliquots in triplicate of the water samples were pipetted onto a microwell plate followed by 300  $\mu$ M of diethyldithiocarbamic acid. The yellow Cu<sup>2+</sup>-diethyldithiocarbamic complex was measured at 450 nm with a Victor plate reader, Wallac, Finland. The absorbance values were converted to concentration by comparison with a standard curve, generated by adding known amounts of copper chloride to 300  $\mu$ M diethyldithiocarbamic acid in milli-Q water.

#### RESULTS

#### Time Course of Vitamin C-induced Hydroxyl Radical Formation in Drinking Water

To measure whether hydroxyl radical formation can be generated in household drinking water we initially tested two water samples obtained from two different municipal water supplies and compared



FIGURE 1 The kinetics hydroxyl radical formation in tap-water samples. At time zero,  $200 \,\mu$ M coumarin-3-carboxylic acid followed by 2 mM vitamin C were added to water sample A ( $\bullet$ ), B ( $\blacksquare$ ) or to milli-Q water ( $\blacktriangle$ ). After 1, 2 or 3 h incubation at room temperature, the reaction was stopped by addition of 10 mM TRIS base. The fluorescence was measured and the fluorescence values were converted into 7-OHCCA formed (nM) from the standard curve. Data points are mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicates from one representative experiment out of three conducted. Where absent, bars were smaller than the symbol.

these with milli-Q water. As shown in Fig. 1, addition of 2 mM vitamin C triggered a remarkable time dependent increase in the formation of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid in one of the water samples tested (951.3  $\pm$  20.9 nM in 3 h). In the other sample tested, the generation of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid was much weaker (419.7  $\pm$  22.0 nM formed in 3 h). In control sample, milli-Q water, no formation of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid with time could be seen. Similarly, omission of vitamin C from the assay resulted in no formation of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid (data not shown).

#### Measurement of Vitamin C-induced Hydroxyl Radical Formation in Tap-water Samples Obtained from Various Municipal Water Systems

Having done the time course study, we decided to measure hydroxyl radical formation in a large number of tap-water samples and to standardize the total incubation time in our experiments to 3 h. As shown in Fig. 2 (upper panel), a large variability in vitamin C-induced formation of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid could be seen among the water samples initially tested. These samples had been taken directly from the tap without flushing the water system. In some samples, close to 900 nM 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid was formed while there was hardly any hydroxylation process going on in some of the other water samples tested. The highest value obtained in our assay was  $916.7 \pm$ 8.1 nM7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid formed



FIGURE 2 Vitamin C-induced hydroxyl radical formation in various tap-water samples. Upper panel: 200 µM coumarin-3 carboxylic acid was added to various tap-water samples followed by 0.5 mM of vitamin C. After 3h incubation at room temperature, the reaction was stopped by addition of 10 mM TRIS base. The fluorescence was measured and the fluorescence values were converted into 7-OHCCA formed (nM) from the standard curve. The bars show the amount of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid formed during the 3h incubation and represent means  $\pm$  SD of triplicates. Data are representative of three similar experiments. Lower panel: agarose gel electrophoresis of pBluescript DNA exposed to vitamin C in various tap-water samples. pBluescript DNA was dissolved in tap-water samples and treated for 45 min with 0.5 mM vitamin C at room temperature. The bands seen on the agarose gel are (I) supercoiled DNA and (II) open circular form DNA. The tap-water samples used in the DNA nicking assay are the same ones as used in the microplate assay. One typical gel out of four conducted is shown.

as compared to  $18.1 \pm 0.4$  nM found in a water sample that gave the lowest signal (Table I). In general, we found that the 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid formed in tap water originating from private wells were much lower than that formed in tap water originating from public water systems (Table II). The lowest values were found in commercially sold domestic bottled water (Table II). Only one of the commercially sold bottled water samples gave a signal 142.7  $\pm$  4.5 nM comparable with the signals obtained from tap water originating from private groundwater wells.

The hydroxyl radical formation could also be demonstrated in the water samples by using a DNA nicking assay. As shown in Fig. 2 (lower panel) addition of 0.5 mM vitamin C to pBluescript DNA dissolved in milli-Q water showed a major band corresponding to the superhelical form I DNA (lane 9). However, addition of vitamin C to the water samples containing plasmid DNA resulted in

TABLE I Vitamin C-induced hydroxyl radical generation in household tap-water samples originating from various public water systems

Sample No.	Production of 7-OHCCA (nM
1	$888.8 \pm 24.8$
2	$916.7 \pm 8.1$
3	$375.0 \pm 28.7$
4	$275.0 \pm 23.2$
5	$782.7 \pm 1.9$
6	$430.8 \pm 5.8$
7	$112.5 \pm 0.3$
8	$18.1 \pm 0.4$
9	$44.4 \pm 22.6$
10	$786.0 \pm 32.6$
11	$834.6 \pm 24.8$
12	$857.5 \pm 1.4$
13	$501.8 \pm 32.6$
14	$911.7 \pm 1.5$
15	$230.9 \pm 24.3$
16	$640.8 \pm 29.8$
17	$224.2 \pm 1.0$
18	$289.0 \pm 16.5$
19	$214.1 \pm 2.5$
20	$590.0 \pm 65.0$
21	$891.6 \pm 49.4$
22	$85.3 \pm 1.0$

The reaction was started by addition of 200  $\mu$ M coumarin-3-carboxylic acid followed by 2 mM vitamin C. The values shown are the concentration of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid formed after 3h incubation at room temperature and represent the means  $\pm$  S.D. The results shown are triplicates from one representative experiment out of three conducted.

the appearance of an upper band corresponding to the nicked circular form II of the plasmid. The water samples used in the plasmid agarose gel assay (numbered 1–9) are identical to those used in our coumarin-3-carboxylic acid assay shown in Fig. 2, upper panel. A marked conversion of the closed circular form (form I) to the nicked circular (form II) could be detected in samples 1, 2 and 5 that also gave the highest formation of hydroxylated coumarin-3carboxylic acid in our microplate assay.

The hydroxyl radical formation in the tap-water samples was strongly dependent on the flushing time before the samples were taken. In Fig. 3, the vitamin C-induced hydroxylation of coumarin-3-carboxylic acid in two different water samples taken either immediately or after 1, 3 or 5 min flushing is shown. As can be seen in the figure, in sample A the formation of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid within 3 h was remarkably decreased when the faucet was flushed for 5 min (from 709.5  $\pm$  9.8 to 67.8  $\pm$  19.2 nM). On the other hand, flushing did not decrease the formation of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3carboxylic acid to the same extent in sample B originating from a different public water system (from 762.0  $\pm$  38.2 to 482.7  $\pm$  49.9 nM).

#### DISCUSSION

In many countries, the tap water is considered to be of good quality (taste and chemical composition) and the majority of the population use tap water instead of bottled water as their drinking water. However, the tap water reaching the homes through the pipes might be contaminated with minerals such as copper, iron, lead, chromium or arsenic. The degree of contamination is highly dependent on how corrosive the water is, the material used in the pipes and fittings and the time the water is sitting in the pipes before use.<sup>[14]</sup>

In view of the fact that drinking water can be contaminated with copper, we decided to study whether hydroxyl radical formation can be measured in tap-water samples. To initiate the hydroxyl radical generation reaction we used vitamin C, a commonly used dietary supplement, that easily can redox-cycle transition metals such as iron and copper. Vitamin C is known to be a good antioxidant but during certain circumstances, in the presence of copper or iron, vitamin C can in fact act as a strong pro-oxidant.<sup>[15,16]</sup> The concentration of vitamin C found to give the highest amount of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid in the water samples was 2 mM. Higher concentrations of vitamin C inhibited the signal (data not shown).

	Production of 7-O	HCCA (nM)
Sample No.	Tap water originating from various private groundwater wells	Commercially sold domestic bottled water
1	$43.8 \pm 22.6$	$4.3 \pm 0.4$
2	$28.7 \pm 0.5$	$142.7 \pm 4.5$
3	$60.5 \pm 22.1$	0
4	$119.2 \pm 10.9$	$8.7 \pm 0.5$
5	$80.1 \pm 5.8$	$10.8 \pm 0.4$
6	$105.3 \pm 1.4$	0
7	$43.3 \pm 0.8$	0
8	$224.2 \pm 1.4$	

TABLE II Vitamin C-induced hydroxyl radical generation in drinking water

The reaction was started by addition of  $200 \,\mu$ M coumarin-3-carboxylic acid followed by 2 mM vitamin C. The values shown are the concentration of 7-hydroxy-coumarin-3-carboxylic acid formed after 3 h incubation at room temperature and represent the means  $\pm$  S.D. The results shown are triplicates from one representative experiment out of three conducted.



FIGURE 3 Vitamin C-induced hydroxyl radical formation in tapwater samples is dependent on flushing time.  $200 \,\mu$ M coumarin-3carboxylic acid and 2mM vitamin C was added to tap-water samples taken either immediately or after 1, 3 or 5min flushing. After 3h incubation at room temperature, the reaction was stopped by addition of 10 mM TRIS base. The fluorescence was measured and the fluorescence values were converted into 7-OHCCA formed (nM) from the standard curve. The bars show the amount of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid formed during the 3h incubation in two different samples originating from different municipal water systems. The bars shown represent means  $\pm$  SD of triplicates. Data are representative of three similar experiments.

Our results clearly show that addition of vitamin C to the drinking water samples triggered a hydroxyl radical generating reaction that easily could be measured with coumarin-3-carboxylic acid as detector molecule. The potency of the hydroxyl radicals formed in the same tap water-samples could also be demonstrated with a DNA nicking assay. Hydroxyl radicals are known to easily damage naked DNA, both single stranded<sup>[17]</sup> and double stranded DNA<sup>[18,19]</sup> by inducing cleavage of the phosphodiester bonds. Thus, in the presence of a hydroxyl radical generating system, a plasmid DNA can easily be attacked resulting in opening and fragmentation of the DNA plasmid. A close correlation was found between our results obtained in our microplate assay using coumarin-3-carboxylic acid and the plasmid DNA assay verifying that hydroxyl radicals are formed in these water samples after vitamin C addition.

Our results indicated that there was a large variability in hydroxyl radical formation in the water samples originating from various municipal water supplies. In general, hydroxyl radical formation was most evident in household tap-water samples as compared to the hydroxyl radical formation in tap water originating from private wells or commercially sold bottled spring water. Moreover, we found that the hydroxyl radical formation in some of the tap-water samples was strongly dependent on the flushing time before the samples were taken. One explanation for this is probably that the first draw sample can be contaminated with copper from the pipes within the apartment (building).[20,21] In line with this assumption, we found measurable amounts of copper (1.04, 0.71 and 0.42 mg/l in the samples 1, 2 and 5 used in Fig. 2. Furthermore, in the sample A, shown in Fig. 6, the copper concentration in the tap-water sample decrease from 1.85 mg/l measured in the first draw to  $0.07 \,\mathrm{mg/l}$  by flushing the faucet for 5 min. This might explain the decrease in hydroxyl radical formation seen in this sample. In sample B in the same figure, the copper concentration decreased from 1.24 to 0.18 mg/l. However, fairly high formation of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid could still be seen in the 5 min sample. This indicates that relative low concentrations of copper can assist the radical generating process or that other ions (cations or anions) than copper might be involved in the hydroxyl radical generating process in this sample.

In conclusion, we demonstrate that hydroxyl radical formation can occur in drinking water if vitamin C is added. The impact of long-term consumption of hydroxyl radical generating drinking water on human health, e.g. the incidence of ulcer or stomach cancer, remains to be studied.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Oskar Öflund stiftelse, Ella och Georg Ehrnrooths stiftelse, Medicinska understödsföreningen Liv och Hälsa and Magnus Ehrnrooths stiftelse.

#### References

- Haber, F. and Weiss, J. (1934) "The catalytic decomposition of hydrogen peroxide by iron salts", Proc. R. Soc. A147, 332–351.
- [2] Fenton, H.J.H. (1876) "On a new reaction of tartaric acid", Chem. News 33, 190.
- [3] Halliwell, B. and Gutteridge, J.M. (1992) "Biologically relevant metal ion dependent hydroxyl radical generation. An update", FEBS Lett. 307, 108–112.
- [4] Halliwell, B. and Gutteridge, J.M. (1986) "Oxygen free radicals and iron in relation to biology and medicine: some problems and concepts", Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 246, 501-514.
- [5] Rowley, D.A. and Halliwell, B. (1983) "Superoxide-dependent and ascorbate-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals in the presence of copper salts: a physiologically significant reaction?", Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 225, 279–284.
- [6] Rosen, G.M. and Rauckman, E.J. (1984) "Spin trapping of superoxide and hydroxyl radicals", *Methods Enzymol.* 105, 198-209.
- [7] Halliwell, B., Grootveld, M. and Gutteridge, J.M. (1988) "Methods for the measurement of hydroxyl radicals in biomedical systems: deoxyribose degradation and aromatic hydroxylation", *Methods Biochem. Anal.* 33, 59–90. Review.
- [8] Richmond, R., Halliwell, B., Chauhan, J. and Darbre, A. (1981) "Superoxide-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals: detection of hydroxyl radicals by the hydroxylation of aromatic compounds", *Anal. Biochem.* 118, 328-335.

- [9] Singh, S. and Hider, R.C. (1988) "Colorimetric detection of the hydroxyl radical: comparison of the hydroxyl-radicalgenerating ability of various iron complexes", Anal. Biochem. 171, 47-54.
- [10] Schneider, J.E., Browning, M.M. and Floyd, R.A. (1988) "Ascorbate/iron mediation of hydroxyl free radical damage to PBR322 plasmid DNA", Free Radic. Biol. Med. 5, 287–295.
- [11] Halliwell, B., Gutteridge, J.M. and Aruoma, O.I. (1987) "The deoxyribose method: a simple "test-tube" assay for determination of rate constants for reactions of hydroxyl radicals", Anal. Biochem. 165, 215-219.
- [12] Manevich, Y., Held, K.D. and Biaglow, J.E. (1997) "Coumarin-3-carboxylic acid as a detector for hydroxyl radicals generated chemically and by gamma radiation", Radiat. Res. **148**, 580–591.
- [13] Biaglow, J.E. and Kachur, A.V. (1997) "The generation of hydroxyl radicals in the reaction of molecular oxygen with polyphosphate complexes of ferrous ion", Radiat. Res. 148, 181-187.
- [14] Murphy, E.A. (1993) "Effectiveness of flushing on reducing lead and copper levels in school drinking water", Environ. Health Perspect. 101, 240–241. [15] Halliwell, B. (1996) "Vitamin C: antioxidant or pro-oxidant
- in vivo?", Free Radic. Res. 25, 439-454.

- [16] Buettner, G.R. and Jurkiewicz, B.A. (1996) "Catalytic metals, ascorbate and free radicals: combinations to avoid", Radiat. Res. 145, 532-541.
- [17] Kazakov, S.A., Astashkina, T.G., Mamaev, S.V. and Vlassov, V.V. (1988) "Site-specific cleavage of single-stranded DNAs at unique sites by a copper-dependent redox reaction", *Nature* 335, 186–188.
- [18] Celander, D.W. and Cech, T.R. (1990) "Iron(II)-ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid catalyzed cleavage of RNA and DNA oligonucleotides: similar reactivity toward single- and double-stranded forms", Biochemistry 29, 1355-1361.
- [19] Herzberg, R.P. and Dervan, P.B. (1984) "Cleavage of DNA [19] Helzbelg, K.I. and Derval, H. (1964). Cleavage of Division with methidium-propt-EDTA-iron (II): reaction conditions and product analyses", *Biochemistry* 23, 3934–3945.
  [20] Pizarro, F., Olivares, M., Uauy, R., Contreras, P., Rebelo, A. and Gidi, V. (1999) "Acute gastrointestinal effects of graded
- levels of copper in drinking water", Environ. Health Perspect. 107, 117-121.
- [21] Knobeloch, L., Ziarnik, M., Howard, J., Theis, B., Farmer, D., Anderson, H. and Proctor, M. (1994) "Gastrointestinal upsets associated with ingestion of copper-contaminated water", Environ. Health Perspect. 102, 958-961.

### Vitamin C (Ascorbic Acid) Induced Hydroxyl Radical Formation in Copper Contaminated Household Drinking Water: Role of Bicarbonate Concentration

PATRIC J. JANSSON<sup>a</sup>, KLARA U.M. ASPLUND<sup>a</sup>, JOHANNA C. MÄKELÄ<sup>a</sup>, CHRISTER LINDQVIST<sup>b</sup> and TOMMY NORDSTRÖM<sup>8,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, P.O. Box 66, 20521 Turku, Finland; <sup>b</sup>Department of Biology, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, P.O. Box 66, 20521 Turku, Finland

Accepted by Professor B. Halliwell

(Received 20 December 2002; In revised form 11 April 2003)

We have previously shown that Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) can trigger hydroxyl radical formation in copper contaminated household drinking water. We report here that the capacity of ascorbic acid to catalyze hydroxyl radical generation in the drinking water samples is strongly dependent on the bicarbonate concentration (buffer capacity and pH) of the samples. We found that at least 50 mg/l bicarbonate was required in the water samples to maintain the pH over 5.0 after ascorbic acid addition. At this pH, that is higher than the pKa<sub>1</sub> 4.25 of ascorbic acid, a hydroxyl radical generating redox cycling reaction involving the mono-anion of vitamin C and copper could take place. The ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical generating reaction could easily be mimicked in Milli-Q water by supplementing the water with copper and bicarbonate. Our results demonstrate that ascorbic acid can induce a pH dependent hydroxyl radical generating reaction in copper contaminated household tap water that is buffered with bicarbonate. The impact of consuming ascorbic acid together with copper and bicarbonate containing drinking water on human health is discussed.

*Keywords*: Vitamin C; Hydroxyl radical; Water; Bicarbonate; Copper

#### INTRODUCTION

Free radicals are reactive oxygen species that has been shown to be involved in a variety of human diseases including stress induced gastric ulceration and cancer.<sup>[1-4]</sup> Among the various reactive oxygen species known today, the hydroxyl radical (-OH) belong to one of the most reactive form of oxygen. Hydroxyl radicals can easily be generated in the presence of a reducing substance and transition metals such as iron and copper via the Fenton reaction.<sup>[5–7]</sup> Hydroxyl radicals, once they are formed, will readily react with DNA, protein or lipids and can therefore induce cellular damage if no protecting hydroxyl radical scavenging molecules are present.<sup>[8–14]</sup>

We have recently demonstrated by using coumarin-3-carboxylic acid that vitamin C (ascorbic acid) can induce hydroxyl radical formation in copper contaminated household drinking water.<sup>[15]</sup> The hydroxyl radical generating reaction could easily be demonstrated in tap water samples that were contaminated by copper ions released from the pipes due to corrosion. High concentrations of copper,  $\geq 1 \text{ mg/l}$  can be found in household tap water samples taken from new houses especially if the samples contain first draw water taken in the morning.<sup>[16,17]</sup> High concentration of copper is toxic and especially infants are prone to copper poisoning. Gastrointestinal symptoms have also been associated with high copper intake.<sup>[18–21]</sup>

In order to further elucidate the mechanisms involved in the ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical generation in household drinking water we measured by HPLC the anion concentrations in tap water samples that generated hydroxyl radicals.

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author. Tel.: +358-2-2154004. Fax: +358-2-2154745. E-mail: tomnords@abo.fi

ISSN 1071-5762 print/ISSN 1029-2470 online © 2003 Taylor & Francis Ltd DOI: 10.1080/1071576031000136568

From these studies and by using Milli-Q water as a model system, we demonstrate here, that ascorbic acid can trigger hydroxyl radical generation in copper contaminated bicarbonate-buffered drinking water.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Chemicals

Coumarin-3-carboxylic acid<sup>[22,23]</sup> and 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid (7-OHCCA), L(+)-Ascorbic acid calcium salt dihydrate, (+)-Magnesium L-ascorbate and L(+)-Ascorbic acid sodium salt were from Fluka, Switzerland. Coumarin-3carboxylic acid was dissolved in Milli-Q water (18 M $\Omega$  cm), and pH adjusted to 8.0 with NaOH. Ascorbic acid and cuprous chloride were purchased from Riedel-deHaen, Germany. Tris[hydroxymethy-1]aminomethane (TRIS base) was from Sigma, St. Louis, USA. Stock solutions of the chemicals used were prepared in Milli-Q water (18 M $\Omega$  cm) and protected from light. Samples of tap water were collected in sterile 15 ml polypropylene test tubes (Greiner) and stored at 4°C in the dark until used. All stock solutions of the reagents used in the assay were prepared fresh daily.

#### Measurement of Vitamin C Induced Hydroxyl Radical Formation in Drinking Water

To measure hydroxyl radical formation in household drinking water, 200 µl of the water samples were pipetted in triplicate onto a 96 well flat-bottomed microwell plate (Greiner). After this, 200 µM coumarin-3-carboxylic acid was added to all wells by using a 8 channel multiwell pipett followed by 2 mM ascorbic acid that started the reaction. The microplate was then incubated at room temperature in dark for 3h and the reaction was then stopped by pipetting 10 mM TRIS base to all wells. The fluorescence was measured and the fluorescence values were converted into 7-OHCCA formed (nM) from a standard curve. The standard curve was prepared by pipetting 200 µl aliquots of a serial dilution of the 7-OHCCA in triplicate onto a 96 well flat-bottomed microwell plate followed by 10 mM TRIS buffer. The fluorescence of the samples and standards were measured with a Fluoroscan II spectrophotometer (Labsystems, Finland). The optical filter set used was excitation 380 nm and emission 460 nm.

#### Measurement of the Anion Concentration by using HPLC

An isocratic HPLC system (Waters model 1515) equipped with a manual Rheodyne injection valve (25 µl loop) and a 2-channel UV/VIS detector (Waters model 2487) was used. The column used was a PRP-X100,  $150 \times 4.1 \text{ mm I.D}$ , 10 µm particle size anion exchange column (Hamilton) equipped with a PRP-X-100 guard column (25.0 × 2.3 mm I.D). Chromatography was performed using isocratic elution using 4.0 mM *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid containing 2.5% methanol, pH 8.5 (NaOH). The flow rate was 2.0 ml/min. The peaks were detected by indirect UV at 310 nm and analyzed by using the Waters Breeze software. All separations were performed at room temperature.

#### Measurement of pH changes in the Water Samples

pH was measured directly in the microwells by using a Orion pH meter (model 420 A) equipped with a needle tip micro-pH combination electrode. All measurements were done at room temperature.

#### RESULTS

We have recently shown that addition of ascorbic acid to some tap water samples contaminated with copper ions can trigger an ongoing production of hydroxyl radicals that can be detected by coumarin-3-carboxylic acid.<sup>[15]</sup> However, in these studies we observed that the amount of copper ions present in the water samples did not always correlate with the amount of hydroxyl radicals generated after ascorbic acid addition. From these studies, we concluded that other ion species might be involved in the ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical generating reaction.

We have now continued our analysis on two water samples, here named as A and B. Addition of 2 mM ascorbic acid to the tap water sample A, resulted in high amounts of hydroxylated coumarin-3carboxylic acid  $(839.4 \pm 4.8 \text{ nM})$  within 3 h. In the sample B, however, hardly any hydroxyl radical formation could be detected after ascorbic acid addition (11.9  $\pm$  0.6 nM). These two water samples had been sampled in the same way, directly drawn from the tap, but they originate from two different municipal water suppliers. The pH in the water sample A and B were 7.60 and 7.15, respectively. When 2 mM ascorbic acid and 200 µM coumarin-3carboxylic acid were added, the pH in sample A decreased rapidly to 5.78 and stabilized at a new pH value close to 6.4. In contrast, when ascorbic acid and coumarin-3-carboxylic acid were added to sample B, a much deeper drop in the pH value could be seen. Here, the pH decreased rapidly to 3.78 and remained at a value under pH 4.0.

To find out why ascorbic acid rapidly lowered pH in sample B, but not in sample A, we next measured the anion concentrations in the tap water samples by HPLC analysis. The set-up we used for the anion



FIGURE 1 Hydroxyl radical formation in Milli-Q water supplemented with copper and various concentrations of bicarbonate. (A) 200 µM coumarin-3-carboxylic acid followed by 2 mM ascorbic acid were added to Milli-Q water samples containing 0.5 mg/l copper and various concentrations of bicarbonate. After 3h incubation at room temperature, the reaction was stopped by addition of 10 mM TRIS base. The fluorescence was measured and the fluorescence values were converted into 7-OHCCA formed (nM) from the standard curve. (B) pH in the samples. The pH values in the samples used in (A) were measured after a 3h incubation at room temperature. (C) Sodium ascorbate induced hydroxyl radical formation at various pH values. The pH in Milli-Q water containing 0.5 mg/l copper and 100 mg/l bicarbonate was adjusted to values between 4 and 9 by using HCl or NaOH. 200  $\mu M$ coumarin-3-carboxylic acid followed by 2mM sodium ascorbate was added and the samples were incubated at room temperature for 3 h. The reaction was stopped by addition of 10 mM TRIS base. The fluorescence was measured and the fluorescence values were converted into 7-OHCCA formed (nM) from the standard curve. Data points in this figure are mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicates from one representative experiment out of three conducted. Where absent, error bars were smaller than the symbol.

analysis can detect fluoride, bicarbonate, chloride, nitrite, bromide, nitrate, phosphate and sulphate ions. High concentrations of both bicarbonate (88.3 mg/l) and chloride (93.7 mg/l) were found in the water sample A. In contrast, the water sample B showed much lower concentrations of bicarbonate and chloride, 29.8 and 12.5 mg/l, respectively. No other anions could be detected in the water samples tested.

The fact that a high concentration of bicarbonate was present in the water sample A indicated that the pH and the buffering capacity played an important role for the ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation. Therefore, to study the role of the pH and buffering capacity in the reaction, we next performed additional experiments with Milli-Q water. When increasing concentrations of bicarbonate was added to Milli-Q water containing 0.5 mg/l copper a significant increase in ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation could also be seen. At 50 mg/l bicarbonate a prompt increase in the hydroxyl radical formation was observed. The highest amount of 7-OHCCA was obtained when 100 mg/l bicarbonate was added to the copper supplemented Milli-Q water sample (Fig. 1A). In Fig. 1B, the pH in the same samples after 3h incubation is shown. In the samples that contained 50 mg/l bicarbonate or more, a higher pH value could be measured. In contrast to ascorbic acid, the sodium- calcium- and magnesium-salts of ascorbic acid could readily trigger hydroxyl radical formation in copper containing Milli-Q water even in the absence of bicarbonate (Table I). In the presence of bicarbonate, sodium ascorbate triggered the highest yield of hydroxylated coumarin-3-carboxylic acid at pH 5.0. At higher pH values the signal was lower (Fig. 1C).

#### DISCUSSION

We have previously shown that addition of ascorbic acid to tap water samples contaminated with copper ions results in hydroxyl radical formation in some but not all of the samples.<sup>[15]</sup> pH measurements and HPLC anion analysis strongly indicated that a buffering anion such as bicarbonate was required for ascorbic acid to redox-cycle copper and generate hydroxyl radicals in the tap water samples. In line with this observation, we found that addition of ascorbic acid to Milli-Q water supplemented with 100 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.5 mg/l copper also resulted in a hydroxyl radical generating reaction. Already 50 mg/l bicarbonate was enough to buffer the pH in Milli-Q water and keep the pH above 4.25 after ascorbic acid addition, which is the  $pKa_1$  of ascorbic acid. When the pH is over 4.25, the ascorbate mono-anion will dominate and this form can further

TABLE I Hydroxyl radical generation in copper supplemented Milli-O water

	Production of 2	-OHCCA (nM)
Compound	(-HCO <sub>3</sub> )	(+HCO <sub>3</sub> )
Control Ascorbic acid Calcium ascorbate Sodium ascorbate Magnesium ascorbate	$7.8 \pm 0.3 \\ 268.6 \pm 5.8 \\ 805.9 \pm 7.1 \\ 944.2 \pm 5.8 \\ 673.5 \pm 6.0 \\$	$\begin{array}{c} 10.8 \pm 0.3 \\ 848.1 \pm 5.4 \\ 505.2 \pm 2.9 \\ 616.9 \pm 2.9 \\ 390.0 \pm 6.0 \end{array}$

The reaction was started by addition of 2 mM of the indicated vitamin C species to Milli-Q water containing 0.5 mg/l copper and 200  $\mu$ M coumarin-3-carboxylic acid. The values shown are the concentration of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid formed after 3 h incubation at room temperature in the presence or absence of 100 mg/l bicarbonate. The results shown are the means ± SD of quadruplicates from one representative experiment out of three conducted.

be oxidized with concomitant reduction of copper II to copper I. At higher pH levels rapid redox cycling of copper will generate superoxide, peroxide and hydroxyl radicals via a copper assisted Fenton reaction. At lower pH, also the percentage of superoxide in the water decreases when superoxide anion reacts with hydrogen to form the hydroperoxyl radical (HO<sub>2</sub>).

The hydroxyl radical generating reaction described here take place in a very simple milieu namely water. Our results stress the importance of both the pH and the buffering capacity in the water sample for ascorbic acid to stimulate hydroxyl radical formation. In the presence of bicarbonate, ascorbic acid induced the strongest signal as compared to the sodium-, calcium-, or magnesiumsalts of ascorbic acid (Table I). When the salts of ascorbate were used, the pH in the solution was 7.5 and the hydroxyl radical signal 35-40% lower. At this pH, bicarbonate ions present in the solution can rapidly react with the hydroxyl radicals and form bicarbonate- or carbonate-radicals.<sup>[24]</sup> In the presence of bicarbonate, sodium ascorbate triggered the highest signal at pH 5.0. At pH 7.5, the signal was approximately 30% lower than the one observed at pH 5.0 due to the OH scavenging effect of the bicarbonate ions present at this pH (Fig. 1C).

Vitamin C is one of the most studied anti-oxidants and it has previously been shown that vitamin C protects against gastric cancer by scavenging reactive radical species and inhibits N-nitroso compound induced gastric carcinoma.<sup>[25-28]</sup> However, one could speculate that bicarbonate *in vivo* in some special compartments, e.g. in the stomach or urinary bladder could locally increase the pH and thereby assist vitamin C to stimulate hydroxyl radical formation. Thus, bicarbonate could in fact, as shown here, turn vitamin C (ascorbic acid) into a strong pro-oxidant. In line with this assumption, bicarbonate and vitamin C has been shown to promote (*N*-butyl-*N*-(4-hydroxybutyl)nitrosamine) induced bladder carcinogenesis in rats.<sup>[29–31]</sup> Moreover, it has been shown that alkaline urinary pH promote bladder carcinogenesis in rat model systems.<sup>[32,33]</sup> Interestingly, ascorbic acid in the presence of bicarbonate<sup>[29,30]</sup> or sodium ascorbate alone<sup>[34,35]</sup> was used in these studies.

In conclusion, we have shown that ascorbic acid triggers hydroxyl radical formation when added to copper contaminated tap water samples that contain high concentrations of bicarbonate. Our results show that bicarbonate rich water in this regard is safe as long as the water is not contaminated with copper ions. Furthermore, our results support earlier findings that vitamin C also can act as a strong prooxidant.<sup>[36–39]</sup> The impact of long-term consumption of bicarbonate and copper contaminated tap water together with strong reducing substances on human health, e.g. the incidence of ulcer or stomach cancer, remains to be studied.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Ella and Georg Ehrnrooth foundation, Magnus Ehrnrooth foundation and The Academy of Science.

#### References

- Das, D., Bandyopadhyay, D. and Banerjee, R.K. (1998) "Oxidative inactivation of gastric peroxidase by site-specific generation of hydroxyl radical and its role in stress-induced gastric ulceration", *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 24, 460–469.
- [2] Pryor, W.A. (1986) "Cancer and free radicals", Basic Life Sci. 39, 45–59.
- [3] Halliwell, B. and Gutteridge, J.M. (1990) "Role of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease", *Methods Enzymol.* 186, 1–85.
- Halliwell, B. (1999) "Oxygen and nitrogen are pro-carcinogens. Damage to DNA by reactive oxygen, chlorine and nitrogen species: measurement, mechanism and the effects of nutrition", Mutat. Res. 443, 37-52, Review.
   Fenton, H.J.H. (1876) "On a new reaction of tartaric acid",
- [5] Fenton, H.J.H. (1876) "On a new reaction of tartaric acid", Chem. News 33, 190.
- [6] Halliwell, B. and Gutteridge, J.M. (1992) "Biologically relevant metal ion dependent hydroxyl radical generation. An update", FEBS Lett. 307, 108–112.
- [7] Rowley, D.A. and Halliwell, B. (1983) "Superoxide-dependent and ascorbate-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals in the presence of copper salts: a physiologically significant reaction?", Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 225, 279–284.
- [8] Que, B.G., Downey, K.M. and So, A.G. (1980) "Degradation of deoxyribonucleic acid by a 1,10-phenanthroline-copper complex: the role of hydroxyl radicals", *Biochemistry* 19, 5987-5591.
- [9] Schneider, J.E., Browning, M.M. and Floyd, R.A. (1988) "Ascorbate/iron mediation of hydroxyl free radical damage to PBR322 plasmid DNA", *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 5, 287–295.
- [10] Herzberg, R.P. and Dervan, P.B. (1984) "Cleavage of DNA with methidiumpropyl-EDTA-iron (II): Reaction conditions and product analyses", *Biochemistry* 23, 3934–3945.
- [11] Rollet-Labelle, E., Grange, M.J., Elbin, C., Marquetty, C., Gougerot-Pocidalo, M.A. and Pasquier, C. (1998) "Hydroxyl radical as a potential intracellular mediator of polymorphonuclear neutrophil apoptosis", *Free Radic. Biol. Med.* 24, 563-572.
- [12] Ikeda, K., Kajiwara, K., Tanabe, E., Tokumaru, S., Kishida, E., Masuzawa, Y. and Kojo, S. (1999) "Involvement of hydrogen

peroxide and hydroxyl radical in chemically induced apoptosis of HL-60 cells", Biochem. Pharmacol. 57, 1361–1365. [13] Gutteridge, J.M. and Wilkins, S. (1983) "Copper salt-

- dependent hydroxyl radical formation. Damage to proteins acting as antioxidants", *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* **759**, 38–41.
- [14] Kehrer, J.P. (2000) "The Haber-Weiss reaction and mechanism of toxicity", Toxicology 149, 43–50. [15] Asplund, K.U.M., Jansson, P.J., Lindqvist, C. and Nordström,
- T. (2002) "Measurement of ascorbic acid (Vitamin C) induced hydroxyl radical formation in household drinking water", Free Radic. Res. **36**, 1271–1276.
- [16] Murphy, E.A. (1993) "Effectiveness of flushing on reducing lead and copper levels in school drinking water", Environ. Health Perspect. 101, 240-241.
- [17] Pettersson, R. and Rasmussen, F. (1999) "Daily intake of Petersson, R. and Rasmussen, F. (1999) Daily intake of copper from drinking water among young children in Sweden", Environ. Health Perspect. 107, 441–446.
   Pizarro, F., Olivares, M., Uauy, R., Contreras, P., Rebelo, A. and Gidi, V. (1999) "Acute gastrointestinal effects of graded
- levels of copper in drinking water", Environ. Health Perspect. 107, 117-121
- [19] Knobeloch, L., Ziarnik, M., Howard, J., Theis, B., Farmer, D., Anderson, H. and Proctor, M. (1994) "Gastrointestinal upsets associated with ingestion of copper-contaminated water", Environ. Health Perspect. 102, 958-961.
- [20] Pizarro, F., Olivares, M., Araya, M., Gidi, V. and Uauy, R. (2001) "Gastrointestinal effects associated with soluble and insoluble copper in drinking water", Environ. Health Perspect. 109, 949-952
- [21] Eife, R., Weiss, M., Barros, V., Sigmund, B., Goriup, U., Komb, D., Wolf, W., Kittel, J., Schramel, P. and Reiter, K. (1999) "CH and the second seco "Chronic poisoning by copper in tap water: I. Copper intoxications with predominantly gastrointestinal symptoms", Eur. J. Med. Res. 4, 219-223
- [22] Manevich, Y., Held, K.D. and Biaglow, J.E. (1997) "Coumarin-3-carboxylic acid as a detector for hydroxyl radicals generated chemically and by gamma radiation", Radiat. Res. 148, 580-591
- [23] Biaglow, J.E. and Kachur, A.V. (1997) "The generation of hydroxyl radicals in the reaction of molecular oxygen with polyphosphate complexes of ferrous ion", Radiat. Res. 148, 181–187.
- [24] Liao, C.H., Kang, S.F. and Wu, F.A. (2001) "Hydroxyl radical scavenging role of chloride and bicarbonate ions in the
- H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>/UV process", *Chemosphere* 44, 1193–1200.
   Schorah, C.J., Sobala, G.M., Sanderson, M., Collis, N. and Primrose, J.N. (1991) "Gastric juice ascorbic acid: effects of

disease and implications for gastric carcinogenesis",

- Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 53, 287S-293S.
  [26] Schorah, C.J. (1997) "Ascorbic acid metabolism and cancer in the human stomach", Acta Gastroenterol. Belg. 60, 217-219.
  [27] Correa, P. (1995) "The role of antioxidants in gastric
- carcinogenesis", Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 35, 59-64.
- [28] Drake, I.M., Davies, M.J., Mapstone, N.P., Dixon, M.F., Schorah, C.J., White, K.L., Chalmers, D.M. and Axon, A.T. (1996) "Ascorbic acid may protect against human gastric cancer by scavenging mucosal oxygen radicals", Carcinogenesis 17, 559-562.
- [29] Fukushima, S., Imaida, K., Shibata, M.A., Tamano, S., Kurata, Y. and Shirai, T. (1988) "L-ascorbic acid amplification of second-stage bladder carcinogenesis promotion by NaHCO<sub>3</sub>", Cancer Res. 48, 6317–6320. [30] Iwata, H., Yamamoto, S., Yano, Y., Ohtani, S. and Fukushima,
- S. (1997) "Dose-dependent amplification by L-ascorbic acid of NaHCO3 promotion of rat urinary bladder carcinogenesis", Toxicol. Pathol. 25, 284-290.
- [31] Fukushima, S., Kurata, Y., Hasegawa, R., Asamoto, M., Shibata, M.A. and Tamano, S. (1991) "L-ascorbic acid amplification of bladder carcinogenesis promotion by K2CO3", Cancer Res. 51, 2548-2551.
- [32] Lina, B.A., Hollanders, V.M. and Kuijpers, M.H. (1994) "The role of alkalizing and neutral potassium salts in urinary bladder carcinogenesis in rats", *Carcinogenesis* **15**, 523–527.
- [33] Lina, B.A. and van Garderen-Hoetmer, A. (1999) "Effect of urinary pH on the progression of urinary bladder tumours", Food Chem. Toxicol. 37, 1159-1166.
- [34] Fukushima, S., Shibata, M.A., Shirai, T., Tamano, S. and Ito, N. (1986) "Role of urinary sodium ion concentration and pH in promotion by ascorbic acid of urinary bladder carcinogenesis in rats", Cancer Res. 46, 1623-1626.
- [35] Cohen, S.M., Anderson, T.A., de Oliveira, L.M. and Arnold, L.L. (1998) "Tumorigenicity of sodium ascorbate in male rats", Cancer Res. 58, 2557–2561. [36] Halliwell, B. (1996) "Vitamin C antioxidant or pro-oxidant
- in vivo?", Free Radic. Res. 25, 439-454.
- [37] Buettner, G.R. and Jurkiewicz, B.A. (1996) "Catalytic metals, ascorbate and free radicals: combinations to avoid", Radiat. Res. 145, 532-541.
- [38] Lee, S.H., Oe, T. and Blair, I.A. (2001) "Vitamin C-induced decomposition of lipid hydroperoxides to endogenous genotoxins", Science 292, 2083-2086.
- [39] Podmore, I.D., Griffiths, H.R., Herbert, K.E., Mistry, N., Mistry, P. and Lunec, J. (1998) "Vitamin C exhibits pro-oxidant properties", Nature 392, 559.

### Oxidative Decomposition of Vitamin C in Drinking Water

PATRIC J. JANSSON<sup>a</sup>, HYE R. JUNG<sup>a</sup>, CHRISTER LINDQVIST<sup>b</sup> and TOMMY NORDSTRÖM<sup>a,\*</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, P.O. Box 66, 20521 Turku, Finland; <sup>b</sup>Department of Biology, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, Turku, Finland

Accepted by Professor B. Halliwell

(Received 11 February 2004; In revised form 18 March 2004)

We have previously shown that vitamin C (ascorbic acid) can initiate hydroxyl radical formation in copper contaminated household drinking water. In the present study, we have examined the stability of vitamin C in copper and bicarbonate containing household drinking water. In drinking water samples, contaminated with copper from the pipes and buffered with bicarbonate, 35% of the added vitamin C was oxidized to dehydroascorbic acid within 15 min. After 3h incubation at room temperature, 93% of the added (2 mM) ascorbic acid had been oxidized. The dehydroascorbic acid formed was further decomposed to oxalic acid and threonic acid by the hydrogen peroxide generated from the copper (Í) autooxidation in the presence of oxygen. A very modest oxidation of vitamin C occurred in Milli-Q water and in household water samples not contaminated by copper ions. Moreover, addition of vitamin C to commercially sold domestic bottled water samples did not result in vitamin C oxidation. Our results demonstrate that ascorbic acid is rapidly oxidized to dehydroascorbic acid and further decomposed to oxalic- and threonic acid in copper contaminated household tap water that is buffered with bicarbonate. The impact of consuming ascorbic acid together with copper and bicarbonate containing drinking water on human health is discussed.

*Keywords*: Vitamin C; Dehydroascorbic acid; Oxalic acid; Threonic acid; Water; Copper

#### INTRODUCTION

Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) is a natural antioxidant that is nowadays added as a vitamin and preservative to a variety of food sources, e.g. fruit juices in high quantities. The intake of supplemental vitamin C has also increased considerably and supplements containing up to 1-2g of

vitamin C/tablet can be found in any grocery store. This amount of ascorbic acid is well above the recommended daily intake (RDI) that is 60 mg/day for adult women or men. Thus, the mean daily intake of vitamin C has significantly increased in many countries during the past 20 years. High intake is generally not believed to be harmful since vitamin C is a water-soluble compound that is not stored in the body and the excess ingested vitamin is excreted in the urine.

Numerous studies have shown that the antioxidant, ascorbic acid, has beneficial effect on many age-related diseases such as: atherosclerosis, cancer, some neurodegenerative and ocular diseases.<sup>[1-7]</sup> However, it has also been shown that, in the presence of transition metals such as copper and iron, ascorbic acid can in fact function as a strong pro-oxidant.<sup>[8-10]</sup> In line with this, we have recently demonstrated by using coumarin-3-carboxylic acid that ascorbic acid can induce hydroxyl radical formation in copper contaminated, bicarbonate buffered household drinking water.<sup>[11]</sup> During this process, ascorbic acid is oxidized to dehydroascorbic acid by the copper ions present in the water sample.

Since the oxidized form of ascorbic acid, dehydroascorbic acid, has been shown to be toxic and to generate oxidative stress in various cell systems<sup>[12–14]</sup> we have here studied the formation and the stability of this compound in tap water samples. We demonstrate here, that ascorbic acid is very rapidly oxidized to dehydroascorbic acid and further decomposed to oxalic and threonic acid in copper contaminated bicarbonate-buffered drinking water.

<sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author. Tel.: +358-2-2154004. Fax: +358-2-2154745. E-mail: tomnords@abo.fi

ISSN 1071-5762 print/ISSN 1029-2470 online © 2004 Taylor & Francis Ltd DOI: 10.1080/10715760410001700497

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Chemicals

Ascorbic acid, threonic acid and cupric chloride dihydrate were purchased from Fluka, Riedel-deHaen, Germany. Tris[hydroxymethyl]aminomethane (Tris base) and *o*-phenylenediamine dihydrochloride (OPD), oxalic acid, diethyldithiocarbamic acid, dithiothreitol (DTT), *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid, sodium bicarbonate and dehydroascorbic acid were from Sigma, St Louis, USA. Stock solutions of the chemicals used were prepared in Milli-Q water (18 M $\Omega$  cm) and protected from light. Samples of tap water were collected in sterile 15 ml polypropylene test tubes (Greiner) and stored at 4°C in the dark until used. All stock solutions of the reagents used in the assay were prepared fresh daily.

#### Measurement of Copper and Bicarbonate Concentration in the Water Samples

The copper and bicarbonate concentration in the water samples were measured as previously described.  $^{\rm [11,15]}$ 

#### Measurement of Dehydroascorbic Acid with o-phenylenediamine

In contrast to ascorbic acid, dehydroascorbic acid absorb UV light very poorly. To measure dehydroascorbic acid formation we therefore used the reagent o-phenylenediamine, a reagent that form a fluorescent complex with dehydroascorbic acid.<sup>[16,17]</sup> For the assay, 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to the water samples and incubated at room temperature for various time periods. After this, 2 mM of o-phenylenediamine was added to the tubes followed by 8 mM Tris buffer. The fluorescent complex was excited at 370 nm, and the emission at 440 nm was measured by a Hitachi F-2000 fluorescence spectrophotometer. The fluorescence values were converted into dehydroascorbic acid concentration from a standard curve, where known amounts of dehydroascorbic acid was used. The actual concentration of dehydroascorbic acid in the prepared standards was controlled by addition of 10 mM DTT followed by HPLC analysis on the ascorbic acid formed. All measurements were done at room temperature.

### Measurement of Ascorbic Acid Metabolites by Using HPLC

An isocratic HPLC system (Waters model 1515) equipped with a manual Rheodyne injection valve  $(25 \,\mu l \, loop)$  and a 2-channel UV/VIS detector (Waters model 2487) was used. The column used for quantitation of ascorbic acid and oxalic acid was

a Nucleosil C18 150 × 4.1 mm I.D, 10  $\mu$ m particle size column (Supelco Inc.). Chromatography was performed using isocratic elution using 10 mM phosphate buffer (KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) containing 5% methanol, pH 3.3 (H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>). The flow rate was 0.5 ml/min. The peaks were detected at 210 nm and analyzed by using the Waters Breeze software. For the identification and calibration we used standards of threonic-, oxalic-, dehydroascorbic- and ascorbicacid in Milli-Q water. All separations were performed at room temperature.

When the Nucleosil C18 column was used, the peaks for the threonic acid and hydrogen peroxide standards overlapped in the chromatogram. Therefore, to quantitate threonic acid, an anion column PRP-X100 (Hamilton),  $150 \times 4.1$  mm I.D, 10 mm particle size equipped with a PRP-X100 guard column (25.0 × 2.3 mm I.D) was also used. Chromatography was performed using isocratic elution using 4.0 mM *p*-hydroxybenzoic acid containing 2.5% methanol, pH 8.5 (NaOH). The flow rate was 2.0 ml/min. The peaks were detected by indirect UV at 310 nm and analyzed by using the Waters Breeze software.

#### RESULTS

#### Ascorbic Acid Oxidation in Drinking Water

Ascorbic acid oxidation in two tap water samples (sample 1 and 2), a Milli-Q water sample supplemented with  $100 \text{ mg/l HCO}_3^-$  and  $0.5 \text{ mg/l Cu}^{2+}$ and a control Milli-Q water sample were followed for 3h by HPLC analysis (Fig. 1A). The two water samples had been sampled in the same way, directly drawn from the tap, but they originated from two different municipal water suppliers. When 2mM ascorbic acid was added to sample 1, that contained 25.9 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.19 mg/l copper, a very modest degradation of the vitamin occurred with time. In this water sample 38.6% of the added ascorbic acid had been oxidized during the 3h incubation. On the contrary, when 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to the water sample 2, that contained 150.4 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.53 mg/l copper, the vitamin was almost completely (92.6%) oxidized during the 3h incubation. A similar oxidation process could be seen when 2 mM vitamin C was added to Milli-Q water supplemented with 100 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.5 mg/l copper. Addition of 2 mM ascorbic acid to Milli-Q water resulted in a very modest oxidation of the vitamin with time.

## Dehydroascorbic Acid Formation in Drinking Water

The formation of dehydroascorbic acid, was measured by using *o*-phenylenediamine. As can



FIGURE 1 Ascorbic acid degradation (A), and dehydroascorbic acid formation (B), in household drinking water 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to two household tap water samples 2 (A), a Milli-Q water sample ( $\bullet$ ) and a Milli-Q water sample supplemented with 100 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.5 mg/l copper ( $\circ$ ). The concentration of ascorbic acid was measured at indicated time points by using HPLC analysis. Dehydroascorbic acid was measured by using the reagent o-phenylenediamine. Data shown are mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicates from one representative experiment out of three conducted.

be seen in Fig. 1B, dehydroascorbic acid was rapidly formed in the tap water sample 2. After 15 min incubation,  $638 \pm 33 \,\mu$ M of dehydroascorbic acid had been formed. However, at 15 min, only  $87 \pm 26 \,\mu$ M of dehydroascorbic acid had been formed in sample 1. Addition of 2 mM ascorbic acid to Milli-Q water supplemented with 100 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.5 mg/l copper resulted in rapid formation of dehydroascorbic acid. In the control sample where ascorbic acid had been added to Milli-Q water, very low concentrations of dehydroascorbic acid could be detected. The amount of dehydroascorbic acid formed in four commercially sold domestic bottled water samples, after ascorbic acid addition (15 min incubation), was in the range of  $0-3\,\mu M$ .

#### Dehydroascorbic Acid Reacts with Hydrogen Peroxide and Generate Oxalic Acid and Threonic Acid

A typical chromatogram of a catalytic drinking water sample incubated with 2 mM ascorbic acid for 3h is shown in Fig. 2A. In this chromatogram, based on retention time, the peak that appeared at 5.6 min was identified as oxalic acid (peak 1). At 5.9 min, a peak appeared that had a retention time similar to the hydrogen peroxide- and threonic acid standards (peak 2). During the 3h incubation 2 mM ascorbic acid (rentention time 7.9 min, peak 4) had been oxidized, in this bicarbonate rich and copper contaminated drinking water sample to  $713 \pm 63 \,\mu\text{M}$  dehydroascorbic acid (o-phenylenediamine assay),  $488 \pm 28 \,\mu\text{M}$ oxalic acid and  $77 \pm 14 \,\mu M$  threonic acid (quantitated by using an anion column). The peak for dehydroascorbic acid (peak 3) appeared in the chromatogram at 6.8 min together with an unknown metabolite that had a retention time of 7.1 min. In a similar way, addition of 4 mM hydrogen peroxide to 2 mM ascorbic acid in Milli-Q water supplemented with 100 mg/l bicarbonate resulted in  $839 \pm 72 \,\mu M$  oxalic acid and  $192 \pm 24 \,\mu\text{M}$  threonic acid within 3 h (Fig. 2B). Moreover, very rapid formation of oxalic acid and threonic acid could be obtained when 4 mM hydrogen peroxide was added to 2mM dehydroascorbic acid in Milli-Q water supplemented with 100 mg/l bicarbonate. A 10-min incubation at room temperature resulted in  $640 \pm 24 \,\mu M$  oxalic acid and  $181 \pm 24 \,\mu\text{M}$  threenic acid (Fig. 2C). In control experiments, 2 mM dehydroascorbic acid was added to Milli-Q water supplemented with 100 mg/l bicarbonate. In the absence of hydrogen peroxide, 79% less oxalic acid was formed (Fig. 2D).

To verify that dehydroascorbic was formed in our drinking water samples, we used DTT, a reducing agent that can turn dehydroascorbic acid back into ascorbic acid. When DTT was added to copper and bicarbonate supplemented Milli-Q water that had been incubated with 2 mM ascorbic acid for 3 h, the ascorbic acid peak reappeared in the chromatogram (approximately 680  $\mu$ M ascorbic acid was formed). Dehydroascorbic acid has previously been shown to be spontaneously decomposed to L-diketogulonate



FIGURE 2 HPLC analysis of ascorbic acid metabolites in drinking water. (A) 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to a drinking water sample and incubated at room temperature for 3 h. (B) 2 mM ascorbic acid and 4 mM hydrogen peroxide was added to a Milli-Q water sample supplemented with 100 mg/1 bicarbonate and incubated for 3 h at room temperature. (C) 2 mM dehydroascorbic acid and 4 mM hydrogen peroxide was added to a Milli-Q water sample supplemented with 100 mg/1 bicarbonate and incubated for 10 min at room temperature. The inset show the peaks for dehydroascorbic acid (at 6.8 min) and an unknown compound (at 7.1 min). (D) 2 mM dehydroascorbic acid was added to a Milli-Q water sample supplemented with 100 mg/1 bicarbonate and incubated for 10 min at room temperature. (E) Oxalic acid standard (0.6 mM) in Milli-Q water. (F) Ascorbic acid standard (2 mM) in Milli-Q water. Please note the different scaling in chromatogram F.

(2,3-DKG) or erythroascorbate.<sup>[18–20]</sup> Our results indicated that dehydroascorbic acid and not DKG was present in the sample.

#### DISCUSSION

The drinking water reaching the consumer at their homes can easily be contaminated by copper ions due to corrosion in the copper pipes in the house (building). Especially, the first-draw water used in the morning can readily be contaminated by copper ions  $\overset{[21,22]}{\mbox{\rm Jn}}$  light of these facts, and our previous studies showing that ascorbic acid can drive a hydroxyl radical generating process in copper and bicarbonate containing drinking water<sup>[11,15]</sup> we decided to study how fast and to what extent ascorbic acid is oxidized in a copper contaminated drinking water sample. Our results show that ascorbic acid is oxidized relatively fast in bicarbonate rich water samples that are contaminated by copper ions. Approximately 32% of the vitamin C had been oxidized after 15 min and the vitamin was almost completely oxidized within 3h (Fig. 1A and B). The oxidation process could easily be mimicked by adding vitamin C to Milli-Q water supplemented with  $100 \text{ mg/l HCO}_3^-$  and  $0.5 \text{ mg/l Cu}^{2+}$  because, the oxidation process require copper ions and a pH around 4-5.[15]

When ascorbic acid is oxidized in the presence of copper ions, dehydroascorbic acid is formed (Fig. 1B). The dehydroascorbic acid formation, in the bicarbonate rich water sample contaminated with copper, was very rapid and up to 650 µM dehydroascorbic acid could be formed within 15 min. The amount of dehydroascorbic acid formed within 15 min in the various tap water samples tested were in the range of 100-650 µM. On the contrary, when commercially sold domestic bottled water was used in the assay very modest degradation of ascorbic acid took place. Some of the bottled water samples tested (mineral waters) were buffered with bicarbonate. However, in the absence of copper ions, oxidation of vitamin C cannot take place. This reflects the importance of copper ions in the oxidation process.

HPLC analysis, performed on the water samples that had been incubated with 2 mM ascorbic acid for 3 h at room temperature, clearly indicated that the vitamin had been oxidized into dehydroascorbic acid and further decomposed into two major metabolites, oxalic acid and threonic acid. In the water sample 2, that was contaminated with copper ions and had high concentration of bicarbonate, only 131  $\pm$  13  $\mu$ M of the added 2 mM ascorbic acid was left after a 3 h incubation. During the 3 h incubation period, the added ascorbic acid had been oxidized to 488  $\pm$  28  $\mu$ M oxalic acid. High concentrations of oxalic acid (calcium oxalate) are toxic and can promote the formation of kidney stones.<sup>[23,24]</sup> Interestingly, calcium oxalate microcalcification has also been observed in benign and malignant breast biopsy specimens.<sup>[25,26]</sup> Whether the oxalic acid present in the breast tissue originate from the ascorbic acid- or amino acid metabolism is currently not known.

When ascorbic acid is oxidized in the presence of divalent copper, monovalent copper is formed. When the reduced copper is re-oxidized in the presence of oxygen, superoxide is generated. In the presence of a proton donor, the superoxide is further reduced to hydrogen peroxide. Most likely, the hydrogen peroxide formed in the reaction, when ascorbic acid is oxidized by copper, promote the cleavage of dehydroascorbic acid to oxalic acid and threonic acid. In line with this assumption we found that addition of hydrogen peroxide directly to ascorbic acid, in the presence of 100 mg/lbicarbonate, resulted in the formation of oxalic acid and threonic acid during the 3h incubation (Fig. 2B). However, when hydrogen peroxide was added directly to dehydroascorbic acid in the presence of 100 mg/l bicarbonate, the same amount of oxalic acid and threonic acid could be obtained within 10 min incubation (Fig. 2C). Our results indicate that the hydrogen peroxide formed, and not the hydroxyl radicals generated during the reaction, is responsible for the dehydroascorbic acid decomposition in the water samples.

In conclusion, our results show that significant amounts of either dietary or supplementary ascorbic acid can be rapidly oxidized to dehydroascorbic acid when added to bicarbonate rich (buffered) copper contaminated drinking water. Thus people consuming this type of water will most likely ingest, or generate more dehydroascorbic acid in their stomach, than people using bottled water. Dehydroascorbic acid can enter cells via the GLUT glucose transporter.[27] Intracellular reduction of large amounts of dehydroascorbic acid to ascorbic acid by NADPH- and glutathione-dependent reactions may markedly decrease the cellular concentrations of NADPH and glutathione in some celltypes.<sup>[28–30]</sup> In line with these findings, dehydroascorbic acid has been shown to cause oxidative stress and apoptosis in pancreatic and neural cells by depleting their intracellular glutathione.<sup>[14,31,32]</sup> store of reduced The impact of long-term intake of dehydroascorbic acid, the oxidized form of ascorbic acid, on human health, remains to be studied.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Magnus Ehrnrooth foundation, Paulon Säätiö, K. Albin Johanssons Stiftelse, Svenska Kulturfonden and The Academy of Finland.

#### References

- Stahl, W. and Sies, H. (1997) "Antioxidant defense: vitamins E and C and carotenoids", *Diabetes* 46(Suppl. 2), S14–S18.
- [2] Frei, B. (1999) "On the role of vitamin C and other antioxidants in atherogenesis and vascular dysfunction", *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 222, 196–204.
- [3] Padayatty, S.J., Katz, A., Wang, Y., Eck, P., Kwon, O., Lee, J.H., Chen, S., Corpe, C., Dutta, A., Dutta, S.K. and Levine, M. (2003) "Vitamin C as an antioxidant: evaluation of its role in disease prevention", *J. Am. Coll. Nutr.* 22, 18–35.
  [4] Block, G. (1991) "Vitamin C and cancer prevention: the
- [4] Block, G. (1991) "Vitamin C and cancer prevention: the epidemiologic evidence", Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 53, 270S–282S.
- [5] Block, G. (1991) "Epidemiologic evidence regarding vitamin C and cancer", Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 54, 13105–1314S.
- [6] Martin, A. (2003) "Antioxidant vitamins E and C and risk of Alzheimer's disease", *Nutr. Rev.* 61, 69–73.
  [7] Rose, R.C., Richer, S.P. and Bode, A.M. (1998) "Ocular
- [7] Rose, R.C., Richer, S.P. and Bode, A.M. (1998) "Ocular oxidants and antioxidant protection", *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 217, 397–407.
- [8] Buettner, G.R. and Jurkiewicz, B.A. (1996) "Catalytic metals, ascorbate and free radicals: combinations to avoid", *Radiat. Res.* 145, 532–541.
- [9] Halliwell, B. (1996) "Vitamin C antioxidant or pro-oxidant in vivo?", Free Radic. Res. 25, 439–454.
- [10] Podmore, I.D., Griffiths, H.R., Herbert, K.E., Mistry, N., Mistry, P. and Lunec, J. (1998) "Vitamin C exhibits pro-oxidant properties", *Nature* 392, 559.
- [11] Åsplund, K.U., Jansson, P.J., Lindqvist, C. and Nordstrom, T. (2002) "Measurement of ascorbic acid (vitamin C) induced hydroxyl radical generation in household drinking water", *Free Radic. Res.* 36, 1271–1276.
- [12] Koch, C.J. and Biaglow, J.E. (1978) "Toxicity, radiation sensitivity modification, and metabolic effects of dehydroascorbate and ascorbate in mammalian cells", J. Cell. Physiol. 94, 299–306.
- [13] Rose, R.C., Choi, J.L. and Bode, A.M. (1992) "Short term effects of oxidized ascorbic acid on bovine corneal endothelium and human placenta", *Life Sci.* 50, 1543–1549.
- [14] Song, J.H., Shin, S.H., Wang, W. and Ross, G.M. (2001) "Involvement of oxidative stress in ascorbateinduced proapoptotic death of PC12 cells", *Exp. Neurol.* 169, 425–437.
- [15] Jansson, P.J., Asplund, K.U., Makela, J.C., Lindqvist, C. and Nordstrom, T. (2003) "Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) induced hydroxyl radical formation in copper contaminated household drinking water: role of bicarbonate concentration", *Free Radic. Res.* 37, 901–905.
- [16] Ihara, H., Shino, Y., Aoki, Y., Hashizume, N. and Minegishi, N. (2000) "A simple and rapid method for the routine assay of total ascorbic acid in serum and plasma using ascorbate oxidase and *o*-phenylenediamine", *J. Nutr. Sci. Vitaminol. (Tokyo)* 46, 321–324.
- [17] Lee, W., Roberts, S.M. and Labbe, R.F. (1997) "Ascorbic acid determination with an automated enzymatic procedure", *Clin. Chem.* 43, 154–157.
- [18] Bode, A.M., Cunningham, L. and Rose, R.C. (1990) "Spontaneous decay of oxidized ascorbic acid (dehydro-Lascorbic acid) evaluated by high-pressure liquid chromatography", *Clin. Chem.* 36, 1807–1809.
- [19] Koshiishi, I., Mamura, Y. and Imanari, T. (1998) "Bicarbonate promotes a cleavage of lactone ring of dehydroascorbate", *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1379, 257–263.
- [20] Jung, C.H. and Wells, W.W. (1998) "Spontaneous conversion of L-dehydroascorbic acid to L-ascorbic acid and L-erythroascorbic acid", Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 355, 9–14.
- [21] Murphy, E.A. (1993) "Effectiveness of flushing on reducing lead and copper levels in school drinking water", *Environ. Health Perspect.* **101**, 240–241.
- [22] Pettersson, R. and Rasmussen, F. (1999) "Daily intake of copper from drinking water among young children in Sweden", Environ. Health Perspect. 107, 441-446.
- [23] Hackett, R.L., Shevock, P.N. and Khan, S.R. (1994) "Madin– Darby canine kidney cells are injured by exposure to oxalate and to calcium oxalate crystals", *Urol. Res.* 22, 197–203.
- [24] Miller, C., Kennington, L., Cooney, R., Kohjimoto, Y., Cao, L.C., Honeyman, T., Pullman, J., Jonassen, J. and Scheid, C. (2000)

"Oxalate toxicity in renal epithelial cells: characteristics of apoptosis and necrosis", *Toxicol. Appl. Pharmacol.* **162**, 132–141.

- [25] Fandos-Morera, A., Prats-Esteve, M., Tura-Soteras, J.M. and Traveria-Cros, A. (1988) "Breast tumors: composition of microcalcifications", *Radiology* 169, 325–327.
   [26] Haka, A.S., Shafer-Peltier, K.E., Fitzmaurice, M., Crowe, J., Descript P.B. and E.I.d. M.S. (2000) "Identifying microcalcifica-
- [26] Haka, A.S., Shater-Peltier, K.E., Fitzmaurice, M., Crowe, J., Dasari, R.R. and Feld, M.S. (2002) "Identifying microcalcifications in benign and malignant breast lesions by probing differences in their chemical composition using Raman spectroscopy", *Cancer Res.* 62, 5375–5380.
  [27] Rumsey, S.C., Kwon, O., Xu, G.W., Burant, C.F., Simpson, I.
- [27] Rumsey, S.C., Kwon, O., Xu, G.W., Burant, C.F., Simpson, I. and Levine, M. (1997) "Glucose transporter isoforms GLUT1 and GLUT3 transport dehydroascorbic acid", J. Biol. Chem. 272, 18982–18989.
- [28] Fiorani, M., De Sanctis, R., Scarlatti, F. and Stocchi, V. (1998) "Substrates of hexokinase, glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase, and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase

prevent the inhibitory response induced by ascorbic acid/iron and dehydroascorbic acid in rabbit erythrocytes", *Arch. Biochem. Biophys.* **356**, 159–166.

- [29] May, J.M., Qu, Z. and Morrow, J.D. (2001) "Mechanisms of ascorbic acid recycling in human erythrocytes", *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1528, 159–166.
- [30] Siushansian, R., Tao, L., Dixon, S.J. and Wilson, J.X. (1997) "Cerebral astrocytes transport ascorbic acid and dehydroascorbic acid through distinct mechanisms regulated by cyclic AMP", J. Neurochem. 68, 2378–2385.
- [31] Brown, S., Georgatos, M., Reifel, C., Song, J.H., Shin, S.H. and Hong, M. (2002) "Recycling processes of cellular ascorbate generate oxidative stress in pancreatic tissues in *in vitro* system", *Endocrine* 18, 91–96.
- [32] Song, J.H., Shin, S.H. and Ross, G.M. (2001) "Oxidative stress induced by ascorbate causes neuronal damage in an *in vitro* system", *Brain Res.* 895, 66–72.

# Effects of iron on Vitamin C/copper-induced hydroxyl radical generation in bicarbonate-rich water

# PATRIC J. JANSSON<sup>1</sup>, URKO DEL CASTILLO<sup>2</sup>, CHRISTER LINDQVIST<sup>3</sup>, & TOMMY NORDSTRÖM<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, PO. Box 66, 20521 Turku, Finland, <sup>2</sup>University of Basque Country, Spain, and <sup>3</sup>Department of Biology, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, PO. Box 66, 20521 Turku, Finland

Accepted by Professor B. Halliwell

(Received 29 June 2004; in revised form 4 August 2004)

#### Abstract

The aim of this study was to evaluate whether iron, like copper, could support Vitamin C mediated hydroxyl radical formation in bicarbonate-rich water. By using the hydroxyl radical indicator coumarin-3-carboxylic acid, we found that iron, in contrast to copper, was not capable to support Vitamin C induced hydroxyl radical formation. However, when 0.2 mg/l iron and 0.1 mg/l copper were both added to bicarbonate supplemented Milli-Q water, the Vitamin C induced formation of 7-hydroxycoumarin, as measured by HPLC analysis, was inhibited by 47.5%. The inhibition of hydroxyl radical formation by iron was also evident in the experiments performed on copper contaminated bicarbonate-rich household drinking water samples. In the presence of 0.2 mg/l of ferric iron the ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation was inhibited by 36.0–44.6%. This inhibition was even more significant, 47.0–59.2%, when 0.8 mg/l of ferric iron was present. None of the other redox-active metals, e.g. manganese, nickel or cobalt, could support sacorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation and did not have any impact on the ascorbic acid/copper-induced hydroxyl radical generation. Our results show, that iron cannot by itself produce hydroxyl radicals in bicarbonate rich water but can significantly reduce Vitamin C/copper-induced hydroxyl radical formation and did not have any impact on the ascorbic acid/copper-induced hydroxyl radical generation. Our results show, that iron cannot by itself produce hydroxyl radicals in bicarbonate rich water but can significantly reduce Vitamin C/copper-induced hydroxyl radical formation material formation and did not have any impact on the ascorbic acid/copper-induced hydroxyl radical protective effect on various copper related degenerative disorders that earlier has been observed in animal model systems.

Keywords: Vitamin C, water, iron, copper, bicarbonate

#### Introduction

The structure of iron and its capacity to vary its oxidation state and bind to different ligands gives iron a unique biochemical role. Iron is a highly precious metal for the growth and viability of all cells and indispensable for human survival. It is primarily required for hemoglobin synthesis, but it has also a crucial role in e.g. DNA synthesis, electron transport and many enzymatical activities throughout the body. Low dietary intake of iron, results in iron deficiency and anemia [1-3]. Iron has also been implicated in the pathogenesis of a variety of neurodegenerative disorders e.g. Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer disease MS and EAE [4-6], liver and heart disease [7-9], cancer [10,11], diabetes [12-13] and immune abnormalities [14,15]. The toxicity of iron has generally been attributed to its ability to reduce molecular oxygen, thus forming reduced oxygen species. One of the most accepted mechanisms by which iron is involved in free radical production is the Fenton/Haber-Weiss reaction cycle. In this reaction, hydroxyl radicals can be easily

Correspondence: T. Nordström, Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, P.O. Box 66, 20521 Turku, Finland. Tel: +358-2-2154004. Fax: +358-2-2154745. E-mail: tomnords@abo.fi

ISSN 1071-5762 print/ISSN 1029-2470 online © 2005 Taylor & Francis Ltd DOI: 10.1080/10715760400009233

generated by iron-catalyzed reduction of oxygen to superoxide that in turn can react with hydrogen peroxide [16]. Hydroxyl radicals can also directly be generated from hydrogen peroxide by the Fenton reaction:  $Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^- + OH^-$ [17,18]. Various iron chelators, such as EDTA and NTA, have also been shown to promote hydroxyl radical generation very effectively via the Haber-Weiss cycle in an ascorbate-driven Fenton reaction [19–22].

Ascorbate (Vitamin C) has been reported, *in vitro*, to mediate hydroxyl radical formation in the presence of iron [23–25]. Based on this, and the known fact that ascorbic acid can redox-cycle with iron, we have here evaluated whether iron, like copper, could have hydroxyl radical formation properties in a drinking water environment. We demonstrate here, that iron cannot by itself produce hydroxyl radicals in such an environment but it has an inhibitory effect on Vitamin C induced hydroxyl radical formation in copper contaminated bicarbonate-rich household drinking water.

#### Materials and methods

#### Chemicals

Coumarin-3-carboxylic acid, 7-hydroxycoumarin-3carboxylic acid (7-OHCCA), coumarin and 7-hydroxycoumarin (umbelliferone) were from Fluka, Switzerland. Ascorbic acid, ferric chloride tetrahydrate, ferrous chloride hexahydrate, calcium chloride dihydrate and cupric chloride dihydrate were purchased from Fluka, Riedel-deHaen, Germany. Tris[hydroxymethyl]aminomethane (TRIS base), manganese chloride tetrahydrate, nickel chloride hexahydrate, cadmium chloride anhydrous, gallium nitrate hydrate, zinc chloride, aluminium chloride hexahydrate, cobalt chloride hexahydrate, diethyldithiocarbamic acid, ferrozine (3-(2-pyridyl)-5,6-bis(4-phenyl-sulfonic acid)-1,2,4-triazine) and sodium bicarbonate were from Sigma, St. Louis, USA. Magnesium chloride hexahydrate were purchased from J.T. Baker, Denventer, Holland. Stock solutions of the chemicals used were prepared in Milli-Q water ( $18 M\Omega cm$ ) and protected from light. Samples of tap water were collected in sterile 15 ml polypropylene test tubes (Greiner) and stored at 4°C in the dark until used. All stock solutions of the reagents used in the assay were prepared fresh daily.

## Measurement of vitamin C induced hydroxyl radical formation by using coumarin-3-carboxylic acid

To measure hydroxyl radical formation in household drinking water or bicarbonate supplemented Milli-Q water, 200  $\mu$ l of the water samples were pipetted in triplicate onto a 96 well microtiter plate. After this, 200  $\mu$ M coumarin-3-carboxylic acid was added to all wells by using a 8 channel multiwell pipett followed by 2 mM ascorbic acid that started the reaction. The microtiter plate was incubated at room temperature in dark for 3 h and the reaction was stopped by pipetting 10 mM TRIS base to all wells. Addition of TRIS buffer adjusted the pH in the samples to 9.0 that maximized the pH dependent fluorescence signal of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid. The fluorescence was measured and the fluorescence values were converted into 7-OHCCA formed (nM) from the standard curve. All measurements were done at room temperature. The fluorescence of the samples and standards were measured with a Victor plate reader, Wallac, Finland. The optical filter set used was excitation 380 nm and emission 460 nm.

### Measurement of iron, copper and bicarbonate concentration in the water samples

The iron concentration in the drinking water samples was measured by using the iron specific reagent ferrozine [26]. For the assay, 200 µl aliquots in triplicate of the water samples were pipetted onto a 96 well microtiter plate followed by 400 µM of ferrozine and 100 µM ascorbic acid. Ascorbic acid was used to reduce the Fe(III) to the Fe(II) form. The colored Fe(II)-ferrozine complex formed was measured at 560 nm by using a Victor plate reader, Wallac, Finland. The absorbance values were converted to concentration by comparison with a standard curve. The standard curve was generated by adding known amounts of ferric chloride tetrahydrate,  $100 \,\mu M$ ascorbic acid and 400 µM ferrozine to Milli-Q water buffered with 100 mg/l bicarbonate. The copper and bicarbonate concentration in the water samples were measured as previously described [27,28].

## Measurement of hydroxyl radical formation by HPLC analysis

An isocratic HPLC system (Waters model 1515) equipped with a manual Rheodyne injection valve (25 µl loop) and a 2-channel UV/VIS detector (Waters model 2487) was used. The column used for the analysis was a Symmetry C18, 250×4.6 mm I.D, 10 µm particle size column (Waters). Chromatography was performed using isocratic elution using 150 mM phosphate buffer (KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>) containing 30% methanol, pH 3.0 (H<sub>3</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>). The flow rate was 0.75 ml/min. The indicator molecule used in the assay was coumarin that readily forms 7-hydroxycoumarin (umbelliferone) when attacked by hydroxyl radicals. The peaks were detected at 200 nm and analyzed by using the Waters Breeze software. For peak identification and calibration we used standards of coumarin, 7-hydroxycoumarin (umbelliferone) in Milli-Q water. All separations were performed at room temperature.

#### Results

#### Copper, but not iron, can support ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation in bicarbonate-rich water

We have earlier shown that addition of ascorbic acid to tap water samples contaminated with copper ions can trigger an ongoing production of hydroxyl radicals that can be detected by using coumarin-3-carboxylic acid [27,28]. In Figure 1, ascorbic acid (2 mM) was added to bicarbonate buffered Milli-Q water supplemented with different concentrations of either copper or iron. Even low concentrations of copper very (0.01-0.05 mg/l) were sufficient to give a detectable hydroxyl radical signal. On the contrary, when iron was used in the assay, no hydroxyl radical formation could be detected. Neither ferrous nor ferric iron could support any hydroxyl radical formation. Manganese, cadmium, nickel, cobalt, aluminum, magnesium, calcium and zinc (as chloride salts) or gallium (as nitrate salt) did not result in any detectable hydroxyl radical formation (tested by using the highest amount of the contaminants that is allowed in drinking water, Maximum Contaminant Level, MCL, data not shown).



Figure 1. Ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation in bicarbonate buffered Milli-Q water supplemented with copper or iron. 200  $\mu M$  coumarin-3-carboxylic acid followed by 2 mM ascorbic acid were added to Milli-Q water samples buffered with 100 mg/l bicarbonate and various concentrations of copper ( $\blacktriangle$ ), ferrous iron ( $\bullet$ ) or ferric iron ( $\bigcirc$ ). After 3 h incubation in dark at room temperature, the reaction was stopped by addition of 10 mM TRIS base. The fluorescence was measured and the fluorescence values were converted into 7-OHCCA formed (nM) from the standard curve. Data points are mean  $\pm$  SD of triplicates from one representative experiment out of three conducted. Where absent, error bars were smaller than the symbol.

## Inhibition of ascorbic acid/copper-catalyzed hydroxyl radical formation by iron

To further elucidate the effects of iron on Vitamin C induced hydroxyl radical formation in the presence of copper and bicarbonate, we used HPLC analysis. For the assay, coumarin was chosen as the target molecule. As shown in Figure 2A, 2 mM ascorbic acid, in the presence of 0.1 mg/l copper and 100 mg/l bicarbonate, promoted the formation of a family of hydroxylated coumarin compounds. We focused our analysis on one of these hydroxylated compounds, namely 7-hydroxycoumarin. Within 3h, 5.5 µM of 7-hydroxycoumarin was formed. When the copper ion was substituted with 0.2 mg/l ferric iron, no hydroxylated coumarin compounds appeared in the chromatogram (Figure 2B). In our experiments, 0.2 mg/l iron was used since this is the MCL for iron in drinking water in Finland. When 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to Milli-Q water that has been supplemented with 0.2 mg/l iron, 100 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.1 mg/l copper, a 47.5% reduction in the 7-hydroxycoumarin formation was observed (Figure 2C). In these chromatograms, based on the retention time for the standard, the peak that appeared at 22.5 min was identified as 7-hydroxycoumarin (Figure 2D). When manganese, cadmium, nickel, cobalt, gallium, aluminum, magnesium, calcium and zinc salts (chloride salt) were tested at their MCLs no inhibitory effect of the ascorbic acid/copper-mediated hydroxyl radical formation could be seen (data not shown).

### Effects of iron on Vitamin C/copper-induced hydroxyl radical formation in household drinking water samples

Next we evaluated whether iron has any impact on ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation in copper contaminated bicarbonate-rich drinking water samples. The copper concentration in the different water samples varied from 0.13 to 0.02 mg/l. The bicarbonate concentration varied between 77.6 and 130.1 mg/l. The drinking water samples had been sampled in the same way, directly drawn from the tap, but they originated from four different municipal water suppliers. The water samples used in the assay did not contain any detectable iron. When Vitamin C was added to these samples more than 900 nM of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid was formed (Table I). When 0.2 mg/l ferric iron was added to the tap water samples the ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation was inhibited by 36.0-44.6%. When the water samples were supplemented with 0.8 mg/l ferric iron the inhibition was significantly higher, 47.0-59.2%.

#### Discussion

We have previously shown that ascorbic acid can drive a hydroxyl radical generating process in copper and bicarbonate containing household drinking water



Figure 2. HPLC analysis of ascorbic acid induced hydroxylation of coumarin  $(100 \,\mu\text{M})$  in the presence of copper or iron. 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to Milli-Q water buffered with 100 mg/l bicarbonate containing (A) 0.1 mg/l copper (B) 0.2 mg/l ferric iron. (C) Both 0.1 mg/l copper and 0.2 mg/l ferric iron present. (D) Ascorbic acid standard (2 mM), 7-hydroxycoumarin standard (7  $\mu$ M) and coumarin standard (100  $\mu$ M) in Milli-Q water. Reaction time was 3 h.

[27,28]. Here we show, by using coumarin-3-carboxylic acid as a fluorescent probe for detection of hydroxyl radical formation, that even very low concentrations of copper ( $\leq 0.1 \text{ mg/l}$ ) are sufficient to give a significant hydroxyl radical signal. However, when copper was substituted by iron, ascorbic acid was not capable to stimulate hydroxyl radical formation (Figure 1). This was also demonstrated by using HPLC analysis. The HPLC data clearly showed that coumarin, in Milli-Q water supplemented with 100 mg/l bicarbonate, was strongly hydroxylated by ascorbic acid in the presence of copper ions but not in the presence of 0.2 mg/l iron alone (Figure 2A and B). Our results demonstrate that iron partly can inhibit the ascorbic acid/copper driven hydroxyl radical formation in a drinking water environment. When 0.2 mg/l iron was added to the Milli-Q water that had been supplemented with 100 mg/l bicarbonate and 0.1 mg/l copper, the ascorbic acid induced formation of 7-hydroxycoumarin was inhibited by 47.5% (Figure 2C). Our results are in agreement with the recent report by White *et al.*, demonstrating that iron can impair reductant-mediated copper and H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> generation and neurotoxicity [29]. Moreover, our results are in line with the recent findings by Munday *et al.* showing that copper-catalyzed cysteine oxidation

				Iron	supplementation		
			7-0	HCCA formed (n	M)	Percentage in	nhibition (%)
Sample No.	Copper (mg/l)	Bicarbonate (mg/l)	0.0 (mg/l)	0.2 (mg/l)	0.8 (mg/l)	0.2 (mg/l)	0.8 (mg/l)
1	$0.15 \pm 0.00$	$92.2 \pm 2.6$	$965.8 \pm 7.2$	$593.4 \pm 3.6$	$454.3 \pm 9.8$	$38.6 \pm 0.4$	52.9 ± 1.0
2	$0.20 \pm 0.02$	$130.1 \pm 5.7$	$990.2 \pm 58.9$	$575.5 \pm 53.9$	$428.1 \pm 16.4$	$41.9 \pm 5.6$	$56.8 \pm 1.7$
3	$0.15 \pm 0.01$	$77.6 \pm 4.3$	$1093.8 \pm 94.7$	$699.6 \pm 19.6$	$579.8 \pm 4.7$	$36.0 \pm 1.8$	$47.0 \pm 0.4$
4	$0.13\pm0.01$	$101.4\pm2.1$	$904.6\pm20.9$	$501.2\pm51.6$	$369.2\pm6.8$	$44.6\pm5.7$	$59.2\pm0.8$

Table I. Effects of iron on Vitamin C/copper induced hydroxyl radical formation in drinking water.

Vitamin C (2 mM) induced hydroxyl radical formation was measured in tap water samples (numbered 1-4) supplemented with either 0.2 or 0.8 mg/l of ferric iron by using the coumarin-3-carboxylic acid assay. The values shown are the concentration of 7-hydroxycoumarin-3-carboxylic acid formed after 3 h incubation in dark at room temperature. Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  SD of triplicates of one representative experiment out of three conducted.

can be partly inhibited by low concentrations of iron salts [30]. In this context, it can also be mentioned that Menditto et al. showed that loading of seminal plasma with either ferrous or ferric iron up to a concentration of 50 µM only modestly affected the rate of ascorbic acid oxidation [31]. The low oxidation rate of ascorbic acid by iron was also seen in our in vitro experiments. Low concentrations of copper, however, as shown here, induces rapid oxidation of ascorbic acid [31,32]. Interestingly, it was recently reported that, feeding trace amounts of copper (0.12 mg/l) in drinking water to cholesterol-fed rabbits could induce signs of Alzheimer's disease [33]. Moreover, injection of iron into cholesterol-fed rabbits has recently been reported to cause iron accumulation in the cerebral cortex [34]. One question to be addressed is then whether simultaneous administration of iron could slow down the copper mediated degenerative process.

The data shown in Table I, clearly demonstrate how iron can affect hydroxyl radical formation in copper contaminated, bicarbonate rich household drinking water samples. The formation of hydroxyl radicals in the drinking water samples, in the presence of ascorbic acid, was inhibited by 36.0-44.6% when 0.2 mg/l of ferric iron was present. This inhibition was even more significant, 47.0-59.2%, when 0.8 mg/l of ferric iron was present during the 3h incubation period with ascorbic acid. Thus, as shown here, iron can to some extent prevent copper/reductant-induced formation of harmful hydroxyl radicals. The exact mechanism by which iron inhibits ascorbic acid/copper-induced hydroxyl radical formation in our water samples is not clear. The inhibition is unlikely to result from an experimental artifact since it is well known that coumarin-3-carboxylic acid can be used to detect iron driven hydroxyl radical reactions. [22,35,36] Moreover, our HPLC experiments using coumarin as the target molecule gave similar results. A plausible explanation for the iron-induced inhibition could be that ferric iron reacts with the superoxide generated from the copper/ascorbate redox reaction. Ferrous iron might also react with hydrogen peroxide and

generate water and ferryl ions according to the Bray-Gorin reaction [37].

Iron is an essential micronutrient and the presence of iron in household drinking water is therefore not considered to be harmful. In fact, the intake of iron from drinking water, partly contributes to our daily iron intake. However, due to its offensive taste, color, foaming, odor, corrosion and staining of the drinking water, iron is considered by the water plants as a secondary contaminant. These characteristics are also the reason why excess iron in the drinking water is normally removed or adjusted to very low levels. Our results, however, indicate that complete removal of iron from the raw water in the water plants can to some extent increase the redox activity of copper, and the formation of reactive oxygen species in the drinking water. Moreover, iron deficiency can also increase the intestinal absorption of more harmful metals such as cadmium, lead, and aluminum [38].

In conclusion, our results demonstrate that iron cannot support ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation in a simple bicarbonate environment but unexpectedly displayed an inhibitory effect on the ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation process when copper was present. This phenomenon was also evident in our experiments performed in household drinking water samples. Thus, in the presence of bicarbonate, iron might function as an important regulator of copper/reductant-induced hydroxyl radical formation and copper mediated tissue damage. Our results might, to some extent, explain the mechanism for the iron induced protective effect that earlier has been seen in animal model systems.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Magnus Ehrnrooth foundation, Paulon Säätiö, K. Albin Johanssons Stiftelse, Stiftelsen för Åbo Akademi, Academy of Finland and Svenska Kulturfonden.

#### 570 P.J. Jansson et al.

#### References

- Lozoff B, Brittenham GM, Viteri FE, Wolf AW, Urrutia JJ. The effects of short-term oral iron therapy on developmental deficits in iron-deficient anemic infants. J Pediatr 1982;100:351–357.
- [2] Aukett MA, Parks YA, Scott PH, Wharton BA. Treatment with iron increases weight gain and psychomotor development. Arch Dis Child 1986;61:849–857.
- [3] Lozoff B, Jimenez E, Wolf AW. Long-term developmental outcome of infants with iron deficiency. N Engl J Med 1991;325:687-694.
- [4] Sayre LM, Perry G, Atwood CS, Smith MA. The role of metals in neurodegenerative diseases. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-legrand) 2000;46:731-741.
- [5] Halliwell B. Role of free radicals in the neurodegenerative diseases: Therapeutic implications for antioxidant treatment. Drugs Aging 2001;18:685–716.
- [6] Berg D, Gerlach M, Youdim MB, Double KL, Zecca L, Riederer P, Becker G. Brain iron pathways and their relevance to Parkinson's disease. J Neurochem 2001;79:225–236.
- [7] Liu P, Olivieri N. Iron overload cardiomyopathies: New insights into an old disease. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 1994;8:101–110.
- [8] Rasmussen ML, Folsom AR, Catellier DJ, Tsai MY, Garg U, Eckfeldt JH. A prospective study of coronary heart disease and the hemochromatosis gene (HE) C282Y mutation: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) study. Atherosclerosis 2001;154:739–746.
- [9] Britton RS, Leicester KL, Bacon BR. Iron toxicity and chelation theraphy. Int J Hematol 2002;76:219–228.
- [10] Okada S. Iron-induced tissue damage and cancer: The role of reactive oxygen species-free radicals. Pathol Int 1996; 46:311-332.
- [11] Stevens RG. Iron and the risk of cancer. Med Oncol Tumor Pharmacother 1990;7:177-181.
- [12] Perez de Nanclares G, Castano L, Gaztambide S, Bilbao JR, Pi J, Gonzalez ML, Vazquez JA. Excess iron storage in patients with type 2 diabetes unrelated to primary hemochromatosis. N Engl J Med 2000;343:890–891.
- [13] Thomas MC, MacIsaac RJ, Tsalamandris C, Jerums G. Elevated iron indices in patients with diabetes. Diabet Med 2004;7:798-802.
- [14] Li J, Zhu Y, Singal DP. HFE gene mutations in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol 2000;27:2074–2077.
- [15] Walker EM, Jr, Walker SM. Effects of iron overload on the immune system. Ann Clin Lab Sci 2000;30:354–365.
- [16] Haber F, Weiss J. The catalytic decomposition of hydrogen peroxide by iron salts. Proc Roy Soc 1934;147:332–351.
- [17] Fenton HJH. On a new reaction of tartaric acid. Chem News 1876;33:190.
- [18] Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Biologically relevant metal ion dependent hydroxyl radical generation. An update. FEBS Lett 1992;307:108–112.
- [19] Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Oxygen free radicals and iron in relation to biology and medicine: Some problems and concepts. Arch Biochem Biophys 1986;246:501–514.
- [20] Burkitt MJ, Gilbert BC. Model studies of the iron-catalysed Haber-Weiss cycle and the ascorbate-driven Fenton reaction. Free Radic Res Commun 1990;10:265–280.

- [21] Prabhu HR, Krishnamurthy S. Ascorbate-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals in the presence of iron chelates. Indian J Biochem Biophys 1993;30:289–292.
- [22] Lindqvist C, Nordstrom T. Generation of hydroxyl radicals by the antiviral compound phosphonoformic acid (foscarnet). Pharmacol Toxicol 2001;89:49–55.
- [23] Higson FK, Kohen R, Chevion M. Iron enhancement of ascorbate toxicity. Free Radic Res Commun 1988;5:107–115.
- [24] Schneider JE, Browning MM, Floyd RA. Ascorbate/iron mediation of hydroxyl free radical damage to PBR322 plasmid DNA. Free Radic Biol Med 1988;5:287–295.
- [25] Toyokuni S, Sagripanti JL. Iron-mediated DNA damage: Sensitive detection of DNA strand breakage catalyzed by iron. J Inorg Biochem 1992;47:241–248.
- [26] Boyer RF, Grabill TW, Petrovich RM. Reductive release of ferritin iron: A kinetic assay. Anal. Biochem. 1988;174:17–22.
- [27] Asplund KU, Jansson PJ, Lindqvist C, Nordstrom T. Measurement of ascorbic acid (vitamin C) induced hydroxyl radical generation in household drinking water. Free Radic Res 2002;36:1271–1276.
- [28] Jansson PJ, Asplund KU, Makela JC, Lindqvist C, Nordstrom T. Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) induced hydroxyl radical formation in copper contaminated household drinking water: Role of bicarbonate concentration. Free Radic Res 2003;37:901–905.
- [29] White AR, Barnham KJ, Huang X, Voltakis I, Beyreuther K, Masters CL, Cherny RA, Bush AI, Cappai R. Iron inhibits neurotoxicity induced by trace copper and biological reductants. J Biol Inorg Chem 2004;9:269–280.
- [30] Munday R, Munday CM, Winterbourn CC. Inhibition of copper-catalyzed cysteine oxidation by nanomolar concentrations of iron salts. Free Radic Biol Med 2004;36:757–764.
- [31] Menditto A, Pietraforte D, Minetti M. Ascorbic acid in human seminal plasma is protected from iron-mediated oxidation, but is potentially exposed to copper-induced damage. Hum Reprod 1997;12:1699–1705.
- [32] Jansson PJ, Jung HR, Lindqvist C, Nordstrom T. Oxidative decomposition of Vitamin C in drinking water. Free Radic Res 2004;38:855–860.
- [33] Sparks DL, Schreurs BG. Trace amounts of copper in water induce beta-amyloid plaques and learning deficits in a rabbit model of Alzheimer's disease. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003;100:11065–11069.
- [34] Ong WY, Tan B, Pan N, Jenner A, Whiteman M, Ong CN, Watt F, Halliwell B. Increased iron staining in the cerebral cortex of cholesterol fed rabbits. Mech Ageing Dev 2004;125:305-313.
- [35] Kachur AV, Manevich Y, Biaglow JE. Effect of purine nucleoside phosphates on OH-radical generation by reaction of Fe2+with oxygen. Free Radic Res 1997;26:399–408.
- [36] Kachur AV, Tuttle SW, Biaglow JE. Autoxidation of ferrous ion complexes: A method for the generation of hydroxyl radicals. Radiat Res 1998;150:475–482.
- [37] Bray WC, Gorin MH. Ferryl ion, a compound of tetravalent iron. Am Chem Soc 1932;54:2124–2125.
- [38] Goyer RA. Toxic and essential metal interactions. Annu Rev Nutr 1997;17:37–50.



# Iron prevents ascorbic acid (vitamin C) induced hydrogen peroxide accumulation in copper contaminated drinking water

#### PATRIC J. JANSSON<sup>1</sup>, CHRISTER LINDQVIST<sup>2</sup>, & TOMMY NORDSTRÖM<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, Tykistönkatu 6, FIN 20520 Turku, Finland, and <sup>2</sup>Department of Biology, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, Tykistönkatu 6, FIN 20520 Turku, Finland

Accepted by Professor B. Halliwell

(Received 8 April 2005; in revised form 29 June 2005)

#### Abstract

Ascorbic acid (vitamin C) induced hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  formation was measured in household drinking water and metal supplemented Milli-Q water by using the FOX assay. Here we show that ascorbic acid readily induces  $H_2O_2$  formation in Cu(II) supplemented Milli-Q water and poorly buffered household drinking water. In contrast to Cu(II), iron was not capable to support ascorbic acid induced  $H_2O_2$  formation during acidic conditions (pH: 3.5–5). In 12 out of the 48 drinking water samples incubated with 2 mM ascorbic acid, the  $H_2O_2$  concentration exceeded 400  $\mu$ M. However, when trace amounts of Fe(III) (0.2 mg/I) was present during incubation, the ascorbic acid/Cu(II)-induced  $H_2O_2$  accumulation was totally blocked. Of the other common divalent or trivalent metal ions tested, that are normally present in drinking water (calcium, magnesium, inc, cobalt, manganese or aluminum), only calcium and magnesium displayed a modest inhibitory activity on the ascorbic acid/Cu(II)-induced  $H_2O_2$  formation. Oxalic acid, one of the degradation products from ascorbic acid, was confirmed to actively participate in the iron induced degradation of  $H_2O_2$ . Ascorbic acid/Cu(II)-induced  $H_2O_2$  formation during acidic conditions, as demonstrated here in poorly buffered drinking water, could be of importance in host defense against bacterial infections. In addition, our findings might explain the mechanism for the protective effect of iron against vitamin C induced cell toxicity.

Keywords: Vitamin C, water, iron, copper, oxalic acid

#### Introduction

Ascorbic acid (Vitamin C) is a water-soluble natural antioxidant that has been proposed to have beneficial effects on many age-related diseases such as atherosclerosis, cancer, neurodegenerative and ocular diseases [1-7]. It is believed that ascorbic acid can scavenge reactive oxygen- and nitrogen species and thereby prevent oxidative damage to important biological macromolecules such as DNA, lipids and proteins [8–11]. On the other hand, it has also been shown that ascorbic acid can, in the presence of transition metal ions such as Cu(II) and Fe(III), function as a strong pro-oxidant [12–15].

The pro-oxidant activity of ascorbic acid is due to its ability to redox-cycle with transition metal ions, and thereby stimulate the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as superoxide  $(O_2^{-})$ , hydrogen peroxide  $(H_2O_2)$  and hydroxyl radicals (OH·). It is generally believed, that the cellular damage is caused by the hydroxyl radical (OH·). The hydroxyl radical can be directly formed from  $H_2O_2$  and Fe(II) through the Fenton reaction:  $Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^- +$  $OH \cdot [16,17]$ . This reaction can be strongly catalyzed if certain metal chelators such as EDTA and NTA and a reducing agent such as ascorbic acid are present [18– 21]. Thus, in the absence of metal ions,  $H_2O_2$  is not

Correspondence: T. Nordström, Department of Biochemistry and Pharmacy, Åbo Akademi University, BioCity, Tykistönkatu. 6, FIN 20520 Turku, Finland. Tel: 358 2 2154004. Fax: 358 2 2154745. E-mail: tomnords@abo.fi

ISSN 1071-5762 print/ISSN 1029-2470 online © 2005 Taylor & Francis DOI: 10.1080/10715760500249861

very reactive by itself, but imposes a threat due to its ability to easily diffuse through the cell membrane and then participate in metal induced free radical reactions inside the cell [22,23].

There are conflicting and confusing information regarding ascorbate and its cytotoxicity in the literature. Some reports clearly show that ascorbate is highly cytotoxic to cells [24–28], while others demonstrate that ascorbic acid can protect cells from pro-oxidative insult [1–7]. The toxic effect of ascorbic acid in cell systems has been attributed to  $H_2O_2$  formation in the cell culture [29–31].

We have previously shown that ascorbic acid can trigger a pH dependent hydroxyl radical generating process in Cu(II) contaminated bicarbonate-buffered drinking water [32]. We found that this reaction could take place at pH levels above the  $pK_{al}$  value 4.25 of ascorbic acid. Here we have studied the chemical reactions that take place when ascorbic acid is added to either Cu(II) supplemented Milli-Q water or Cu(II) contaminated poorly buffered household drinking waters. We have addressed the question whether ascorbic acid can initiate a  $H_2O_2$  accumulation process during acidic conditions (pH below 4.25) that do not support hydroxyl radical formation. The impact of iron on this process is studied in detail.

#### Materials and methods

#### Chemicals

Ascorbic acid, oxalic acid, ferrous chloride hexahydrate, ammonium ferrous sulfate, calcium chloride dihydrate and cupric chloride dihydrate were purchased from Fluka, Riedel-deHaen, Germany. Manganese chloride tetrahydrate, zinc chloride, cobalt chloride hexahydrate, xylenol orange sodium salt and 2,6-Di-tert-butyl-4-methanol-phenol were from Sigma, St. Louis, USA. Magnesium chloride hexahydrate was purchased from J.T. Baker, Denventer, Holland. Stock solutions of the chemicals used were prepared in Milli-Q water (18 M $\Omega$  cm) and protected from light. Samples of tap water were collected in sterile 15 mL polypropylene test tubes (Greiner) and stored at 4°C in the dark until used. All stock solutions of the reagents used in the assay were prepared fresh daily.

#### Measurement of vitamin C induced $H_2O_2$ formation in drinking water

Measurement of  $H_2O_2$  in household drinking water and domestic bottled waters was performed by using the FOX assay as described earlier [33]. Briefly, the FOX reagent was prepared by mixing 9 volumes of FOX-1 reagent (4.4 mM 2,6-Di-tert-butyl-4-methanol-phenol in 100% HPLC grade methanol) with 1 volume of FOX-2 reagent (1 mM xylenol orange sodium salt and 2.56 mM ammonium ferrous sulfate in 250 mM sulfuric acid). In the assay, 2 mM of ascorbic acid was added to the different water samples to initiate the reaction. After various time periods, 25  $\mu$ l samples were withdrawn from the tubes and pipetted into an eppendorf tube containing 750  $\mu$ l FOX-reagent. The mixture was vortexed for 5 s and incubated at room temperature for 30 min. After this, 200  $\mu$ l of the mixture was pipetted in triplicates onto a 96 well microtiter plate and the absorbance of the samples and standards were measured at 560 nm with a Victor plate reader, Wallac, Finland. The absorbance values were converted to concentration by comparison with a standard curve where known concentrations of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> were used.

#### Results

### Copper, but not iron, can support ascorbic acid induced $H_2O_2$ formation in Milli-Q water

We have previously shown that addition of ascorbic acid to bicarbonate buffered tap water samples contaminated with Cu(II) ions can generate hydroxyl radicals [34-35]. In this study, we have evaluated whether ascorbic acid has the ability to induce  $H_2O_2$ formation in Cu(II) contaminated drinking water. To study this, we first used Milli-Q water as a model system. As can be seen in Table I, ascorbic acid induced a substantial increase in the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentration (499.2  $\pm$  5.5  $\mu$ M) in Milli-Q water supplemented with 0.1 mg/l of Cu(II). This concentration of Cu(II) is 20 times below the amount of copper that is allowed in drinking water in Europe (Maximum Contaminant Level, MCL). The H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> formation was very rapid and  $293.7 \pm 5.5 \, \mu M \, H_2O_2$  could already be detected after 1 h incubation (Figure 1). On the contrary, when Fe(III), was used in the assay, low concentrations  $45.3 \pm 8.9 \,\mu\text{M}$  of  $H_2O_2$  could be detected after 6 h. When Ca(II), Mg(II), Zn(II), Mn(II), Co(II) or Al(III) were used in the assay, the concentration of  $H_2O_2$ varied between 57.6  $\pm$  3.1 and 120.9  $\pm$  4.7  $\mu M.$ (Table I). These metal ions were tested by using their highest concentration that is allowed in drinking water (MCL in Europe).

#### Effects of ferric iron on ascorbic acid/copper-induced $H_2O_2$ formation in Milli-Q water

We have recently shown that ferric iron can interfere with ascorbic acid/Cu(II)-induced hydroxyl radical formation in drinking water [35]. To examine whether ferric iron also affects ascorbic acid/Cu(II)-induced  $H_2O_2$  formation in Milli-Q water, we next measured  $H_2O_2$  formation in the presence of various divalent and trivalent cations (Table II). When ferric iron, 0.2 mg/l, was present in the assay, a very weak inhibition could be observed during the first hour (Table II). After 2 h incubation the concentration of

				~	Aetal ion added (mg/l)				
Time (h)	None	Cu(II) (0.1 mg/l)	Fe(III) (0.2 mg/l)	Mn(II) (0.5 mg/l)	Co(II) (0.2 mg/l)	Al(III) (0.2 mg/l)	Zn(II) (0.5 mg/l)	Mg(II) (50 mg/l)	Ca(II) (100 mg/l)
0.25	$7.1 \pm 0.1$	$139.4 \pm 4.0$	$17.6 \pm 0.1$	$6.4 \pm 0.1$	$8.7 \pm 0.1$	$25.0 \pm 2.3$	$0.9 \pm 3.1$	$6.4\pm1.6$	$6.4 \pm 0.1$
1	$18.1 \pm 2.4$	$293.7 \pm 5.5$	$18.4 \pm 1.9$	$10.4 \pm 1.4$	$21.4 \pm 0.8$	$29.0 \pm 1.7$	$12.0 \pm 3.1$	$9.8\pm1.5$	$14.8\pm0.8$
2	$27.6 \pm 1.6$	$402.6 \pm 3.9$	$27.8 \pm 4.9$	$19.2 \pm 0.8$	$37.6 \pm 0.1$	$32.7\pm0.6$	$24.2 \pm 1.6$	$21.4 \pm 0.8$	$23.7\pm0.8$
6	$35.9 \pm 3.9$	$455.9\pm0.8$	$34.5 \pm 1.4$	$30.3 \pm 0.8$	$57.0 \pm 0.8$	$45.3 \pm 1.1$	$40.3 \pm 0.8$	$28.1 \pm 0.8$	$34.8 \pm 2.4$
4	$50.3 \pm 3.9$	$486.4 \pm 3.1$	$47.3 \pm 4.2$	$40.9 \pm 1.6$	$84.8\pm2.4$	$49.4 \pm 1.7$	$55.9 \pm 2.4$	$40.3 \pm 2.4$	$50.3 \pm 0.8$
5	$47.6\pm6.3$	$497.0 \pm 3.9$	$45.6 \pm 3.2$	$52.0 \pm 1.6$	$96.4 \pm 0.1$	$60.1 \pm 1.3$	$66.4 \pm 6.2$	$51.4 \pm 2.4$	$49.8\pm0.1$
9	$52.0 \pm 9.4$	$499.2\pm5.5$	$45.3 \pm 8.9$	$63.1 \pm 0.1$	$120.9\pm4.7$	$71.3 \pm 0.6$	$81.4 \pm 3.9$	$57.6 \pm 3.1$	$68.7 \pm 3.1$

representative experiment out of three conducted.

Table I. Vitamin C induced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> formation in Milli-Q water in the presence of various metal ions

Hydrogen peroxide formation in drinking water 1235



Figure 1. Effects of Iron/oxalic acid on ascorbic acid/Cu(II)induced hydrogen peroxide accumulation in Milli-Q water. (A) 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to Milli-Q water samples containing either 0.1 mg/l Cu(II) (•); 0.1 mg/l Cu(II) and 0.2 mg/l Fe(III) ( $\blacktriangle$ ); 50  $\mu$ M oxalic acid, 0.2 mg/l Fe(III) and 0.1 mg/l copper ( $\triangle$ ) or 50  $\mu$ M oxalic acid and 0.1 mg/l copper ( $\Box$ ). Where indicated by an arrow, 50  $\mu$ M oxalic acid and 0.2 mg/l Fe(III) were added to a sample incubated for 2 h with 2mM ascorbic acid and 0.1 mg/l Cu(II) ( $\bigcirc$ ). Data points are mean  $\pm$  SD of three experiments. If absent, error bars are smaller than the symbols.

 $H_2O_2$  reached  $300.9 \pm 10.5 \,\mu M$  and after this the concentration of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> started to decrease in the water sample. After 6 h incubation, the H2O2 level had decreased to  $57.0 \pm 10.4 \,\mu\text{M}$  as compared to  $509.5 \pm 14.8 \,\mu M$  measured in the control sample not containing iron. Other metal ion species that might be present in drinking water, Zn(II), Co(II), Mn(II) or Al(III) did not have any impact on the ascorbic acid/(CuII)-induced  $H_2O_2$  formation. A modest inhibition in H2O2 formation could be seen when Mg(II) or Ca(II) were present. However, the concentrations of Mg(II) and Ca(II) were 250and 500-fold higher than the concentration of iron used in the assay. This is because the concentration of all the metal ions used in the assay are the amounts of these contaminants that are currently allowed in drinking water (MCL in Europe).

# Iron/oxalic acid inhibits ascorbic acid/copper-catalyzed $H_2O_2$ formation

In our previous work, we have established that oxalic acid is one of the degradation products generated when ascorbic acid is oxidatively decomposed in copper contaminated drinking water [36]. This implies that oxalic acid might participate in the iron catalyzed  $H_2O_2$  decomposition, since oxalic acid is known to have high affinity for ferric iron even at very low pH. To verify this, 0.1 mg/l Cu(II) and 2 mM

				Metal ions (mg/l)	present in copper suppl	lemented MQ-water		
Time (h)	Only Cu(II) (0.1 mg/l)	Fe(III) (0.2 mg/l)	Mn(II) (0.5 mg/l)	Co(II) (0.2 mg/l)	Al(III) (0.2 mg/l)	Zn(II) (0.5 mg/l)	Mg(II) (50 mg/l)	Ca(II) (100 mg/l)
0.25	$141.4\pm3.9$	$131.4 \pm 2.4$	$144.8\pm0.8$	$135.3 \pm 1.6$	$133.9\pm0.6$	$119.2 \pm 3.9$	$132.6 \pm 2.4$	$137.0 \pm 0.8$
1	$308.4\pm17.9$	$282.8 \pm 11.6$	$320.9 \pm 7.9$	$325.3 \pm 6.3$	$310.5\pm5.6$	$300.9 \pm 11.0$	$282.0 \pm 12.6$	$294.8 \pm 5.5$
2	$413.1 \pm 12.8$	$300.9\pm10.5$	$399.8 \pm 3.1$	$410.3\pm5.5$	$402.0 \pm 5.1$	$385.3 \pm 6.3$	$358.7 \pm 4.7$	$347.6 \pm 4.7$
3	$457.0 \pm 8.7$	$245.6 \pm 27.4$	$440.3\pm0.8$	$445.3 \pm 3.1$	$459.0 \pm 6.8$	$439.2 \pm 7.1$	$387.6 \pm 1.6$	$373.1 \pm 4.7$
4	$492.8 \pm 11.5$	$175.9 \pm 18.9$	$471.4\pm2.4$	$485.3\pm4.7$	$459.8 \pm 7.7$	$466.4 \pm 3.1$	$407.0\pm0.8$	$404.2\pm1.6$
5	$501.7 \pm 8.6$	$102.3\pm18.4$	$493.7\pm0.8$	$508.7 \pm 3.1$	$486.4\pm8.7$	$488.7 \pm 14.1$	$433.1 \pm 7.9$	$409.2 \pm 2.4$
9	$509.5\pm14.8$	$57.0\pm10.4$	$502.0\pm9.4$	$511.4 \pm 5.5$	$502.0 \pm 1.1$	$500.9\pm6.3$	$434.2\pm0.1$	$420.3\pm2.4$
Time depend	ent formation of H <sub>2</sub> O <sub>2</sub> by	y ascorbic acid (2 mM) ir	1 Milli-Q water suppler	nented with 0.1 mg/l C	u(II) and various ion s	pecies (concentrations u	sed are their MCL in Eu	rope). The values

Effects of metal ions on ascorbic acid/copper induced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> formation in MQ-water

Table II.

ascorbic acid were added to Milli-Q water supplemented with both iron and oxalic acid. When 0.2 mg/l Fe(III) and  $50 \,\mu\text{M}$  oxalic acid were present from the start of the reaction, extremely low concentrations of  $H_2O_2$  could be detected in the Milli-Q water (Figure 1). Likewise, when 0.2 mg/lFe(III) and  $50 \,\mu\text{M}$  oxalic acid were added to the ascorbic/Cu(II) induced  $H_2O_2$  generating reaction after 2 h incubation, the  $H_2O_2$  concentration in the sample rapidly decreased. Furthermore, when oxalic acid alone was present in the assay from the beginning, the ascorbic acid/Cu(II)-induced  $H_2O_2$  formation was also affected.

Ascorbic acid induced  $H_2O_2$  accumulation in household drinking water–The relationship between copper, iron and bicarbonate

Next, we measured the amount of  $H_2O_2$  that was formed during a 6-h incubation when 2 mM ascorbic acid was added to 40 tap water samples and 8 domestic bottled water samples (Table III). The drinking water samples tested had been sampled in the same way (directly drawn from the tap) but they originated from different municipal water suppliers. The observed levels of  $H_2O_2$  generated varied between 0 and 488.4  $\mu$ M.

When ascorbic acid was added to the low buffered drinking water samples that were contaminated with copper, H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was generated. However, in some of the drinking water samples that were contaminated with copper but showed higher buffering capacity, much lower levels of H2O2 was formed in the presence of ascorbic acid. Therefore, to study the impact of bicarbonate on the H2O2 formation, we next performed experiments in Milli-Q water supplemented with various concentrations of bicarbonate. As shown in Figure 2, the ascorbic acid induced accumulation of H2O2 in the presence of 0.1 mg/l copper was significantly decreased when the concentrations of bicarbonate was increased. Consequently, in the presence of bicarbonate, lower concentrations of ferric iron was required to inhibit the hydrogen peroxide accumulation.

#### Discussion

We have previously shown that addition of ascorbic acid (vitamin C) to tap water samples contaminated with Cu(II) ions can generate hydroxyl radicals [32,34,35]. Here, we have studied whether ascorbic acid can initiate a  $H_2O_2$  accumulating reaction in Cu(II) contaminated poorly buffered drinking water or Cu(II) supplemented Milli-Q water. Our results show that ascorbic acid can initiate a time dependent accumulation of  $H_2O_2$  in copper contaminated poorly buffered drinking water. The  $H_2O_2$  formation occurred at very low concentration of Cu(II) ions

			Ч	anna anna	,						
Sample number	$H_2O_2$ ( $\mu$ M) formation	Sample number	$H_2O_2$ ( $\mu$ M) formation	Sample number	$H_2O_2 \ (\mu M)$ formation	Sample number	$H_2O_2$ ( $\mu$ M) formation	Sample number	$H_2O_2 \ (\mu M)$ formation	Sample number	$\begin{array}{l} H_2O_2 \; (\mu M) \\ formation \end{array}$
1	$417.3 \pm 17.4$	6	$219.5 \pm 8.2$	17	0	25	$282.8 \pm 20.3$	33	$106.7 \pm 27.4$	41	$43.7 \pm 12.8$
5	$20.1 \pm 13.2$	10	$92.0 \pm 13.1$	18	$396.4 \pm 7.1$	26	$62.6 \pm 3.5$	34	$294.5 \pm 19.0$	42	$123.9 \pm 2.5$
3	$252.6 \pm 22.9$	11	$96.4 \pm 20.6$	19	$408.1 \pm 10.8$	27	$398.9\pm9.2$	35	$175.9\pm8.2$	43	$97.3 \pm 13.4$
4	$85.6\pm4.3$	12	$482.0 \pm 19.0$	20	$426.7 \pm 16.2$	28	$361.7 \pm 3.9$	36	$175.9\pm4.9$	44	$71.2 \pm 42.7$
۰ د	$481.7 \pm 13.6$	13	$115.9 \pm 7.8$	21	$160.3 \pm 3.8$	29	$142.8\pm8.8$	37	$356.7 \pm 12.3$	45	$226.2 \pm 11.7$
9	$488.4 \pm 8.8$	14	$177.6 \pm 32.2$	22	$476.4 \pm 30.2$	30	$440.3\pm8.7$	38	$188.9 \pm 6.8$	46	$44.2\pm8.5$
7	$488.4 \pm 16.6$	15	$454.2 \pm 9.1$	23	$121.4\pm5.9$	31	$252.6 \pm 3.9$	39	$375.9 \pm 8.6$	47	$457.8 \pm 12.5$
8	$219.2 \pm 7.1$	16	$326.4 \pm 12.8$	24	$67.3 \pm 6.9$	32	$305.1 \pm 7.4$	40	$135.6\pm42.7$	48	$474.2\pm4.4$

Table III. Vitamin C induced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> formation in drinking water.



Figure 2. Effect of bicarbonate and iron on ascorbic acid induced hydrogen peroxide accumulation. Ascorbic acid (2 mM) and various concentrations of Fe(III) were added to Milli-Q water supplemented with 0.1 mg/l Cu(II) and 0 mg/l ( $\bullet$ ); 25 mg/l ( $\odot$ ); 50 mg/l ( $\blacktriangle$ ) and 100 mg/l ( $\triangle$ ) HCO<sub>3</sub>. The H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> concentration was measured in the samples after a 6 h incubation at room temperature. Data points are mean  $\pm$  SD of three experiments.

(20 times below the amount of copper that is allowed in drinking water (MCL in Europe)). Of the other metals tested, only Co(II) generated significant amounts of  $H_2O_2$  (Table I).

The ascorbic acid induced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> accumulation in copper supplemented Milli-Q water was significantly higher than the H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> formation observed earlier in cell culture and cell culture medium [37,38]. However, addition of ascorbic acid to the Milli-Q water model system used in our experiments, resulted in a much more acidic milieu (pH 3.5) than the one normally seen in buffered cell culture medium. Also the pH in our drinking water samples were close to or under the  $pK_{al}$  value of ascorbic acid (4.25). During more neutral conditions (pH 6-6.5) that was obtained when magnesium ascorbate, calcium ascorbate or sodium ascorbate were added to Cu(II) supplemented Milli-Q water, less amount of H2O2 was generated within 6 h (data not shown). These results are in better agreement with the amounts of H2O2 generated in cell cultures and cell culture medium [37,38]. This emphasizes the importance of pH in the ability of ascorbic acid to induce H2O2 accumulation in the presence of Cu(II) ions.

In our hands, of the metal ions tested, only Fe(III) was found to strongly affect the ascorbic acid/Cu(II) induced  $H_2O_2$  formation in Milli-Q water during acidic conditions (pH 3.5) (Table II). The inhibition of the  $H_2O_2$  accumulation could be observed after 2 h incubation, and after 6 h incubation the majority of the  $H_2O_2$  formed had been eliminated from the water

sample (Table II, Figure 1). The shape of the ascorbic acid/Cu(II) induced  $H_2O_2$  curve, obtained in the presence of ferric iron, strongly indicated that a metabolite from ascorbic acid might be involved in the  $H_2O_2$  decomposition reaction. Consistent with this assumption, we found that oxalic acid, together with Fe(III) induced a prompt inhibition of ascorbic acid/Cu(II) induced  $H_2O_2$  formation in Milli-Q water (Figure 1). The reason why we used oxalic acid was because we have previously demonstrated that oxalic acid is one of the degradation products when ascorbic acid is oxidatively decomposed in Cu(II) contaminated drinking water [36].

Oxalic acid also decreased the ascorbic acid/Cu(II) induced H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> formation in Milli-Q water, implying direct interaction between Cu(II) and oxalic acid. The mechanism for the oxalic acid mediated inhibitory effect on ascorbic acid/copper induced H2O2 formation in Milli-Q water might be due to its ability to interfere with copper redox-cycling. This is because oxalic acid is known to have affinity for both Fe(III) and Cu(II), even at very low pH. Alternatively, copper/oxalic acid could catalyze H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> to hydroxyl radicals. However, we could not detect any ascorbic acid induced hydroxyl radical formation when oxalic acid was added to copper supplemented water (data not shown), implying reduced copper redox-activity when oxalic acid was present. Interestingly, it has been suggested that oxalic acid could act as an antioxidant in some systems, because oxalic acid reduces the rate of ascorbic acid oxidation in the presence of H2O2 and Cu(II) [39].

The ability of Fe(III) and oxalic to regulate ascorbic acid/Cu(II)-induced H2O2 formation during acidic conditions as shown in our experiments could be of importance in vivo when acidic conditions prevail. This could emphasize the importance of vitamin C, oxalic acid and iron during certain conditions such as the inflammatory process. Thus, when Cu(II) ions and Vitamin C are present during acidic conditions, the presence or absence of free redox-active iron and oxalic acid will determine the amount of H2O2 that will be accumulated. In particular, during conditions where catalase is not present or not functioning properly e.g. in the presence of ascorbic acid and copper [40,41], the iron/oxalic acid complex could be of importance in regulating H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> toxicity during acidic conditions in various biological systems in vivo.

The vitamin C induced accumulation of  $H_2O_2$ could also be demonstrated in 40 household tap water samples and 8 domestic bottled water samples. In 25% of the drinking water samples tested, over 400  $\mu$ M of  $H_2O_2$  was formed during the 6 h incubation and some drinking waters generated close to 500  $\mu$ M of  $H_2O_2$  within 6 h (Table III). The kinetics for the  $H_2O_2$  formation in these drinking waters was relative fast, reaching close to 300  $\mu$ M  $H_2O_2$  in only 2 h (data not shown). The ascorbic acid induced hydrogen peroxide formation was particularly evident in the poorly buffered copper contaminated drinking water samples. When bicarbonate was added to Milli-Q water supplemented with copper, the hydrogen peroxide accumulation was much lower (Figure 2). During these conditions the hydrogen peroxide is converted to hydroxyl radicals [32].

Hydrogen peroxide has been shown to have strong antibacterial effects [42]. One might speculate, whether the ascorbic acid/Cu(II)-induced  $H_2O_2$ formation and the ability of Fe(III) and oxalic acid to regulate  $H_2O_2$  formation, as demonstrated here in drinking water, could be involved in controlling the survival of pathogenic bacteria in the human gastrointestinal tract. On the other hand, our results demonstrating that vitamin C induces  $H_2O_2$  formation in drinking water could, in fact, result in increased oxidative stress *in vivo*. In particular, in the absence of Fe (III) ions, ascorbic acid/Cu(II)-induced  $H_2O_2$  formation in drinking water, as demonstrated here, could strongly enhance the total  $H_2O_2$  load and  $H_2O_2$  induced oxidative stress in some individuals.

In conclusion, our results show that copper, but not iron, can support vitamin C induced  $H_2O_2$  formation in weakly buffered drinking water. Moreover, we show that iron, together with ascorbic acid-derived oxalic acid prevents ascorbic acid/Cu(II) induced  $H_2O_2$ accumulation. Our results strongly indicate that the iron oxalic acid complex might function as an important regulator of ascorbic acid/copper-induced  $H_2O_2$  formation and copper mediated tissue damage. The iron/oxalic acid induced inhibition of  $H_2O_2$ formation, as demonstrated here in drinking waters, might explain the mechanism for the protective effect of iron against ascorbic acid (vitamin C) induced cell toxicity in cell cultures.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by Magnus Ehrnrooth foundation, Paulon Säätiö, K. Albin Johanssons Stiftelse, Stiftelsen för Åbo Akademi, Academy of Finland and Svenska Kulturfonden.

#### References

- [1] Stahl W, Sies H. Antioxidant defense: Vitamins E and C and carotenoids. Diabetes 1997;46:S14–S18.
- [2] Frei B. On the role of vitamin C and other antioxidants in atherogenesis and vascular dysfunction. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1999;222:196–204.
- [3] Padayatty SJ, Katz A, Wang Y, Eck P, Kwon O, Lee JH, Chen S, Corpe C, Dutta A, Dutta SK, Levine M. Vitamin C as an antioxidant: Evaluation of its role in disease prevention. J Am Coll Nutr 2003;22:18–35.
- [4] Block G. Vitamin C and cancer prevention: The epidemiologic evidence. Am J Clin Nutr 1991;53:270S-282S.

- [6] Martin A. Antioxidant vitamins E and C and risk of Alzheimer's disease. Nutr Rev 2003;61:69-73.
- [7] Rose RC, Richer SP, Bode AM. Ocular oxidants and antioxidant protection. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1998; 217:397-407.
- [8] Whiteman M, Halliwell B. Protection against peroxynitritedependent tyrosine nitration and alpha 1-antiproteinase inactivation by ascorbic acid. A comparison with other biological antioxidants. Free Radic Res 1996;3:275–283.
- [9] Jialal I, Vega GL, Grundy SM. Physiologic levels of ascorbate inhibit the oxidative modification of low density lipoprotein. Atherosclerosis 1990;3:185–191.
- [10] Chakraborty S, Nandi A, Mukhopadadhyay M, Mukhopadadhyay CK, Chatterjee IB. Ascorbate protects guinea pig tissue against lipid peroxidation. Free Radic Biol Med 1994;4:417–426.
- [11] Sies H, Stahl W, Sundquist AR. Antioxidant functions of vitamins. Vitamin E and C, beta-carotene, and other carotenoids. Ann NY Acad Sci 1992;669:7–20.
- [12] Schneider JE, Browning MM, Floyd RA. Ascorbate/iron mediation of hydroxyl free radical damage to PBR322 plasmid DNA. Free Radic Biol Med 1988;5:287–295.
- [13] Buettner GR, Jurkiewicz BA. Catalytic metals, ascorbate and free radicals: Combinations to avoid. Radiat Res 1996;145:532–541.
- [14] Halliwell B. Vitamin C: Antioxidant or pro-oxidant *in vivo*? Free Radic Res 1996;25:439–454.
- [15] Podmore ID, Griffiths HR, Herbert KE, Mistry N, Mistry P, Lunec J. Vitamin C exhibits pro-oxidant properties. Nature 1998;392:559.
- [16] Fenton HJH. On a new reaction of tartaric acid. Chem News 1876;33:190.
- [17] Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Biologically relevant metal ion dependent hydroxyl radical generation. An update. FEBS Lett 1992;307:108–112.
- [18] Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Oxygen free radicals and iron in relation to biology and medicine: Some problems and concepts. Arch Biochem Biophys 1986;246:501–514.
- [19] Burkitt MJ, Gilbert BC. Model studies of the iron-catalysed Haber-Weiss cycle and the ascorbate-driven Fenton reaction. Free Radic Res Commun 1990;10:265–280.
- [20] Prabhu HR, Krishnamurthy S. Ascorbate-dependent formation of hydroxyl radicals in the presence of iron chelates. Indian J Biochem Biophys 1993;30:289–292.
- [21] Lindqvist C, Nordstrom T. Generation of hydroxyl radicals by the antiviral compound phosphonoformic acid (foscarnet). Pharmacol Toxicol 2001;89:49–55.
- [22] Halliwell B, Clement MV, Long LH. Hydrogen peroxide in the human body. FEBS Lett 2000;486:10–13.
- [23] Halliwell B, Gutteridge JM. Role of free radicals and catalytic metal ions in human disease: An overview. Methods Enzymol 1990;186:1–85.
- [24] De Pauw-Gillet MC, Siwek B, Pozzi G, Sabbioni E, Bassleer RJ. Effects of FeSO<sub>4</sub> on B16 melanoma cells differentiation and proliferation. Anticancer Res 1990;10:1029–1033.
- [25] Satoh K, Kadofuku T, Sakagami H. Copper, but not iron, enhances apoptosis-inducing activity of antioxidants. Anticancer Res 1997;17:2487-2490.

- [26] Satoh K, Sakagami H. Effect of metal ions on radical intensity and cytotoxic activity of ascorbate. Anticancer Res 1997;17: 1125–1129.
- [27] Malicev E, Woyniak G, Knezevic M, Radosavljevic D, Jeras M. Vitamin C induced apoptosis in human articular chondrocytes. Pflugers Arch 2000;440:46–48.
- [28] Marczewska J, Koziorowska JH, Anuszewska EL. Influence of ascorbic acid on cytotoxic activity of copper and iron ions *in vitro*. Acta Pol Pharm 2000;57:415-418.
- [29] Arakawa N, Nemoto S, Suzuki E, Otsuka M. Role of hydrogen peroxide in the inhibitory effect of ascorbate on cell growth. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 1994;40:219–227.
- [30] Park S, Han SS, Park CH, Hahm ER, Lee SJ, Park HK, Lee SH, Kim WS, Jung CW, Park K, Riordan HD, Kimler BF, Kim K, Lee JH. L-Ascorbic acid induces apoptosis in acute myeloid leukemia cells via hydrogen peroxide-mediated mechanisms. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2004;36:2180–2195.
- [31] Iwasaka K, Koyama N, Nogaki A, Maruyama S, Tamura A, Takano H, Takahama M, Kochi M, Satoh K, Sakagami H. Role of hydrogen peroxide in cytotoxicity induction by ascorbates and other redox compounds. Anticancer Res 1998;18:4333–4337.
- [32] Jansson PJ, Asplund KU, Makela JC, Lindqvist C, Nordstrom T. Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) induced hydroxyl radical formation in copper contaminated household drinking water: Role of bicarbonate concentration. Free Radic Res 2003;37:901–905.
- [33] Nourooz-Zadeh J, Tajaddini-Sarmadi J, Wolff SP. Measurement of plasma hydroperoxide concentrations by the ferrous oxidation-xylenol orange assay in conjunction with triphenylphosphine. Anal Biochem 1994;220:403–409.
- [34] Asplund KU, Jansson PJ, Lindqvist C, Nordstrom T. Measurement of ascorbic acid (vitamin C) induced hydroxyl radical generation in household drinking water. Free Radic Res 2002;36:1271-1276.
- [35] Jansson PJ, Castillo UD, Lindqvist C, Nordström T. Effects of iron on Vitamin C/copper-induced hydroxyl radical generation in bicarbonate-rich water. Free Radic Res 2005; 39:565–570.
- [36] Jansson PJ, Jung HR, Lindqvist C, Nordstrom T. Oxidative decomposition of vitamin C in drinking water. Free Radic Res 2004;38:855–860.
- [37] Halliwell B, Clement MV, Ramalingam J, Long LH. Hydrogen peroxide. Ubiquitous in cell culture and *in vivo*? IUBMB Life 2000;50:251–257.
- [38] Clement MV, Ramalingam J, Long LH, Halliwell B. The *in vitro* cytotoxicity of ascorbate depends on the culture medium used to perform the assay and involves hydrogen peroxide. Antioxid Redox Signal 2001;3:157–163.
- [39] Kayashima T, Katayama T. Oxalic acid is available as a natural antioxidant in some systems. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002;1573:1–3.
- [40] Orr CW. Studies on ascorbic acid. I. Factors influencing the ascorbate-mediated inhibition of catalase. Biochemistry 1967;6:2995–3000.
- [41] Orr CW. Studies on ascorbic acid. II. Physical changes in catalase following incubation with ascorbate or ascorbate and copper (II). Biochemistry 1967;6:3000–3006.
- [42] Hyslop PA, Hinshaw DB, Scraufstatter IU, Cochrane CG, Kunz S, Vosbeck K. Hydrogen peroxide as a potent bacteriostatic antibiotic: Implications for host defense. Free Radic Biol Med 1995;19:31-37.



ISBN 952-12-1786-3 Painosalama Oy – Turku, 2006